
Since 1918 

Board of Directors 

ROBERT E. ALVARADO 
Division  1 

JOE ESTES 
Division 2 

MARCO  HENRIQUEZ 
Division 3 

KATHY MAC LAREN 
Division 4 

VINCENT DINO 
Division 5 

ALESHIRE & WYNDER 
LLP 

Attorneys 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
2029 East Avenue Q • Palmdale, California 93550 •  Telephone  (661) 947-411 1 

Fax (661) 947-8604 
www.palmdalewater.org 

Facebook: palmdalewaterdistrict 
Twitter: @palmdaleH20 

Providing high quality water to our current and future customers at a reasonable cost. 

NOTES: To comply with the Americans with Disabilities Act, to participate in any Board meeting 
please contact Dawn Deans at 661-947-4111 x1003 at least 48 hours prior to a Board meeting to 
inform us of your needs and to determine if accommodation is feasible. 

Additionally, a Spanish interpreter will be made available to assist the public in making 
comments during the meeting if requested at least 48 hours before the meeting.  Please call Dawn 
Deans at 661-947-4111 x1003 with your request. This was authorized by Board action on May 
11, 2016 as a temporary measure while a long-term policy is developed.  

Adicionalmente, un intérprete en español estará disponible para ayudar al público a hacer 
comentarios durante la reunión, siempre y cuando se solicite con 48 horas de anticipación de la 
junta directiva.  Por favor de llamar Dawn Deans al 661-947-4111 x1003 con su solicitud. Esto 
fué autorizado por la mesa directiva en la junta del 11 de mayo del 2016 como una medida 
temporal mientras se desarrolla una poliza a largo plazo. 

Agenda item materials, as well as materials related to agenda items submitted after distribution 
of the agenda packets, are available for public review at the District’s office located at 2029 East 
Avenue Q, Palmdale (Government Code Section 54957.5).  Please call Dawn Deans at 661-947-
4111 x1003 for public review of materials. 

PUBLIC COMMENT GUIDELINES:  The prescribed time limit per speaker is three-
minutes.  Please refrain from public displays or outbursts such as unsolicited applause, 
comments, or cheering.  Any disruptive activities that substantially interfere with the ability 
of the District to carry out its meeting will not be permitted and offenders will be requested 
to leave the meeting. (PWD Rules and Regulations, Appendix DD, Sec. IV.A.) 

Each item on the agenda shall be deemed to include any appropriate motion, resolution, or 
ordinance to take action on any item. 

1) Pledge of Allegiance/Moment of Silence.

2) Roll Call.

3) Adoption of Agenda.

4) Public comments for non-agenda items.

January 5, 2017

Agenda for Regular Meeting  
of the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District 

to be held at the District’s office at 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale 

Wednesday, January 11, 2017 

7:00 p.m. 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT -2-            January 5, 2017 

5) Presentations:

5.1) None at this time.

6) Action Items - Consent Calendar (The public shall have an opportunity to comment on
any action item on the Consent Calendar as the Consent Calendar is considered
collectively by the Board of Directors prior to action being taken.)

6.1) Approval of minutes of regular meeting held December 14, 2016.

6.2) Ratification of payment of bills for December 21, 2016.

6.3) Payment of bills for January 11, 2017.

6.4) Approval to update Section IV.K Unpaid Time Off Policy of the District’s
Employee Handbook. (Human Resources Director Emery/Personnel Committee) 

6.5) Approval of reappointment of Helen Velador to Palmdale Recycled Water 
Authority Board. (General Manager LaMoreaux) 

6.6) Approval to purchase GCMS lab equipment. ($122,000.00 – Budgeted – Water 
Quality/Regulatory Affairs Supervisor Thompson) 

6.7) Approval to reject claim received from Julieta Cardenas and refer to Joint Powers 
Insurance Authority. (General Manager LaMoreaux) 

6.8) Approval of Resolution No. 17-1 being a Resolution of the Board of Directors of 
the Palmdale Water District Authorizing Directors to Revise Health Insurance 
Options Within 2017 Budget Amounts. ($110,000.00 – Budgeted – Human 
Resources Manager Emery) 

7) Action Items - Action Calendar (The public shall have an opportunity to comment on any
action item as each item is considered by the Board of Directors prior to action being
taken.)

7.1) Status report on Cash Flow Statement and Current Cash Balances as of
November, 2016. (Financial Advisor Egan/Finance Committee) 

7.2) Status report on Financial Statements, Revenue, and Expense and Departmental 
Budget Reports for November, 2016. (Finance Manager Williams/Finance 
Committee) 

7.3) Status report on committed contracts issued and water revenue bond projects. 
(Assistant General Manager Knudson/Finance Committee) 

7.4) Consideration and possible action on Lease Agreement with Holman Capital. 
($830,000.00 – Budgeted – Finance Manager Williams/Finance Committee) 

7.5) Consideration and possible action on revisions to application process for Rate 
Assistance Program. (Finance Manager Williams/Finance Committee) 

7.6) Consideration and possible action on Resolution No. 17-2 being a Resolution of 
the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District Approving the District’s 
Grant Application for a Feasibility Study for the Palmdale Regional Groundwater 
Recharge and Recovery Project under the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation’s 
WaterSmart Program Entitled “Development of Feasibility Studies Under the 
Title XVI Water Reclamation and Reuse Projects for Fiscal Year 2017.” 
(Budgeted – In-kind Services $50,034.00 – Engineering/Grant Manager Riley) 



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT      -3- January 5, 2017 

7.7) Consideration and possible action on Resolution No. 17-3 being a Resolution of 
the Board of Directors of the Palmdale Water District Approving the District’s 
Grant Application  for a Landscape Water Use Efficiency Project Under the U.S. 
Bureau of Reclamation’s WaterSmart Program “Small-Scale Efficiency Projects 
For Fiscal Year 2017.” (Budgeted - $75,000.00 – Engineering/Grant Manager 
Riley) 

7.8) Consideration and possible action on proposal to perform an assessment of the 
existing equipment and evaluate water treatment processes. ($35,000.00 – 
Budgeted – Assistant General Manager Knudson) 

7.9) Consideration and possible action on changing the meeting time of Board 
meetings. (Director Dino) 

7.10) Consideration and possible action on authorization of the following conferences, 
seminars, and training sessions for Board and staff attendance within budget 
amounts previously approved in the 2017 Budget:  

a) See attached list of conferences, seminars, and training sessions.

8) Information Items:

8.1) Reports of Directors:

a) Meetings/General Report.

b) Standing Committee/Assignment Reports (Chair):

1) Personnel Committee.

2) Finance Committee.

8.2) Report of General Manager. 

8.3) Report of General Counsel. 

9) Board members' requests for future agenda items.

10) Adjournment.

____________________________  
DENNIS D. LaMOREAUX,  
General Manager 

DDL/dd 



Page 1 of 3 

ATTACHMENT (a) 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT JANUARY 11, 2017 AGENDA 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.7) Consideration and possible action on authorization of the following 
conferences, seminars, and training sessions for Board and staff attendance within budget amounts 
previously approved in the 2017 Budget:  

1) Palmdale Chamber of Commerce 76th Annual Installation Gala to be held January
13, 2017 at Rancho Vista Golf Club.

2) California Special Districts Association (CSDA) Webinar: Brown Act-Principles,
Traps, and Violations to be held January 18, 2017.

3) CSDA Board Member Best Practices Workshop to be held January 19, 2017 in
Claremont for the Southern Network.

4) CSDA Webinar: Required Harassment Prevention for Staff/Board to be held
January 24, 2017 and June 6, 2017.

5) CSDA Webinar: Rules of Order Made Easy! to be held January 26, 2017.
6) CSDA Webinar: Maximize Your Membership-Benefits to be held January 27,

2017. 
7) CSDA Proposition 26, Proposition 218 & Rate Setting Workshop to be held

January 31, 2017 in Vista and March 15, 2017 in Oakland.
8) CSDA Webinar: Recent Developments in the Public Records Act to be held

January 31, 2017.
9) CSDA Webinar: 2017 Annual Employment Law Update to be held February 2,

2017. 
10) Water Education Foundation (WEF) Water 101 to be held February 2 – 3, 2017 in

West Sacramento.
11) CSDA Webinar: Understanding Board Member & District Liability to be held

February 8, 2017.
12) CSDA Webinar: Maximize Your Membership-Legislative/Outreach to be held

February 10, 2017.
13) CSDA Webinar: Sustainability Best Practices to be held February 15, 2017.
14) CSDA HR Boot Camp for Special Districts to be held February 21, 2017 in Rancho

Cucamonga and August 9, 2017 in Vallejo.
15) CSDA Webinar: Who Does What? Best Practices in Board/Staff to be held

February 22, 2017.
16) CSDA Special District Leadership Academy to be held February 26 – March 1,

2017 in La Jolla; April 23 – 26, 2017 in San Luis Obispo; and July 9 – 12, 2017 in
Napa.

17) CSDA Webinar: Financing Mission Critical Infrastructure to be held March 1,
2017. 

18) CSDA Webinar: Best Practices in Agenda Prep & Taking Minutes to be held March
7, 2017.

19) CSDA Financial Management for Special Districts to be held March 8, 2017 in
Rancho Cucamonga and August 10, 2017 in Vallejo.



Page 2 of 3 
 

ATTACHMENT (a) 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT JANUARY 11, 2017 AGENDA 

 

20) Association of California Water Agencies (ACWA) 2017 Legislative Symposium 
to be held March 8, 2017 in Sacramento. 

21) WEF Central Valley Tour 2017 Field Trip to be held March 8 – 10, 2017. 
22) CSDA Webinar: Required Ethics AB1234 Compliance Training to be held March 

16, 2017 and November 8, 2017. 
23) CSDA Supervisory Skills for the Public Sector to be held March 20, 2017 in Marina 

and April 11, 2017 in Vista. 
24) CSDA Hammering Out a Framework: Construction and Business Matters to be 

held March 23, 2017 in Fountain Valley. 
25) WEF 2017 Executive Briefing to be held March 23, 2017 in Sacramento. 
26) CSDA So You Want to be a General Manager to be held March 27, 2017 in 

Sacramento. 
27) SDRMA Safety/Claims Education Day to be held March 28, 2017 in Sacramento. 
28) CSDA Legislative Round-Up to be held March 30, 2017 and August 31, 2017. 
29) CSDA Webinar: How-To-Do-It for Special Districts w/Revenue Needs to be held 

April 4, 2017. 
30) WEF Lower Colorado River Tour 2017 Field Trip to be held April 5 – 7, 2017. 
31) CSDA Webinar: Leveraging Your State and Federal Relationships to be held April 

6, 2017. 
32) CSDA Webinar: Public Engagement and Budgeting to be held April 19, 2017. 
33) WEF Headwaters Tour 2017 Field Trip to be held April 27 – 28, 2017. 
34) CSDA Webinar: How to Find, Apply, and Secure Grant Funding to be held May 

11, 2017. 
35) ACWA 2017 Spring Conference & Exhibition to be held May 9 – 12, 2017 in 

Monterey. 
36) CSDA 2017 Special Districts Legislative Days to be held May 16 – 17, 2017 in 

Sacramento. 
37) CSDA Webinar: Governments Engaging Youth to be held May 23, 2017. 
38) WEF Santa Ana River Watershed Conference to be held May 25, 2017 in Ontario. 
39) CSDA Webinar: Beyond the Basics: Implementing Funding to be held May 24, 

2017. 
40) CSDA Webinar: Anatomy of a CalPERS Audit-What to Know Now to be held May 

25, 2017. 
41) CSDA Webinar: Ask the Experts-Energy Project Financing to be held June 9, 2017. 
42) WEF Bay-Delta Tour 2017 Field Trip to be held June 14 – 16, 2017. 
43) CSDA General Manager Leadership Summit to be held June 25 – 27, 2017 in 

Newport Beach. 
44) ESRI 2017 User Conference to be held July 10 – 14, 2017 in San Diego. 
45) CSDA Webinar: Records Retention & Management in Electronic Age to be held 

July 20, 2017. 
46) International Water Association International Conference on Water Reclamation 

and Reuse to be held July 23 – 27, 2017 in Long Beach. 



Page 3 of 3 
 

ATTACHMENT (a) 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT JANUARY 11, 2017 AGENDA 

 

47) CSDA Webinar: How to Communicate Effectively Using Online Tools to be held 
July 27, 2017. 

48) CSDA The Art of the Message to be held August 15, 2017 in Sacramento. 
49) CSDA Webinar: Fraud Environment-Tips for Detection and Controls to be held 

August 17, 2017. 
50) CSDA Staying in Compliance: Understand Special District Laws to be held August 

24, 2017 in Port Hueneme. 
51) CSDA Webinar: Maximize Your Membership-Online Resources to be held 

September 1, 2017. 
52) CSDA Building Your District Strong-Principles for Sustained Success pre-

conference activity to be held September 25, 2017 in Monterey. 
53) CSDA 2017 Annual Conference & Exhibitor Showcase to be held September 25 – 

28, 2017 in Monterey. 
54) CSDA Webinar: CalPERS-Actuarial Reports and Trends to be held October 11, 

2017. 
55) WEF Northern California Tour 2017 Field Trip to be held October 11 – 13, 2017. 
56) CSDA Board Secretary/Clerk Conference and Certificate Program to be held 

October 22 – 24, 2017 in Garden Grove. 
57) WEF San Joaquin River Restoration Tour 2017 to be held November 1 – 2, 2017. 
58) ACWA 2017 Fall Conference & Exhibition to be held November 28 – December 

1, 2017 in Anaheim. 
 



P A L M D A L E  W A T E R  D I S T R I C T

B O A R D  M E M O R A N D U M   

DATE: January 5, 2017 January 11, 2017 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 

FROM: Jennifer Emery, Human Resources Director 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.4 – APPROVAL TO UPDATE SECTION IV.K 
UNPAID TIME OFF POLICY OF THE DISTRICT’S EMPLOYEE 
HANDBOOK.    

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends that the Board approve the update to the Employee Handbook 
regarding leaves of absence. This item will be considered by the Personnel Committee at 
their January 9, 2017 meeting. 

Alternative Options: 

The alternative is to maintain status quo. 

Background: 

The District asked our attorneys to provide a leave policy for our handbook that would 
reflect a balance of providing security for our employees while maintaining our focus on 
our rate payers. Federally and State mandated leave policies have been incorporated into 
the policy.  

Strategic Plan Initiative: 

This work is part of Strategic Plan Initiative No. 2: Organizational Excellence 

Budget: 

No increase to budget.  

Supporting Documents: 

 Policy

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.4





1 

FAMILY MEDICAL LEAVE ACT/CALIFORNIA FAMILY RIGHTS ACT LEAVE 

As an employee, you may be entitled to family and medical leave  under the Family and Medical 
Leave Act (“FMLA”) and/or the California Family Rights Act (“CFRA”). This policy is intended 
to provide you with information concerning FMLA/CFRA entitlements and obligations you may 
have during such leaves. If you have any questions concerning FMLA/CFRA leave, please contact 
the Human Resources department for further information.  

1. Eligibility: Under the federal FMLA and the CFRA, you are eligible to take up to twelve
(12) weeks of unpaid family/medical leave within any 12-month period and be restored to
the same or an equivalent position upon your return from leave (subject to the terms of the
FMLA and the CFRA) provided you: (1) have worked for the District for at least twelve
(12) months as of the date the FMLA/CFRA leave is to start; and (2) will have a total of at
least one thousand, two hundred and fifty (1,250) hours during the twelve (12) month
period immediately before the date the FMLA/CFRA leave is to start. The 12-month period
is a rolling 12 months and will be measured backward from the date an employee uses any
FMLA/CFRA leave.

2. Definitions: Under both the FMLA and the CFRA, the following definitions apply:

(a) “Twelve-month period” means a rolling twelve month period measured backward
from the date leave is taken and continuous with each additional leave day taken. 

(b) “Child” means a child under the age of 18, or a child over 18 who is incapable of 
self-care because of a mental or physical disability. An employee’s child is one for 
whom the employee has actual day-to-day responsibilities and includes a 
biological, adopted, foster or step-child, legal ward or a child of a person standing 
in loco parentis. 

(c) “Son or daughter” means a biological, adopted, or foster child, a stepchild, a legal 
ward, or a child of a person standing in loco parentis, who is under 18 years of age 
or who is 18 years of age or older and incapable of self-care because of a mental or 
physical disability at the time that FMLA leave is to commence. The onset of a 
disability may occur at any age for purposes of the definition of an adult “son or 
daughter” under the FMLA. 

(d) “Parent” means the biological or adoptive parent of an employee or an individual 
who stands or stood in loco parentis (in place of the parent) to an employee when 
the employee was a child.  This term does not include parents-in-law. 

(e) “Spouse” means a husband or wife as defined or recognized in the state where the 
individual was married, including in a common law marriage or same-sex marriage. 
Spouse also includes a husband or wife in a marriage that was validly entered into 
outside of the United States, if the marriage could have been entered into in at least 
one state. 

(f) “Domestic partner” means means two adults who have established a domestic 
partnership in accordance with the requirements of California law. A domestic 



2 
 

partnership is established in California when both persons file a Declaration of 
Domestic Partnership with the Secretary of State, and, at the time of filing, all of 
the following requirements are met: 

 Both persons share the same residence; 

 Neither person is married to someone else nor is a member of another 
domestic partnership with someone else that has not been terminated, 
dissolved, or nullified; 

 The two persons are not related by blood in a way that would prevent them 
from being   married to each other in California; 

 Both persons are members of the same sex and at least 18 years of age, OR, 
if the persons are of opposite sexes, one or both must be over the age of 62 
and 

 Both persons are capable of consenting to the domestic partnership. 

(g) “Serious health condition” means an illness, injury, impairment or physical or 
mental condition that involves either (1) inpatient care (i.e., an overnight stay) in a 
hospital, hospice or residential medical care facility; including any period of 
incapacity (i.e., inability to work, or perform other regular daily activities due to 
the serious health condition, treatment involved, or recovery there from); or (2) 
continuing treatment by a health care provider. 

(h) “Continuing treatment” by a health care provider includes any one or more of the 
following: A "period of incapacity" (i.e., inability to work, or perform other regular 
daily activities due to serious health condition of more than three (3) consecutive 
calendar days, and any subsequent treatment or period of incapacity relating to the 
same condition, that also involves treatment two (2) or more times by a health care 
provider or treatment by a health care provider on at least one occasion which 
results in a regimen of continuing treatment under the supervision of the health care 
provider. 

(i) “12-month rolling period” means a rolling 12-month period measured backward 
from the date leave is taken and continuous with each additional leave day taken. 

3. Reasons for Leave: you may take family/medical leave under the FMLA and/or CFRA for 
any of the following reasons: 

(a) For the birth of your child, or to care for your newborn within one year of birth; 

(b) For the placement of a child with you in connection with the adoption or foster care 
placement of the child and to bond with the newly placed child within one year of 
placement; 

(c) For your own serious health condition that makes you unable to perform the 



3 
 

essential functions of your position, including incapacity due to pregnancy and for 
prenatal medical care; 

(d) To care for your child, parent, spouse or domestic partner who has a serious health 
condition, including incapacity due to pregnancy and for prenatal medical care; and 

(e) For any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that your spouse, son, daughter, 
or parent is a military member on covered active duty or call to covered active duty 
status; 

(f) In addition, eligible employees may take up to 26 workweeks of leave in a single 
12-month period to care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or 
illness if the employee is the spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next of kin of the 
servicemember (referred to as military caregiver leave). An eligible employee is 
limited to a combined total of 26 workweeks of leave for any FMLA-qualifying 
reasons during the single 12-month period. 

4. Amount of Leave: Eligible employees are entitled to a total of twelve (12) work weeks of 
unpaid, job protected leave in a twelve (12) month period, as specified below. At your or 
our option, certain kinds of paid and unpaid leave may be substituted for family leave. 

(a) Birth or placement of a child: If leave is requested for the birth, adoption or foster 
care placement of a child, it must be concluded within one (1) year of the birth or 
placement of the child. The basic duration of such leave is two (2) weeks. However, 
you are entitled to leave for one of these purposes, such as bonding, for at least one 
(1) day, but less than two (2) weeks’ duration, on two (2) occasions. 

(b) Employee’s Own Serious Medical Condition or That of Child, Parent, Spouse or 
Domestic Partner: If leave is requested for your own serious medical condition or 
that of a child, parent, spouse or domestic partner, there is no minimum amount of 
leave that must be taken. However, the notice and medical certification provisions 
of this policy must be followed. 

(c) Spouses Both Employed by the District: in any case where both you and your 
spouse are employed by the District, and both are entitled to leave, the aggregate 
number of leave to which both may be entitled is limited to twelve (12) workweeks 
during any twelve (12) month period if the leave is taken for bonding as a result of 
the birth or placement of a child. This limitation does not apply to any other type 
of leave under this policy. 

5. Intermittent Leave or Leave on Reduced Work Schedule: If you request leave 
intermittently in periods of a few days or hours at a time, or on a reduced work schedule, 
you must provide medical certification that such leave is medically necessary. “Medically 
necessary” means there must be a medical need for the leave and the leave can best be 
accomplished through an intermittent leave or reduced work schedule. 



4 
 

6. Notice of Leave: Although the District recognizes that emergencies arise which may 
require you to request immediate leave, you are required to give the District as much notice 
as possible of your need for leave. 

(a) Foreseeable Leave: If your need for leave is foreseeable, you must give the District 
at least thirty (30) days’ written notice of your need for such leave when you know 
about the need for leave at least 30 days in advance and it is possible and practicable 
for you to do so. If this is not possible because the situation has changed or you do 
not know exactly when leave will be required (e.g., for the birth of a child or to care 
for a newborn), you must provide the District with notice of your need for leave as 
soon as possible that such leave is needed. Such notice may be provided orally. 

For planned medical treatment, you must consult with the District and try to 
schedule the appointment at a time that minimizes the disruption to the District. 
You should consult with the District prior to scheduling the treatment in order to 
arrange a schedule that best suits the needs of both you and the District. Of course, 
any schedule of treatment is subject to the approval of the treating healthcare 
provider. 

If the District determines that your notice is inadequate or you knew about the 
requested leave in advance of your request (and did not provide advance notice), it 
may delay the granting of your leave until it can, at its sole discretion, adequately 
cover your position with a substitute. 

(b) Unforeseeable Leave: When the need for leave is unexpected, you must provide 
notice to the District as soon as possible and practicable. It should generally be 
practicable for you to provide notice of leave that is unforeseeable within the time 
required by the District’s usual and customary notice requirements. For example, if 
your child has a severe asthma attack and you take the child to the emergency room, 
you are not required to leave the child to report the absence while the child is 
receiving emergency treatment. 

When you do not give timely notice of unforeseeable leave and do not have a 
reasonable excuse, the District may delay or deny the FMLA leave. For example, 
if it was possible for you to give notice of the need for leave the same day it was 
needed, but instead gave notice two days after the leave began, then the District 
may delay FMLA coverage of the leave by two days. 

The District has Request for FMLA/CFRA leave forms available in the Human 
Resources department. If possible and practicable, you should use these forms when 
requesting leave under the FMLA/CFRA. 

7. Medical Certification: When you request FMLA/CFRA leave for your own serious health 
condition or that of your child, parent, spouse or domestic partner, you must provide a 
sufficient written medical certification from the health care provider of the individual 
requiring care, to the District’s Human Resources department within 15 calendar days of 
the District’s request, unless it is not feasible under the particular circumstances to do so 



5 
 

despite your good faith efforts, or if the District permits more than 15 calendar days to 
return the certification. When you make diligent good faith efforts but are unable to meet 
the 15-calendar day deadline, you are entitled to additional time to provide the certification. 
If you fail to return the certification in a timely manner, the District can deny FMLA/CFRA 
protections for the leave following the expiration of the 15-calendar day time period until 
a complete and sufficient certification is provided. However, the 15-day period and the 
period of absence beginning the day the certification is received is FMLA/CFRA-protected 
leave. 

If you fail to provide a certification within 15 calendar days from receipt of the request for 
certification but made diligent, good faith efforts to do so and the delay was due to 
extenuating circumstances outside your control, the District will not deny the leave for the 
period that the certification was late. In all cases, if you never produce the certification, the 
leave is not FMLA/CFRA-protected. 

You may obtain Medical Certification Forms from the Human Resources department. The 
District will also accept medical certifications prepared by your healthcare provider (or that 
of your family member’s healthcare provider, if applicable), provided they are complete 
and sufficient, as described below. 

(a) Contents of Complete and Sufficient Medical Certification: The medical facts 
appropriate for inclusion on the medical certification form will vary depending on 
the nature of the serious health condition and are to be determined by the health 
care provider but must be sufficient to support the need for leave. The information 
requested may relate only to the serious health condition for which you are seeking 
leave. 

A complete and sufficient certification need only include the following 
information: 

 Contact information for the health care provider, including name, address, 
telephone number, fax number, and type of medical practice / specialty; 

 When the serious health condition began, 

 How long the serious health condition is expected to last, 

 If you are the patient, whether you are unable to work, and the likely 
duration of this inability. 

 If a family member is the patient, whether the family member needs care, 
and an estimate of the frequency and duration of the leave required to care 
for the family member; 

 Whether your need for leave is continuous or intermittent, and 

 Appropriate medical facts about the condition. 



6 
 

(b) Additional Information for Intermittent or Reduced Schedule Leave: for 
intermittent or reduced schedule leave, the certification shall include the following 
additional information: 

 Planned medical treatment for your own or your family member’s serious 
health condition: (1) information establishing the medical necessity of 
intermittent or reduced schedule leave; and (2) an estimate of dates and 
duration of such treatment and periods of recovery. 

 Unforeseeable leave for your own serious health condition, including 
pregnancy: (1) information establishing the medical necessity of 
intermittent or reduced schedule leave; and (2) an estimate of the frequency 
and duration of the episodes of incapacity due to the serious health 
condition. 

 Unforeseeable leave for your family member’s serious health condition: (1) 
information establishing the medical necessity of intermittent or reduced 
schedule leave; and (2) an estimate of the frequency and duration of leave. 

(c) Advance Provision of Certification When Leave Foreseeable: When your leave is 
foreseeable, you must provide the requested medical certification before your 
leave begins. When this is not possible, you must provide the requested 
certification to the District within the time specified by the District, which shall be 
at least fifteen (15) calendar days following your request for leave, unless it is not 
practicable for you to do so despite your diligent, good faith efforts. 

(d) Incomplete/Insufficient Medical Certification: Whenever the District finds any 
medical certification “incomplete” or “insufficient,” it will give you a written notice 
stating what additional information is necessary to make the certification complete 
and sufficient.  

 A certification is considered incomplete if one or more applicable entries 
have not been completed. 

 A certification is considered insufficient if the information provided is 
vague, ambiguous, or nonresponsive. 

If you provide an incomplete or insufficient medical certification, you will be given 
a reasonable opportunity to cure any deficiency in the medical certification. The 
District will provide you with at least seven calendar days to correct any deficiency 
in the certification. If it is not practicable under the particular circumstances for you 
to cure any deficiency in the seven-day period despite your diligent good faith 
efforts, the District will provide additional time.  

If you fail to provide a complete and sufficient certification despite the opportunity 
to cure the deficiency, the District may deny your request for FMLA leave. 



7 
 

(e) Failure to Produce Sufficient Medical Certification: In all cases, if you never 
produce the medical certification, your FMLA/CFRA leave will be denied, and the 
leave will not be FMLA/CFRA-protected. 

8. Recertification – Second and Third Opinions: If the District has any reason to doubt the 
validity of your medical certification, or if you fail to provide a sufficient medical 
certification, it may require a medical opinion from a second health care provider chosen 
and paid for by the District. If the second opinion differs from the first medical certification 
opinion, the District may require the opinion of a third, mutually agreeable health care 
provider, at the District’s expense. You may request a copy of the second and third health 
care provider opinions when there is a recertification.  

9. Employee Obligation to Periodically Report Status and Intent to Return to Work: You may 
be periodically required to report on your status and intent to return to work. This will avoid 
delays in reinstatement when you are ready to return to work. 

10. Benefits While on Leave: FMLA/CFRA leave is unpaid. 

(a) Continuation of Group Health Benefits: While on FMLA/CFRA leave, you will 
continue to be covered by the District’s group health insurance to the same extent 
coverage is provided while you are on the job. However, if you fail to return to 
work after your leave entitlement has been exhausted or expires, the District shall 
have the right to recover its share of your health plan premiums for the entire leave 
period unless you do not return to work because of the continuation, recurrence or 
onset of a serious health condition of you or your family member which would 
entitle you to leave, your transfer directly from FMLA/CFRA leave to retirement 
or retirement during the first 30 days after your return to work, or because of 
circumstances beyond your control, such as a layoff. 

(b) COBRA Benefits Following Expiration of FMLA/CFRA Leave: If you are unable 
to return to work following the expiration of your FMLA/CFRA leave, you should 
contact the District before your expected return to work date to discuss your 
options, and you will be required to utilize COBRA in order to continue health 
coverage.  

(b) Other District Benefit Plans: You will not continue to be covered by any other 
District benefit plans which are not provided pursuant to the District’s group health 
plans. However, you may make the appropriate contributions for continued 
coverage under these non-health benefit plans by payroll deductions or direct 
payments made to the plans. Depending on the particular plan, the District will 
inform you whether the premiums should be paid directly to the provider or to the 
District. Your coverage on a particular plan may be dropped if you are more than 
thirty (30) days late in making a premium payment. However, you will receive at 
least fifteen (15) days’ notice before coverage ceases, advising you that you will be 
dropped if your premium is not paid by a certain date. Your contribution rates are 
subject to any change in rates that occur while on you are on leave. 



8 
 

(c) No Accrual of Benefits During Unpaid Leave: Leave benefits such as sick and 
vacation leave will not accrue during your unpaid leave. 

11. Substitution of Paid Leave Benefits: while on leave under this policy, you may elect to use 
paid accrued leaves concurrent with FMLA/CFRA leave. If you substitute paid leave for 
FMLA/CFRA leave, the District will not seek to recover its share of health insurance or 
other non-health benefit premiums for the period covered by paid leave, regardless of 
whether you return to work following the expiration of your FMLA/CFRA leave. 

(a) Sick Leave: The District shall require you to use paid sick leave while you are on 
FMLA/CFRA leave for your own serious health condition. However, when you use 
accrued sick leave concurrently with your FMLA/CFRA leave, you have the right 
to coordinate your sick leave use with your State Disability Insurance or Paid 
Family Leave benefits. 

(b) Vacation Leave: Where you have accrued unused vacation leave, you may 
substitute that leave for all or part of any unpaid leave under this policy. You are 
not required to use accrued vacation for all or part of your unpaid leave under this 
policy. 

12. Reinstatement From Leave:  

(a) Right to Reinstatement: Upon the expiration or exhaustion of your FMLA/CFRA 
leave, you are entitled to be reinstated to the position you held with the District 
when your leave commenced, or to an equivalent position with equivalent 
employment benefits, pay and other terms and conditions of employment.  

You have no greater right to continued employment, benefits or other conditions of 
employment than if you had been continuously employed without leave during your 
FMLA/CFRA leave. 

(b) Reinstatement Date: If you and the District agreed on a definite date of 
reinstatement when your leave commenced, you will be reinstated on the agreed-
upon date, subject to the limitations above. If your actual reinstatement date differs 
from the originally agreed-upon date, you will be reinstated within two (2) business 
days after notifying the District of your readiness to return to work, when feasible, 
unless a fitness-for-duty certification is required and subject to the conditions 
above. 

(c) Fitness For Duty Certification: As a condition of your reinstatement where your 
leave was for your own serious health condition, which rendered you unable to 
perform the essential functions of your job, you must obtain and present a fitness-
for-duty certification from your health care provider, stating you are able to return 
to work. Failure to provide such certification will result in the denial of 
reinstatement. 

(d) Reinstatement of “Key” Employees: The District may deny reinstatement to a 
“key” employee (i.e., an employee who is among the highest paid ten (10) percent 



9 
 

of all employees) if such denial is necessary to prevent substantial and grievous 
economic injury to the operations of the District, and the employee is notified of 
the District’s intent to deny reinstatement on such basis at the time it determines 
such injury would occur. 

13. No Work While On Leave: The taking of another job while on family/medical leave or any 
other authorized leave of absence is grounds for immediate termination, to the extent 
permitted by law. 

 
 
 
14. Other Leave: 

(a) Pregnancy Disability Leave – Even if you are not eligible for FMLA and/or CFRA 
leave, if disabled by pregnancy, childbirth or related medical conditions, you are 
entitled to take a pregnancy disability leave of up to four months, depending on 
your own period(s) of actual disability. 

If in addition to being Pregnancy Disability Leave-eligible, you are also 
FMLA/CFRA-eligible, you have certain rights to take BOTH a pregnancy 
disability/FMLA leave and a CFRA leave for reason of the birth of your child. 

When medically necessary, such leave may be taken on an intermitted or a reduced 
work schedule. If you are taking CFRA leave following the birth, adoption or foster 
placement of a child, the basic minimum duration for such leave is two weeks, and 
you must conclude the leave within one year of the birth or placement for adoption 
or foster care. 

(b) Americans with Disabilities Act – The Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”) 
is a civil rights law that prohibits the District from discriminating against qualified 
individuals with disabilities in terms and conditions of employment. If you are a 
qualified individual with a disability within the meaning of the ADA, the District 
will make reasonable accommodations to enable you to perform the essential 
functions of your job, barring undue hardship. 

Leave provided as an accommodation under the ADA may run concurrently with 
FMLA/CFRA-protected leave. However, the FMLA/CFRA’s leave provisions are 
very different from the ADA’s reasonable accommodation obligations. The District 
will provide you with leave under whichever statutory provision provides you with 
greater rights and protections. 

(c) Workers’ Compensation – Your workers’ compensation absence may be due to an 
on-the-job injury or illness that also qualifies as a serious health condition under 
the FMLA and/or CFRA. In such situations, the workers’ compensation absence 
and FMLA/CFRA leave may run concurrently. Although the District may offer you 
a light duty position under workers’ compensation rules, the FMLA/CFRA do not 



10 
 

require you to accept that position. Instead, you may decline light duty and continue 
on FMLA/CFRA-protected leave until able to return to the same or equivalent job 
you left, or until your FMLA/CFRA leave is exhausted, whichever occurs first. 
However, keep in mind that if you do not accept the light duty position, you may 
lose workers’ compensation benefits. 

(d) Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Act (USERRA) – The 
USERRA provides that returning servicemembers are entitled to receive all rights 
and benefits of employment they would have obtained if they had been 
continuously employed with the District. 

Under the USERRA, the months and hours the returning servicemember would 
have worked during the USERRA-covered absence must be combined with the 
servicemember’s months employed and the hours actually worked to determine 
FMLA eligibility. 

15. Military Family Leave: 

Eligible employees are entitled to two types of FMLA leave related to a qualifying family 
member’s military service. This type of FMLA leave is referred to as military family leave. The 
military family leave provisions of the FMLA entitle eligible employees of covered employers to 
take FMLA leave for: 

 Any “qualifying exigency” arising from the foreign deployment of the employee’s 
spouse, son, daughter, or parent with the Armed Forces, or 

 To care for a covered servicemember with a serious injury or illness if the employee 
is the servicemember’s spouse, child, parent, or next of kin.  FMLA leave for this 
purpose is called “military caregiver leave.” 

(a) Types of Military Family Leave 

Qualifying Exigency Leave: An eligible employee may take qualifying exigency leave when the 
employee’s spouse, son, daughter, or parent who is a member of the Armed Forces (including the 
National Guard and Reserves) is on covered active duty or has been notified of an impending call 
or order to covered active duty. 

Covered active duty: In order for the employee to take qualifying exigency leave, the 
military member must be on covered active duty, under a call to covered active duty status, 
or have been notified of an impending call or order to covered active duty. For members 
of the Regular Armed Forces, covered active duty is duty during the deployment of the 
member with the Armed Forces to a foreign country. For members of the Reserve 
components of the Armed Forces (members of the U. S. National Guard and Reserves), 
covered active duty is duty during the deployment of the member with the Armed Forces 
to a foreign country under a call or order to active duty in support of a contingency 
operation. Deployment to a foreign country means deployment to areas outside of the 
United States, the District of Columbia, or any territory or possession of the United States. 
It also includes deployment to international waters. 



11 
 

Family Members For Whom An Employee May Take A Qualifying Exigency Leave: To 
take qualifying exigency leave, the military member must be the employee’s spouse, 
parent, or son or daughter. Unlike non-military FMLA leave, for purposes of qualifying 
exigency leave, an employee’s son or daughter on covered active duty refers to a son or 
daughter of any age. 

Qualifying Exigency Categories: An eligible employee with a family member on covered 
active duty may take FMLA leave for the following qualifying exigencies: 

 Issues arising from the military member’s short notice deployment (i.e., 
deployment within seven or fewer days of notice); 

 To make or update financial and legal arrangements to address a military member’s 
absence; 

 To attend counseling for the employee, the military member, or a child of the 
military member when the need for that counseling arises from the covered active 
duty or call to covered active duty status of the military member and the counseling 
is provided by someone other than a health care provider; 

 To attend military events and related activities, including official military 
ceremonies and programs or informational briefings related to the military 
member’s covered active duty sponsored or promoted by the military or military 
service organizations; 

 To spend up to 15 calendar days with a military member who is on rest and 
recuperation leave, 

 Certain childcare and related activities for the military member’s child while the 
military member is on covered active duty. The employee does not need to be 
related to the military member’s child to take qualifying exigency leave for this 
purpose. But, (1) the military member must be the parent, spouse, or child of the 
employee taking leave; and (2)the child for whom the employee is arranging for or 
providing childcare must be the child of the military member; 

 To attend post-deployment activities within 90 days of the end of the military 
member’s covered active duty or to attend to issues arising from the death of a 
military member while on covered active duty; 

 Certain parental care activities for the military member’s parent who is incapable 
of self-care. The employee does not need to be related to the military member’s 
parent to take qualifying exigency leave for this purpose. But, (1) the military 
member must be the parent, spouse, or child of the employee taking FMLA leave; 
and (2) the parent receiving assistance must be the parent of the military member; 
and 



12 
 

 Any other event that the employee and employer agree is a qualifying exigency. 
Both the employee and employer must agree to the timing and duration of the leave. 

Certification for Qualifying Exigency Leave: When an eligible employee requests 
qualifying exigency leave, the District may request the following information and 
documentation: 

 A copy of the military member’s active duty orders (or other official documentation 
issued by the military) which indicates the military member is on covered active 
duty or call to covered active duty status, which need be provided only once per 
deployment; 

 A statement or description of the appropriate facts regarding the qualifying 
exigency; 

 The approximate date on which the leave began (or will begin), and how long 
and/or how often leave will be needed; and 

 The contact information for any meeting with a third party and a brief description 
of the purpose of the meeting. 

The notice and timing requirements for a certification for qualifying exigency leave are the 
same as for medical certifications. 

Military Caregiver Leave: Military caregiver leave allows an eligible employee who is the 
spouse, son, daughter, parent, or next of kin of a covered servicemember with a serious 
injury or illness to take up to a total of 26 workweeks of unpaid leave during a “single 12-
month period” to provide care for the servicemember. 

Covered Servicemember: a covered servicemember is either: 

 A current servicemember: a covered servicemember means a current member of 
the Armed Forces, including a member of the U. S. National Guard or Reserves, 
who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in 
outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious 
injury or illness; or 

 A Veteran: a covered servicemember means a veteran who is undergoing medical 
treatment, recuperation, or therapy for a serious injury or illness, and who was 
discharged within the previous five years before the employee takes military 
caregiver leave to care for the veteran. 

Family Members For Whom An Employee May Take Military Caregiver Leave: 
To take military caregiver leave, the eligible employee must be the spouse, parent, 
son or daughter, or next of kin of the covered servicemember. For purposes of 
military caregiver leave, a son or daughter refers to the servicemember’s son 
or daughter of any age. 



13 
 

 
Serious Injury or Illness: A serious injury or illness for a current servicemember is 
an injury or illness that was incurred by the servicemember in the line of duty on 
active duty that may render the servicemember medically unfit to perform the duties 
of his or her office, grade, rank, or rating. A serious injury or illness may also result 
from the aggravation of a pre-existing condition in the line of duty on active duty. 

A serious injury or illness for a veteran is an injury or illness that was incurred in 
the line of duty when the veteran was on active duty in the Armed Forces, including 
any injury or illness that resulted from the aggravation of a preexisting condition in 
the line of duty on active duty.  The injury or illness may manifest itself during 
active duty or may develop after the servicemember becomes a veteran. 

A serious injury or illness of a veteran must be either: 

 A continuation of a serious injury or illness that was incurred or aggravated when 
the covered veteran was a member of the Armed Forces and rendered the 
servicemember unable to perform the duties of the servicemember’s office, grade, 
rank, or rating; or 

 A physical or mental condition for which the veteran has received a United States 
Department of Veterans Affairs Service Related Disability Rating (VASRD) of 
50% or more and the need for care is related to that condition, or 

 A physical or mental condition because of a disability or disabilities related to 
military service that substantially impairs the veteran’s ability to work, or would do 
so absent treatment; or 

 An injury for which the veteran is enrolled in the Department of Veterans’ Affairs 
Program of Comprehensive Assistance for Family Caregivers. 

A “Single 12 Month Period:” The “single 12-month period” for military caregiver 
leave begins on the first day the employee takes leave for this reason and ends 12 
months later, regardless of the 12-month period established by the employer for 
other types of FMLA leave. An eligible employee is limited to a combined total 
of 26 workweeks of leave for any FMLA-qualifying reason during the “single 
12-month period.” Up to 12 of the 26 workweeks may be for an FMLA-qualifying 
reason other than to care for a covered servicemember. 

 
Certification of Military Caregiver Leave: The certification may be completed by a 
Department of Defense (DOD), Veterans Affairs (VA), or TRICARE healthcare 
provider, or by a private healthcare provider. 

 Second and third opinions and recertifications are not permitted for certification of 
a serious injury or illness of a covered servicemember when the servicemember is 
treated by a DOD, VA, or TRICARE healthcare provider. However, if the covered 



14 
 

servicemember is seeking care from a private (non-DOD) healthcare provider, the 
District may request a second or third opinion. 

 The employee may not be held liable for administrative delays in the issuance of 
military documents, where the employee has exercised diligent, good-faith efforts 
to obtain such documents. 



P A L M D A L E  W A T E R  D I S T R I C T

B O A R D  M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: January 4, 2017 January 11, 2017 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 

FROM: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.5 – APPROVAL OF REAPPOINTMENT OF 
HELEN VELADOR TO PALMDALE RECYCLED WATER AUTHORITY 
BOARD 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends the Board reappoint Helen Velador to the Palmdale Recycled Water 
Authority Board as the fifth Board member. 

Background: 

The Palmdale Recycled Water Authority was formed by the Palmdale Water District and 
the City of Palmdale via the "Joint Exercise of Powers Agreement Creating the Palmdale 
Recycled Water Authority" in September, 2012. That Agreement provides for the joint 
appointment by those two entities of a fifth Director in addition to two Directors from 
each of their respective Boards. All Authority Directors are appointed to serve one-year 
terms that may be renewed annually. 

Helen Velador has served as the fifth Director of the Palmdale Recycled Water Authority 
since 2013. The Palmdale City Council will be considering her reappointment at their 
January 4, 2017 City Council meeting.   

Strategic Plan Initiative: 

This work is part of Strategic Initiative No.5 – Regional Leadership. 

Budget: 

This item will not affect the budget. 

Supporting Documents: 

None. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.5



P A L M D A L E  W A T E R  D I S T R I C T

B O A R D  M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: January 4, 2017 January 11, 2017 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 

FROM: Amanda Thompson, Water Quality/Regulatory Affairs Supervisor 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 
Mr. Matthew Knudson, Assistant General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.6 – APPROVAL TO PURCHASE GCMS LAB 
EQUIPMENT. 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends the Board approve the purchase of a new Gas Chromatograph/Mass 
Spectrometer (GCMS) setup at an estimated cost of $122,000.00. 

Alternative Options: 

The alternative is to continue utilizing our current GCMS setup. However, since January 
2015, our current instrument has been down for a cumulative of 7 months, which has 
limited our ability to monitor TTHMs in our system to only 68% of the time. Another 
alternative is to send routine TTHM samples to another lab. The standard time to receive 
results from another lab is about 2-3 weeks, and the cost would be about $50,000 per year. 
If we wanted to receive sample results within the 1-2 day timeframe, it would cost about 
$150,000/yr.  

Impact of Taking No Action: 

The District will either spend more money annually on sample analysis or on GAC media 
replacement/reactivation. Limited routine monitoring of TTHMs in our system will likely 
increase our potential for higher TTHM formation. In order to ensure TTHM formation is 
reduced, we will need to utilize more GAC at the Leslie O. Carter Water Treatment Plant 
(WTP) and Underground GAC Facility, which will result in higher costs for GAC media 
replacement/reactivation. 

Background: 

The GCMS is a critical instrument that allows us to utilize GAC efficiently at the WTP and 
the Underground GAC Facility. The ability to grab real-time samples and receive results 
within 1-2 days provides staff the opportunity to identify problem areas within our 
distribution system and quickly assess adjustments made to reduce TTHM formation. 
Utilizing the GCMS for TTHM monitoring has allowed the District to save hundreds of 
thousands of dollars per year on the cost of GAC.   

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.6



2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA:  Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

Mr. Matthew Knudson, Assistant General Manager     January 4, 2017 

Strategic Plan Initiative: 

This work is part of Strategic Initiative No. 1 – Water Resource Reliability by improving 
Granular Activated Carbon (GAC) use and research. 

Budget: 

This replacement equipment will be funded from the Water Quality Funds, and staff has 
estimated $150,000 in the approved 2017 Budget for this item.  

The attached quotation includes the annual subscription and support costs of $5,856.00, 
and this will be funded through the Operations Department approved 2017 Operating 
Budget. 

Supporting Documents: 

 Quotation from Agilent Technologies













P A L M D A L E  W A T E R  D I S T R I C T  

B O A R D  M E M O R A N D U M   

DATE: January 5, 2017   January 11, 2017 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS                             Board Meeting 

FROM: Jennifer Emery, Human Resources Director 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.8 – APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION NO. 17-1 
BEING A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT AUTHORIZING DIRECTORS TO 
REVISE HEALTH INSURANCE OPTIONS WITHIN 2017 BUDGET 
AMOUNTS. 

      

 
Recommendation: 
Staff recommends that the Board sign a resolution regarding the vote on November 22, 
2016 to create a bucket of $22,000 for each Director which will include expenditures on 
benefits, travel/conferences, and meeting stipends in the 2017 budget. This will allow for 
an open window from January 1 to January 20, 2017 in order for Directors to make 
changes to their benefit plans. 
 
Alternative Options: 
The alternative is to not sign the resolution leaving the vote in tact but eliminating an 
open enrollment period. 
 
Background: 
The Board has been focused on making sure that the District’s budget keeps costs at a 
minimum and allows our rates to be as low as possible for our ratepayers. On November 
22, 2017 as a part of our budgeting process, the Board voted to create a pool of money in 
the amount of $22,000 for each Director for the fiscal year which will be available for 
benefits, meeting stipends and travel/conferences. Each Director can choose their own 
distribution between those three categories. 
 
Strategic Plan Initiative: 
This work is part of Strategic Plan Initiative No. 4: Financial Health and Stability 
 
Budget: 
This is included in our 2017 budget. No increase to budget.  
 
Supporting Documents: 
 Resolution No. 17-1 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 6.8



RESOLUTION NO. 17-1 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF  
THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

AUTHORIZING DIRECTORS TO REVISE HEALTH INSURANCE OPTIONS 
WITHIN 2017 BUDGET AMOUNTS 

WHEREAS, the governing body of the Palmdale Water District approved a 2017 Budget 
on November 22, 2016 including a Directors’ budget of $22,000.00 for each Director to cover the 
cost of Directors’ fees, health insurance, and Director’s travel, seminars, and meetings. Up to 
$1,600.00 per month will be available for health insurance. Health insurance elections may only 
be changed annually at Open Enrollment, absent a Qualifying Event. 

WHEREAS, Directors may wish to change health insurance options based on the new 
policy. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Board of Directors of the Palmdale 
Water District authorizes Directors to revise health insurance elections, effective January 1, 2017, 
communicated in writing to the District by January 20, 2017. 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the Board of Directors 
of Palmdale Water District held on January 11, 2017. 

Robert Alvarado, President Joe Estes, Secretary 
Palmdale Water District Palmdale Water District 

Approved As To Form: 

__________________________________ 
Eric Dunn 
General Counsel 



P A L M D A L E    
W A T E R   D I S T R I C T 

B O A R D   M E M O R A N D U M 

DATE: January 4, 2017               January 11, 2017 

TO:  BOARD OF DIRECTORS  Board Meeting 

FROM: Mr. Bob Egan, Financial Advisor 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.1 – STATUS REPORT ON CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
AND CURRENT CASH BALANCES AS OF NOVEMBER, 2016. 

Attached is the Investment Funds Report and current cash balance as of November 30, 2016. 
The reports will be reviewed in detail at the Board meeting. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.1



November 2016 October 2016

1-00-0103-100 Citizens - Checking 772,755.86           968,335.01           
1-00-0103-200 Citizens - Refund (6,825.47)              (1,600.00)              
1-00-0103-300 Citizens - Merchant 149,376.72           74,806.17             

Bank Total 915,307.11           1,041,541.18        

1-00-0110-000 300.00 300.00 
1-00-0115-000 5,400.00                5,400.00                

921,007.11           1,047,241.18      

1-00-0135-000 Local Agency Investment Fund Acct. Total 11,824.34             11,824.34           

1-00-0120-000 UBS Money Market Account General (SS 11469)
884,592.75           751,822.25           
250,000.00           250,000.00           

Accrued interest 7,309.58                7,577.61                
1,141,902.33        1,009,399.86        

CUSIP # Issuer Rate PAR

912828SJ0 US Treasury Note 02/28/2017 0.87 1,000,000   1,001,040.00        1,001,790.00        

1,000,000   1,001,040.00        1,001,790.00        

Issuer Rate Face Value

1 First Bank PR 11/07/2016 0.80 240,009.60
2 Compass Bank 02/07/2017 0.95 240,000 240,204.00 240,285.60
3 GE Cap Retail Bank 04/27/2017 1.84 200,000 200,772.00 200,948.00
4 Discover Bank 05/02/2017 1.73 240,000 241,065.60 241,298.40
5 Merrick Bank 06/12/2017 1.00 100,000 100,233.00 100,299.00
6 Level One Bank 06/19/2017 0.65 101,000 101,185.84 101,245.43
7 GE Cap Retail Bank 06/22/2017 1.78 200,000 201,294.00 201,538.00
8 Capitol One Bank 08/14/2017 1.20 240,000 240,873.60 241,063.20
9 Triumph Bank 09/26/2017 0.80 200,000 200,606.00 200,712.00

10 MB Finl Bank 10/26/2017 0.85 200,000 200,168.00 200,212.00
11 Bank United Miami 11/21/2017 1.20 240,000 240,979.20 241,123.20
12 Goldman Sachs Bank NY 1/29/2018 1.35 240,000 241,408.80

2,201,000   2,208,790.04        2,208,734.43        

Acct. Total 4,351,732.37        4,219,924.29      

1-00-1110-000 UBS Money Market Account Capital (SS 11475)

234,477.40           234,475.54           
- - 

Acct. Total 234,477.40           234,475.54         

1-00-0125-000 UBS Access Account General (SS 11432)
250,000.00           250,000.00           

2,993.36                241,294.56           

Accrued interest 20,620.94             18,024.50             
273,614.30           509,319.06           

CUSIP # Issuer Rate PAR

912828XF2 US Treasury Note 06/15/2018 1.125 1,000,000   1,001,290.00        1,004,880.00        

912828KD1 US Treasury Note 02/15/2019 2.610 1,500,000   1,550,625.00        1,562,220.00        

912828P53 US Treasury Note 02/15/2019 0.75 1,000,000   990,900.00           996,170.00           

3,500,000   3,542,815.00        3,563,270.00        

Issuer Rate Face Value

Goldman Sachs Bk 11/07/2016 1.00 240,014.40
BMW Bank 11/15/2018 1.96 240,000 244,423.20 245,023.20
American Express 04/29/2019 1.44 240,000 243,285.60 243,722.40
Synchrony Bank 04/14/2020 1.85 240,000 245,947.20 246,556.80
JP Morgan Chase Bank 11/18/2020 1.60 240,000 239,193.60
Bank of Baroda NY 11/23/2020 1.60 77,000 76,789.79
Comenity Cap Bank 1/19/2021 1.90 163,000 169,282.02

1,200,000   1,218,921.41        975,316.80           

Acct. Total 5,035,350.71        5,047,905.86      

9,633,384.82        9,514,130.03      

1-00-1121-000 UBS Rate Stabilization Fund (SS 24016) - District Restricted

250,000.00           250,000.00           
230,327.43           230,323.40           

Acct. Total 480,327.43           480,323.40         

11,034,719.36     11,041,694.61   

Increase (Decrease) in Funds (6,975.25)              

1-00-1130-000 2013A Bonds - Project Funds (BNY Mellon)

Construction Funds 403,836.05           437,188.90         

GRAND TOTAL CASH AND INVESTMENTS

Certificates of Deposit
Maturity Date

Total Managed Accounts

UBS Bank USA Dep acct
UBS RMA Government Portfolio

UBS Bank USA Dep acct
UBS RMA Government Portfolio

US Government Securities
Maturity Date  Market Value 

Certificates of Deposit
Maturity Date

UBS Bank USA Dep acct
UBS RMA Government Portfolio

US Government Securities
Maturity Date

PETTY CASH

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT
 INVESTMENT FUNDS REPORT

November 30, 2016

CASH

CASH ON HAND

TOTAL CASH 

INVESTMENTS

UBS RMA Government Portfolio
UBS Bank USA Dep acct

 Market Value 

 Market Value  Market Value 



1/4/2017

January February March April May June July August September October November December YTD

Total Cash Beginning Balance (BUDGET) 12,253,595          11,996,708          12,070,140          9,443,313            11,240,278          11,923,901          11,779,269          10,981,346          11,574,708          9,220,541            9,395,698            9,267,781            

Total Cash Beginning Balance 12,253,595          12,534,672          12,719,333          10,275,232          12,340,454          13,316,414          12,675,338          12,028,366          12,724,061          10,784,100          11,041,695          11,034,719          

Budgeted Water Receipts 1,541,128             1,523,788             1,575,809             1,590,982             1,790,396             1,946,460             2,165,382             2,202,231             2,030,994             1,946,460             1,688,521             1,673,349             21,675,500          
Water  Receipts 1,836,145            1,903,857            1,602,349            1,518,640            1,618,564            1,843,912            1,793,757            2,585,375            2,151,151            2,389,917            2,130,685            1,673,349             23,047,700          
DWR Refund (Operational Related) 1,718 28 2,029 3,775 
Other - 

Total Operating Revenue (BUDGET) - 
Total Operating Revenue (ACTUAL) 1,836,145             1,903,857             1,602,349             1,520,358             1,618,592             1,843,912             1,793,757             2,585,375             2,151,151             2,391,946             2,130,685             1,673,349             23,051,476          

Total Operating Expenses excl GAC (BUDGET) (1,237,486)           (1,217,967)           (1,591,629)           (1,550,533)           (1,568,100)           (1,439,060)           (1,770,025)           (1,614,651)           (1,795,266)           (1,449,785)           (1,434,170)           (1,550,028)           (18,218,700)         
GAC (BUDGET) (362,730)               (190,000)               (190,000)               (190,000)               (190,000)               (1,122,730)           

Operating Expenses excl GAC (ACTUAL) (1,356,117)           (1,281,496)           (1,961,054)           (1,361,831)           (1,377,208)           (1,883,577)           (1,989,499)           (1,716,208)           (1,699,901)           (1,698,705)           (2,004,198)           (1,550,028)           (19,879,823)         
GAC (62,730)                 (183,290)              (275,135)              (190,000)               (711,154)               (190,000)               

Prepaid Insurance (paid)/refunded (66,457)                 (199,817)              (266,274)               
Total Operating Expense (ACTUAL) (1,418,847)           (1,531,243)           (2,236,189)           (1,361,831)           (1,377,208)           (1,883,577)           (1,989,499)           (1,716,208)           (1,699,901)           (1,898,522)           (2,004,198)           (1,740,028)           (20,857,251)         

Non-Operating Revenue Expenses:
Assessments, net (BUDGET) 664,439                253,955                14,289 2,027,090             739,781                11,042 75,342 127,302                - - 129,251                2,452,512             6,495,000             
Actual/Projected Assessments, net 684,181                313,172                15,308 2,078,805            818,666                12,539 70,859 145,201                - - 130,975                2,620,779            6,890,485             

RDA Pass-through (Successor Agency) 307,851                307,851                

Interest 3,168 4,991 9,069 8,540 9,385 9,296 9,120 10,254 12,926 9,536 9,267 2,935 98,488 
Market Adjustment 7,983 (12,780)                 7,384 (3,392) (4,736) 19,028 (5,943) (15,778)                 (1,597) (10,183)                 (20,901)                 (40,915)                 

Grant Re-imbursement 306,915                306,915                177,000                
Capital Improvement Fees 234,459                234,459                
DWR Refund (Capital Related) 98,537 37,228 81,905 217,670                
Other 3,415 26 590 (202) (33) 89 21,976 324 3 (9) 236 8,370 34,784 

Total Non-Operating Revenues (BUDGET) - 
Total Non-Operating Revenues (ACTUAL) 698,746                305,408                32,351 2,182,288            1,168,361            347,866                330,472                140,001                11,333 81,248 119,577                2,632,084            8,049,736            

Non-Operating Expenses:
Budgeted Capital Expenditures  (514,999)               (306,567)               (287,878)               (40,796)                 (48,676)                 (26,296)                 (91,743)                 (91,743)                 (91,743)                 (91,743)                 (91,744)                 (918,263)               (2,602,191)           
Actual/Projected Capital Expenditures  (93,505)                 (302,341)              (24,615)                 (62,302)                 (242,404)              (31,036)                 (43,219)                 (122,092)              (82,788)                 (129,494)              (57,965)                 (279,012)               (1,470,773)           (707,823)               
WRB Capital Expenditures - - - - - - - - - - - (423,595)               (423,595)               (805,960)               
Uncommitted Capital Expenditures  - - - - - - - - - - - (280,000)               (280,000)               (280,000)               

SWP Capitalized (717,495)              (170,388)              (196,069)              (170,390)              (170,390)              (170,390)              (717,492)              (170,390)              (201,804)              (170,288)              (170,388)              (170,388)               (3,195,872)           
Butte County Water Transfer (726,859)              (726,859)              (1,453,719)           

Bond Payments  -    Interest (1,084,814)           (1,076,522)           (2,161,336)           
Principal (537,114)              (1,020,439)           (1,557,553)           

Capital leases - Go West (2012 Lease) (17,296)                 (17,296)                 - (35,624)                 (17,296)                 (17,296)                 (17,296)                 (17,296)                 (17,296)                 (17,296)                 (17,296)                 (17,296)                 (208,585)               
Capital leases - Wells Fargo (Printer Lease) (6,672) (3,336) - (7,277) (3,695) (3,695) (3,695) (3,695) (3,695) - (7,390) (3,695) (46,846)                 

Total Non-Operating Expenses (ACTUAL) (834,969)              (493,362)              (1,842,612)           (275,592)              (433,785)              (949,277)              (781,702)              (313,474)              (2,402,544)           (317,078)              (253,039)              (1,900,846)           (10,798,278)         

Total Cash Ending Balance (BUDGET) 11,996,708          12,070,140          9,443,313            11,240,278          11,923,901          11,779,269          10,981,346          11,574,708          9,220,541            9,395,698            9,267,781            10,300,285          
Total Cash Ending Balance (ACTUAL) 12,534,672          12,719,333          10,275,232          12,340,454          13,316,414          12,675,338          12,028,366          12,724,061          10,784,100          11,041,695          11,034,719          11,699,279          

Budget 10,300,285          
Indicates actual expenditures/revenues: Difference 1,398,993            

Indicates anticipated expenditures/revenues:

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT
2016 Cash Flow Report   (Based on Jan. 19, 2016 Approved Budget)

Budget 2017 
Carryover 

Information



P A L M D A L E    
W A T E R   D I S T R I C T 

B O A R D   M E M O R A N D U M 

DATE:  January 4, 2017 January 11, 2017  

TO:  BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 
FROM: Michael Williams, Finance Manager/CFO 

VIA:  Mr. Dennis LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM 7.2 – STATUS REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, 
REVENUE, AND EXPENSE AND DEPARTMENTAL BUDGET REPORTS FOR 
NOVEMBER, 2016  

Discussion: 

Presented here are the Balance Sheet and Profit/Loss Statement for the period ending November 
30, 2016. Also included are Year-To-Year Comparisons and Month-To-Month Comparisons for 
both revenue and expense. Finally, I have provided individual departmental budget reports for the 
month of November, 2016. 

This is the eleventh month of the District’s Budget Year 2016.  The target percentage is 92%. 
Revenues ideally are at or above, and expenditures ideally are below. 

Balance Sheet: 
 Page 1 is our balance sheet on November 30, 2016.
 There isn’t any significant change from prior month. Total assets dropped by

approximately $600K. This due primarily to decrease in long-term assets and receivables.

Profit/Loss Statement: 
 Page 3 is our profit/loss statement on November 30, 2016.
 Operating revenue is at 96% of budget.
 Cash operating expense is at 93% of budget.
 Net operating profit for the month of November was $288K. Net operating profit year to

date is at $2MM.
 Page 6 is showing the distribution of operating expense between labor and operations.

Labor costs continue at 52% of total expenses with salaries making up 36% of that.

Year-To-Year Comparison P&L: 
 Page 7 is our comparison of November 2015 to November 2016.
 Total operating revenue was up $74K, or 4%.
 Operating expenditures were up $417K, or 34%.
 Page 7-1 is our comparison of November, 2014 to November, 2016.
 Total operating revenue was up $124K, or 7% .
 Total operating expenses were down $430, or 21%.

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.2



BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager January 4, 2017 

 Page 8 and 8-1 is a graphic presentation of the water consumption comparison for 2015
and 2014 respectively.

o Units billed in acre feet for 2015 comparison were up by 35, or 3%.
o Total revenue per unit sold was up $0.04, or 1%.
o Total revenue per connection is up $3.25, or 5%.
o Units billed per connection is up .53, or 3%.

o Units billed in acre feet for 2014 comparison were down by 104, or 8%.
o Total revenue per unit sold is up $0.50, or 16%.
o Total revenue per connection was up $1.01, or 2%.
o Units billed per connection is down 1.83, or 8%.

Revenue Analysis Year-To-Date: 
 Page 9 is our comparison of revenue, year-to-date.
 Operating revenue through November, 2016 is up $1.17MM, or 6%.
 Retail water revenue from all areas are up by $942K from last year. That’s shown by the

combined green highlighted area.
 Retail water sales, including the drought surcharge but excluding meter fees, is up

$1.06MM.
 Total revenue is up $1.6MM. This is due primarily to grant funding, increased water

consumption and the drought surcharge.
 Operating revenue is at 96% of budget, last year was at 84% of budget. However, our 2016

revenue budget is $1.5MM less than 2015.

Expense Analysis Year-To-Date: 
 Page 11 is our comparison of expense, year-to-date.
 Cash Operating Expenses through November, 2016 are up $1.1MM, or 6%, compared to

2015. This is due to increased water purchases and increased administrative costs.
 Total Expenses are down $474K or 2%. This due primarily to a reduction in our

depreciation expense.

Departments: 
 Pages 14 through 24 are detailed individual departmental budgets for your review.

Non-Cash Definitions: 
Depreciation:  This is the spreading of the total expense of a capital asset over the expected life 
of that asset. 
OPEB Accrual Expense:  Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) is the recognized annual 
required contribution to the benefit.  The amount is actuarially determined in accordance with the 
parameters of GASB 45.  The amount represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing 
basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year. 
Bad Debt:  The uncollectible accounts receivable that has been written off. 
Service Cost Construction:  The value of material, parts & supplies from inventory used to 
construct, repair and maintain our asset infrastructure. 
Capitalized Construction:  The value of our labor force used to construct our asset infrastructure. 



























































Palmdale Water District
2017 Capital Projects ‐ Contractual Commitments and Needs

Updated: 1/5/2017

New and Replacement Capital Projects
Work 
Order Project Title Project Type

Estimated 
Expense

Contractor
Approved 
Contract 
Amount

Board / 
Manager 
Approval

Payments 
Approved to 

Date

Contract 
Balance

Through 
Dec. 2016

Jan‐17 Feb‐17 Mar‐17 Apr‐17 May‐17 Jun‐17 Jul‐17 Aug‐17 Sep‐17 Oct‐17 Nov‐17 Dec‐17 2017 Total

Upper Amargosa Recharge Project Water Supply City of Palmdale 1,250,000$        12/4/2013 129,215$          1,120,785$        129,215 300,000 300,000 600,000

16‐408 Water Meter Replacement Projects (Spec 1602) ‐ Purchase Replaceent Cap. Inland Water Works 400,000$           10/10/2016 110,758$          289,242$           110,758

12‐609 Ave. Q‐1, Q‐2, Q‐3 Water Main Replacement (Spec 1211) Replacement Cap. Bob O Const. 57,500$              10/12/2016 42,750$             14,750$             42,750 14,750

16‐408 Water Meter Replacement Projects (Spec 1602) ‐ Installation Replacement Cap. Bob O Const. 144,442$           10/12/2016 ‐$   144,442$           36,000 36,000 36,000 36,422 144,422

15‐615 Well No. 15 Rehabilitation ‐ Water Quality  Replacement Cap. Layne 114,000$           10/26/2016 ‐$   114,000$           114,000 114,000

16‐609 Board Room Video Upgrades Replacement Cap. CWI/Backyard Images 60,000$              10/26/2016 28,508$             31,492$             28,508 31,492 31,492

16‐415 El Camino Underground Booster ‐ 40hp Replacement Cap. Roadrunner Pump 15,000$              11/1/2016 10,531$             4,469$                10,531 4,469 4,469

16‐610 Well No. 18 Rehabilitation Replacement Cap. Roadrunner Pump 8,414$                11/2/2016 ‐$   8,414$                8,414 8,414

12‐400 PRGRRP ‐ Construction of Monitoring Wells / Test Basin Water Supply 300,000$              ‐$   ‐$   100,000 100,000 100,000 300,000

15‐611 Camares and Avenue S‐14 Water Main Replacement (Spec 1502) Replacement Cap. 110,000$              ‐$   ‐$   50,000 30,000 30,000 110,000

15‐613 Avenue V‐5 Water Main Replacement (Spec 1504) Replacement Cap. 45,000$                ‐$   ‐$   20,000 25,000 45,000

15‐614 Drainage Improvements @ WTP New Capital 80,000$                ‐$   ‐$   80,000 80,000

16‐411 Clearwell 2950' Discharge Piping and Valve Replacement Cap. 35,000$                ‐$   ‐$   35,000 35,000

16‐602 Avenue P and 25th Water Main Replacement (Spec 1601) Replacement Cap. 48,000$                ‐$   ‐$   28,000 20,000 48,000

16‐605 Additional Brine Tank @ WTP New Capital 90,000$                ‐$   ‐$   45,000 45,000 90,000

16‐607 2800' Booster No. 2 Repair Replacement Cap. 40,000$                ‐$   ‐$   0

16‐608 Ave. Q‐1, Q‐2, Q‐3, Q‐4, and Q‐5 @ 5th St. E. Water Main Repl. (Spec 1603) Replacement Cap. 25,000$                ‐$   ‐$   25,000 25,000

16‐611 CL2 Monitoring @ Well Sites Regulatory 110,000$              ‐$   ‐$   25,000 25,000 25,000 35,000 110,000

16‐612 Well No. 8A Rehabilitation ‐ Emergency Replacement Cap. 75,000$                ‐$   ‐$   35,000 40,000 75,000

16‐613 Flow Meter for WTP Domestic and Process Tracking New Capital 10,000$                ‐$   ‐$   10,000 10,000

Well No. 6A Rehabilitation Replacement Cap. 75,000$                ‐$   ‐$   45,000 30,000 75,000

Well No. 29 Rehabilitation Replacement Cap. 60,000$                ‐$   ‐$   30,000 30,000 60,000

Well No. 35 Rehabilitation Replacement Cap. 60,000$                ‐$   ‐$   30,000 30,000 60,000

Entry Buildings @ Filter and GAC Pipe Gallery Entrance Safety 20,000$                ‐$   ‐$   20,000 20,000

12‐611 Avenue P‐8 Water Main Replacement Replacement Cap. 145,000$              ‐$   ‐$   0

Ave. P‐12, Division, 2nd, 3rd, Stanridge Water Main Repl.  Replacement Cap. 750,000$              ‐$   ‐$   0

Sierra Hwy. Tie‐In and Abandonment Replacement Cap. 15,000$                ‐$   ‐$   0

13th Street East and Avenue R Water Main Replacement Replacement Cap. 48,000$                ‐$   ‐$   0

Ave. Q‐14 and 17th Street East Water Main Replacement Replacement Cap. 45,000$                ‐$   ‐$   0

Ave. Q‐10 and 12th Street East Water Main Replacement Replacement Cap. 15,000$                ‐$   ‐$   0

Well, Booster, and Remote Site System Improvements Replacement Cap. 500,000$              ‐$   ‐$   0

Water Meter Replacement Program for 2017 Replacement Cap. 700,000$              ‐$   ‐$   0

Parking Lot Resurfacing Replacement Cap. 110,000$              ‐$   ‐$   0

WTP Control Room Upgrades Replacement Cap. 35,000$                ‐$   ‐$   0

WTP Infrastructure and Process/Equipment Repairs Replacement Cap. 75,000$                ‐$   ‐$   0

Protective Coatings on WTP Structures Replacement Cap. 100,000$              ‐$   ‐$   0

Hydro‐Electric Generator Repair Replacement Cap. 50,000$                ‐$   ‐$   0

Replacement of Structural Support Beams ‐ WTP Sed. Basins Replacement Cap. 300,000$              ‐$   ‐$   0

Electric Car Charging Station New Capital 7,000$                  ‐$   ‐$   0

Washwater Return Pump Replacement Replacement Cap. 35,000$                ‐$   ‐$   0

‐$   ‐$   0

‐$   ‐$   0

‐$   ‐$   0

‐$   ‐$   0

‐$   ‐$   0

‐$   ‐$   0

‐$   ‐$   0

‐$   ‐$   0

‐$   ‐$   0

‐$   ‐$  

Sub‐Totals: 4,113,000$          2,049,356$        321,762.00$     1,727,594$        321,762 283,375 390,750 281,000 511,000 141,422 55,000 25,000 0 25,000 328,000 20,000 0 2,045,797

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.3



Palmdale Water District
2017 Capital Projects ‐ Contractual Commitments and Needs

Updated: 1/5/2017

Consulting and Engineering Support
Work 
Order Project Title Project Type

Estimated 
Expense

Consultant
Approved 
Contract 
Amount

Board / 
Manager 
Approval

Payments 
Approved to 

Date

Contract 
Balance

Through 
Dec. 2016

Jan‐17 Feb‐17 Mar‐17 Apr‐17 May‐17 Jun‐17 Jul‐17 Aug‐17 Sep‐17 Oct‐17 Nov‐17 Dec‐17 2017 Total

12‐400 PRGRRP ‐ CEQA, Permitting, Pre‐Design, and Pilot Water Supply Kennedy/Jenks 1,627,000$        5/12/2016 1,293,991$       333,009$           1,293,991 20,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 100,000 65,000 335,000

16‐412 Well CT Study Regulatory Carollo 9,700$                9/14/2016 8,245$               1,455$                8,245 1,455 1,455

04‐501 Littlerock Sediment Removal Project (EIR/EIS/Permitting) Water Supply Aspen 869,023$           9/14/2016 671,087$          197,936$           671,087 25,000 25,000 25,000 50,000 50,000 25,000 200,000

04‐501 Littlerock Sediment Removal (Cost Recovery Agreement) Permitting Forest Service 100,000$           9/28/2016 ‐$   100,000$           100,000 100,000

15‐403 Water Mangement Information System Database Record Management DCSE 12,000$              10/26/2016 ‐$   12,000$             12,000 12,000

14‐404 Water System Master Plan ‐ CEQA Facilities Planning ESA 174,715$           11/9/2016 ‐$   174,715$           14,715 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 174,715

WTP Process Evaluation (As‐Needed) Regulatory Carollo 35,000$              1/11/2017 ‐$   35,000$             10,000 10,000 15,000 35,000

04‐501 Littlerock Sediment Removal Project ‐ Design Water Supply 300,000$              ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Sanitary Survey Update Regulatory 50,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

System Valuation Study Financial Planning 30,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Electrical Engineering (As‐Needed) Facilities Design 10,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Energy Storage ‐ Feasibility and Pilot Study Savings/Efficiency 50,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Sub‐Totals: 440,000$              2,827,438$        1,973,323$       854,115$           1,973,323 173,170 105,000 105,000 135,000 170,000 110,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 0 0 0 858,170

New and Replacement Equipment
Work 
Order Project Title Project Type

Estimated 
Expense

Vendor/Supplier
Approved 
Contract 
Amount

Board / 
Manager 
Approval

Payments 
Approved to 

Date

Contract 
Balance

Through 
Dec. 2016

Jan‐17 Feb‐17 Mar‐17 Apr‐17 May‐17 Jun‐17 Jul‐17 Aug‐17 Sep‐17 Oct‐17 Nov‐17 Dec‐17 2017 Total

16‐413 CIS Software Replacement (Holman Capital Financed) Replacement Equip. TruePoint 475,000$           9/14/2016 97,099$             377,901$           97,099 75,000 100,000 100,000 103,000 378,000

Security Improvements @ WTP (Holman Capital Financed) Safety 215,000$              ‐$   ‐$   50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 15,000 215,000

Increased Data Storage to Support CMS and Growth (Holman Capital Financed) New Equipment 98,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$   98,000 98,000

IVR (Holman Capital Financed) Replacement Equip. 16,000$                PALITTO ‐$   ‐$   ‐$   16,000 16,000

Payment Kiosk for Customer Care Lobby (Holman Capital Financed) Replacement Equip. 21,000$                ADCOMP ‐$   ‐$   ‐$   21,000 21,000

LIMS ‐ Laboratory Information Management System (Holman Capital Financed) Replacement Equip. 48,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$   48,000 48,000

Water Meter Calibration Bench New Equipment 10,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Power Broom Attachment New Equipment 9,000$                  ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Online Forms New Equipment 25,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Customer Texting / Mass Communication ‐ Everbridge New Equipment 30,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Conference Bridge ‐ Shoretel New Equipment 25,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Data Center UPS ‐ Whole Room UPS New Equipment 25,000$                ‐$   ‐$   ‐$  

Sub‐Totals: 522,000$              475,000$           97,099$             377,901$           97,099 0 75,000 196,000 166,000 71,000 150,000 15,000 103,000 0 0 0 0 776,000

Water Quality Fee Funded Projects
Work 
Order Project Title Project Type

Estimated 
Expense

Vendor/Supplier
Approved 
Contract 
Amount

Board / 
Manager 
Approval

Payments 
Approved to 

Date

Contract 
Balance

Through 
Dec. 2016

Jan‐17 Feb‐17 Mar‐17 Apr‐17 May‐17 Jun‐17 Jul‐17 Aug‐17 Sep‐17 Oct‐17 Nov‐17 Dec‐17 2017 Total

GAC Replacements @ WTP Water Quality 570,000$              Calgon Carbon 570,000$           7/9/2014 ‐$   570,000$           190,000 190,000 190,000 570,000

GAC Replacement @ Underground Booster Station Water Quality 65,000$                Evoqua ‐$   ‐$   ‐$   65,000 65,000

Filter Media Testing/Inspection Water Quality 30,000$                ERS ‐$   ‐$   ‐$   30,000 30,000

Replacement Lab Equipment ‐ GCMS/Autosampler Regulatory 150,000$              Agilent 121,620$           1/11/2017 ‐$   121,620$           121,620 121,620

Sub‐Totals: 815,000$              691,620$           ‐$   691,620$           121,620 220,000 65,000 190,000 190,000 786,620

Summary (W/O GAC) Jan‐17 Feb‐17 Mar‐17 Apr‐17 May‐17 Jun‐17 Jul‐17 Aug‐17 Sep‐17 Oct‐17 Nov‐17 Dec‐17 2017 Total

331,545 230,750 141,000 571,000 206,422 210,000 20,000 123,000 20,000 300,000 0 0 2,103,967

125,000 340,000 441,000 241,000 176,000 105,000 40,000 0 25,000 28,000 20,000 0 1,326,000

‐50,000 ‐100,000 ‐100,000 ‐100,000 ‐31,381 ‐381,381

‐47,098 ‐75,000 ‐196,000 ‐166,000 ‐71,000 ‐150,000 ‐15,000 ‐103,000 ‐823,098

359,447 395,750 286,000 546,000 280,041 165,000 45,000 20,000 45,000 328,000 20,000 0 2,225,488

Totals

5,351,794$                  

2,392,184$                  

2,959,610$                  

381,381$    

Funding Through 2017 Budgeted Non‐Operating Capital Exp 2,225,488$                  

Total Approved Contracts to Date

Total Payments on Approved Contracts to Date

Total Contract Balance to Date

Funding Through Series 2013A WRB

Funding Through Holman Capital 830,000$    

Non‐Operating Capital Expenditures (Committed) 2,103,967$                  

Non‐Operating Capital Expenditures (Projected) 1,326,000$                  



Project Work Order Description
 Allocated Based 

on Bond 
Contractual 
Commitment

Payout to Date
Grant 

Funds/Operating 
Budget

 Uncommitted 
Bond $ 

Spec. 1204 603-12 Ave. Q - Q-3, Division and Sumac 725,000$             765,085$             765,085$  -$  (40,085)$             

Spec. 1201 606-11 20th, Puerta, Sweetbriar, and 22nd St. E. 1,450,000$          1,487,261$          1,487,261$             -$  (37,261)$             

Spec. 1205 605-12 Frontier, 31st St. E., etc. between Ave. Q and Q-4 1,200,000$          1,291,539$          1,291,539$             485,000$  (91,539)$             

Spec. 1207 607-12 10th St. E. between Ave. P and Palmdale Blvd. 1,400,000$          1,327,806$          1,327,806$             -$  72,194$  

LRDSR 501-04 Littlerock Sediment Removal (EIR/EIS/Permits) 975,000$             869,023$             671,087$  -$  105,977$             

LCGRRP 400-12 Littlerock Recharge and Recovery (Feasibility) 1,500,000$          769,891$             769,891$  -$  730,109$             

UAR TBD Upper Amargosa Recharge (Project Capacity) 1,250,000$          1,250,000$          129,215$  668,589$  -$  

Spec. 0905 601-09 15th St. E. between Ave. P and Ave. Q (Material) -$  362,984$             362,984$  -$  (362,984)$            

PRGRRP 501-04 Palmdale Regional Recharge and Recovery (Permits) -$  1,530,000$          1,293,991$             (1,530,000)$        

Totals: 8,500,000$        9,653,589$        8,098,860$           1,153,589$          (1,153,589)$       

Requisition No. Payee Date Approved Invoice No. Project Payment Amount

2 Issuance Costs Jul 8, 2013 N/A WRB 24,815.84$            

3 BV Construction - Progress Payment #1 Jul 9, 2013 1 Spec. 1204 98,552.53$            

4 JT Eng. - Design Progress Payment Jul 17, 2013 5187 Spec. 1207 9,108.00$  

5 BV Construction - Progress Payment #2 Aug 5, 2013 2 Spec. 1204 145,175.44$          

6 BV Construction - Progress Payment #3-4 Sep 4, 2013 3 and 4 Spec. 1204 167,790.43$          

7 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Sep 30, 2013 1116.002-01 LRDSR 18,499.60$            

8 BV Construction - Progress Payment #5 Sep 30, 2013 5 Spec. 1204 46,862.08$            

9 BV Construction - Progress Payment #6 Oct 24, 2013 6 Spec. 1204 51,052.05$            

10 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Oct 24, 2013 1116.002-02 LRDSR 8,410.32$  

11 BV Construction - Progress Payment #7 Nov 7, 2013 7 Spec. 1204 87,960.50$            

12 BV Construction - Progress Payment #8 Dec 4, 2013 8 Spec. 1204 70,650.08$            

13 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Dec 4, 2013 1116.002-03 LRDSR 11,054.97$            

14 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Jan 2, 2014 78236 LCGRRP 24,066.25$            

14 BV Construction - Progress Payment #1 Jan 2, 2014 1 Spec. 1201 29,925.00$            

14 BV Construction - Progress Payment #9 Jan 2, 2014 9 Spec. 1204 58,787.84$            

14 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jan 2, 2014 1116.002-04 LRDSR 36,178.95$            

14 JT Eng. - Design Progress Payment Jan 2, 2014 5200 Spec. 1207 9,518.00$  

15 BV Construction - Progress Payment #2 & #3 Jan 21, 2014 2 & 3 Spec. 1201 114,095.00$          

16 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Feb 24, 2014 1116.002-05 LRDSR 4,917.47$  

16 BV Construction - Progress Payment #4 & #5 Feb 24, 2014 4 & 5 Spec. 1201 131,743.15$          

17 BV Construction - Retention Payment Mar 3, 2014 10 Spec. 1204 38,254.26$            

17 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Mar 3, 2014 79010 & 80391 LCGRRP 113,652.66$          

18 BV Construction - Progress Payment #6 Mar 31, 2014 6 Spec. 1201 126,834.50$          

18 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Mar 31, 2014 1116.002-06 and 07 LRDSR 17,080.04$            

19 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Apr 16, 2014 78236 LCGRRP 28,228.60$            

19 BV Construction - Progress Payment #7 Apr 16, 2014 7 Spec. 1201 252,741.80$          

20 BV Construction - Progress Payment #8 May 15, 2014 8 Spec. 1201 69,825.00$            

20 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment May 15, 2014 1116.002-08 LRDSR 33,388.96$            

20 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment May 15, 2014 82422 & 80900 LCGRRP 135,858.74$          

21 BV Construction - Progress Payment #9 Jun 4, 2014 9 Spec. 1201 67,260.00$            

21 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jun 4, 2014 1116.002-09 LRDSR 31,845.93$            

22 BV Construction - Progress Payment #10 Jun 30, 2014 10 Spec. 1201 139,498.00$          

23 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Jun 30, 2014 83735 LCGRRP 30,172.21$            

23 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jun 30, 2014 1116.002-10 LRDSR 10,672.32$            

24 BV Construction - Progress Payment #11 Jul 21, 2014 11 Spec. 1201 141,217.50$          

24 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Jul 21, 2014 84147 LCGRRP 26,431.83$            

24 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jul 21, 2014 1116.002-11 LRDSR 6,274.20$  

Water Revenue Bond - Series 2013A
Updated: January 5, 2017

Page 1 of 3



25 BV Construction - Progress Payment #12 Aug 19, 2014 12 Spec. 1201 84,386.60$            

25 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Aug 19, 2014 1116.002-12 LRDSR 11,115.51$            

26 BV Construction - Progress Payment #13 Sept 10, 2014 13 Spec. 1201 47,654.85$            

26 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Sept 10, 2014 1116.002-13 LRDSR 37,715.30$            

27 BV Construction - Progress Payment #14 Sept 29, 2014 14 Spec. 1201 122,741.90$          

27 PWD - Reimbursement Sept 29, 2014 N/A Spec. 0905 260,611.31$          

28 Cedro Construction - Progress Payment #1 Oct 14, 2014 1 Spec. 1207 310,752.41$          

28 City of Palmdale - Recharge Project Oct 14, 2014 PWD-2014 UAR 38,402.47$            

29 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Oct 23, 2014 1116.002-14 LRDSR 56,223.72$            

29 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Oct 23, 2014 87036 LCGRRP 80,732.32$            

30 BV Construction - Progress Payment #15 Nov 12, 2014 15 Spec. 1201 84,974.65$            

30 Aspen - Bio and Cultural Report Nov 12, 2014 3277.001-01 Spec. 1205 10,608.08$            

30 Cedro Construction - Progress Payment #2 Nov 12, 2014 2 Spec. 1207 195,802.84$          

31 ANM Construction - Paving Nov 17, 2014 011115-1 Spec. 0905 102,373.00$          

32 Aspen - Bio and Cultural Report Nov 26, 2014 3277.001-02 Spec. 1205 1,147.81$              

32 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Nov 26, 2014 1116.002-15 LRDSR 76,161.79$            

33 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Dec 29, 2014 88741 LCGRRP 71,831.14$            

33 BV Construction - Progress Payment #16 (Retention) Dec 29, 2014 16 - Retention Spec. 1201 74,363.05$            

33 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Dec 29, 2014 1116.002-16 LRDSR 6,136.99$              

34 Cedro Construction - Progress Payment #3 Jan 7, 2015 3 Spec. 1207 294,189.21$          

35 BV Construction - Progress Payment #1 Jan 26, 2015 1 Spec. 1205 152,445.08$          

35 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jan 26, 2015 1116.002-17 LRDSR 13,105.63$            

36 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Feb 2, 2015 89538 LCGRRP 78,066.17$            

37 BV Construction - Progress Payments #2 and #3 Feb 19, 2015 2 and 3 Spec. 1205 195,962.20$          

37 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Feb 19, 2015 1116.002-18 LRDSR 8,814.60$              

38 BV Construction - Progress Payment #4 Mar 9, 2015 4 Spec. 1205 123,500.00$          

38 Cedro Construction - Progress Payment #4 Mar 9, 2015 4 Spec. 1207 70,371.25$            

39 BV Construction - Progress Payment #5 Mar 31, 2015 5 Spec. 1205 144,210.00$          

39 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Mar 31, 2015 1116.002-19 LRDSR 12,057.52$            

39 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Mar 31, 2015 90983 LCGRRP 134,407.47$          

40 Cedro Construction - Progress Payment #5 Apr 13, 2015 5 Spec. 1207 116,680.99$          

41 BV Construction - Progress Payment #6 Apr 27, 2015 6 Spec. 1205 125,003.43$          

41 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Apr 27, 2015 1116.002-20 LRDSR 7,540.62$              

42 Cedro Construction - Progress Payment #6 May 19, 2015 6 Spec. 1207 103,592.13$          

43 BV Construction - Progress Payment #7 Jun 8, 2015 7 Spec. 1205 72,296.90$            

43 Aspen - Native American Monitoring Jun 8, 2015 3277.001-03 Spec. 1205 7,702.52$              

43 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jun 8, 2015 1116.002-21 LRDSR 44,109.14$            

44 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jun 23, 2015 1116.002-22 LRDSR 34,285.59$            

44 Cedro Construction - Progress Payment #7 Jun 23, 2015 7 Spec. 1207 60,299.73$            

45 BV Construction - Progress Payment #8 Jul 15, 2015 8 Spec. 1205 111,492.00$          

45 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Jul 15, 2015 93555 LCGRRP 46,443.99$            

45 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Jul 15, 2015 93556 PRGRRP 251,714.21$          

46 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jul 21, 2015 1116.002-23 LRDSR 16,484.80$            

46 Aspen - Native American Monitoring Jul 21, 2015 3277.001-04 Spec. 1205 4,152.75$              

46 City of Palmdale - Recharge Project Jul 21, 2015 PWD-2015 UAR 54,977.18$            

47 BV Construction - Progress Payment #9 Aug 11, 2015 9 Spec. 1205 107,542.76$          

47 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Aug 11, 2015 94435 PRGRRP 238,422.35$          

48 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Sept 14, 2015 1116.002-24 LRDSR 9,024.21$              

48 Cedro Construction - Final Payment/Retention Sept 14, 2015 Final Retention Spec. 1207 157,491.76$          

49 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Sept 28, 2015 1116.002-25 LRDSR 1,034.50$              

49 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Sept 28, 2015 95632 PRGRRP 190,705.91$          

50 Aspen - Native American Monitoring Oct. 12, 2015 3277.001-05 Spec. 1205 5,581.50$              

50 BV Construction - Progress Payment #10 Oct. 12, 2015 10 Spec. 1205 92,241.20$            

51 Aspen - Native American Monitoring Nov. 4, 2015 3277.001-06 Spec. 1205 4,707.50$              

Page 2 of 3



51 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Nov. 4, 2015 96460 PRGRRP 129,704.49$          

52 Aspen - Native American Monitoring Dec. 28, 2015 96461 Spec. 1205 3,013.50$              

52 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Dec. 28, 2015 97775 PRGRRP 159,241.36$          

53 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Jan. 21, 2016 98545 PRGRRP 67,612.54$            

53 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jan. 21, 2016 1116.002-25 & 27 LRDSR 3,751.40$              

54 BV Construction - Progress Payment #11 Feb. 3, 2016 11 Spec. 1205 67,200.17$            

55 BV Construction - Retention Payment Feb. 23, 2016 Retention Spec. 1205 62,731.78$            

55 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Feb. 23, 2016 99318 PRGRRP 58,537.45$            

56 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Mar. 28, 2016 1116.003-01 LRDSR 33,898.64$            

56 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Mar. 28, 2016 99918 PRGRRP 57,193.72$            

57 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Apr. 19, 2016 100572 PRGRRP 7,364.72$              

58 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment May 23, 2016 1116.003-02 LRDSR 5,535.88$              

58 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment May 23, 2016 101354 PRGRRP 26,258.21$            

59 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jun 20, 2016 1116.003-03 LRDSR 37,001.22$            

59 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Jun 20, 2016 102083 PRGRRP 5,389.60$              

60 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jul 21, 2016 1116.003-05 & 05 LRDSR 43,122.23$            

60 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Jul 21, 2016 103204 PRGRRP 21,078.38$            

61 City of Palmdale - Recharge Project Jul 27, 2016 PWD-2016 UAR 35,834.85$            

62 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Sept 6, 2016 1116.003-06 LRDSR 3,097.87$              

62 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Sept 6, 2016 104354 PRGRRP 32,202.76$            

63 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Sept 19, 2016 104792 PRGRRP 25,142.44$            

64 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Oct. 31, 2016 1116.003-07 LRDSR 4,298.50$              

64 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Oct. 31, 2016 105451 PRGRRP 6,899.35$              

65 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Nov. 15, 2016
1116.003-08 
1110.004-01

LRDSR 8,375.36$              

65 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Nov. 15, 2016 106216 PRGRRP 13,942.29$            

66 Aspen - EIR/EIS Progress Payment Jan. 2, 2017 1116.004-02 & 03 LRDSR 19,872.98$            

66 Kennedy/Jenks - Progress Payment Jan. 2, 2017 107221 PRGRRP 2,581.18$              

Page 3 of 3



P A L M D A L E  W A T E R  D I S T R I C T

B O A R D  M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: January 5, 2017 January 11, 2017 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 

FROM: Michael Williams, Finance Manager/CFO 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.4 – CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION 
ON LEASE AGREEMENT WITH HOLMAN CAPITAL. 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approving a lease purchase agreement with Holman Capital for 
the purchase of technology related capital improvements. Lease purchase amount is not to 
exceed $830,000.00, five-year term at 2.78%. This item will be reviewed with the Finance 
Committee at their January 10, 2017 meeting. 

Alternative Options: 

The alternative option is to pay total cost of capital improvement projects with cash. 

Impact of Taking No Action: 

The impact of no action will result in a delay of technology improvement projects 
implementation. 

Background: 

The District has technology improvement needs that are part of the 2017 capital 
improvement budget. These projects will be implemented as cash is available for 
implementation. As an alternative to reducing our cash flow, the District has an opportunity 
to pay for these improvements through a lease over a five-year period. 

The capital improvement projects are: 
 Customer Information System Software $425,000
 Laboratory Information Management System $48,000
 Security Enhancement for WTP $215,000
 Data Storage Upgrade $98,000
 Interactive Voice Recognition $16,000
 Payment Kiosk $21,000

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.4



2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA:  Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager January 5, 2017 

The lease purchase will include a documentation fee of $7,000, for a total package 
of $830,000. The interest rate is 2.78%, and the District will make semi-annual payments. 

The funding for the various projects will be placed in an interest bearing escrow 
account and drawn upon as progress on the various projects are complete. 

If approved, the District will need to execute an Installment Purchase Agreement, 
Authorizing Resolution, General Certification of the District, Arbitrage Certification, 
Escrow Agreement, and Assignment Agreement.   

Strategic Plan Initiative: 

This work is part of Strategic Initiative No. 4, Financial Health & Stability. 

Budget: 

This will reduce the impact on cash operating expense under Plant Expenditures by 
$425,000 and increase Non-Operating expense by $89,476, which is the first installment 
payment due in July, 2017. In addition, this will make available cash for investment in 
other capital projects. 

Supporting Documents: 

 Lease purchasing documents from Holman Capital



INDEX TO CLOSING DOCUMENTS 

$830,000.00 2017 INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
FINANCING THE TECHNOLOGY REPLACEMENT PROJECT 

ISSUED BY THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT TO 
HOLMAN CAPITAL CORPORATION 

Loan Documents: 

Tab A: Exhibit A-1 – 2017 Installment Purchase Agreement; 

Tab B: Exhibit B-1 – Authorizing Resolution of the Palmdale Water District; 

Tab C: Exhibit C-1 – General Certificate of the District; 

Tab D: Exhibit D-1 – Tax Agreement and Arbitrage Certificate; 

Tab E: Exhibit E-1 – Opinion of Issuer’s Counsel; 

Tab F: Exhibit F-1 – Form 8038-G; 

Tab G: Exhibit G-1 – Intentionally Omitted; 

Tab H: Exhibit H-1 – Closing Memorandum;  

Tab I: Exhibit I-1 – Insurance Certificate  

Tab J: Exhibit J-1 – Escrow Agreement, together with related exhibits  

Assignment Documents (Lender and Investor Only): 

Tab K: Assignment Agreement with Schedule A thereto. 

HOLMAN CAPITAL CORPORATION 



 A-1  
 

TAB A: 
________________________________________________________________________ 

 
 
 
 

INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

 
between 

 
Palmdale Water District 

   
and 

 
HOLMAN CAPITAL CORPORATION 

 
 

Dated January 18, 2017 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

________________________________________________________________________



 A-2  
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PROVISIONS OF GENERAL APPLICABILITY 

Section 1.1. Definitions ...................................................................................................................... A-4 
Section 1.2. Benefits of Installment Purchase Agreement Limited to Parties .................................... A-7 
Section 1.3. Successor Is Deemed Included in all References to Predecessor ................................... A-7 
Section 1.4. Waiver of Personal Liability ........................................................................................... A-7 
Section 1.5. Article and Section Headings, Gender and References .................................................. A-7 
Section 1.6. Partial Invalidity ............................................................................................................. A-7 
Section 1.7. California Law ................................................................................................................ A-7 
Section 1.8. Notices ............................................................................................................................ A-7 
Section 1.9. Execution in Counterparts .............................................................................................. A-8 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS OF THE DISTRICT AND THE CORPORATION 

Section 2.1. Representations by the District ....................................................................................... A-8 
Section 2.2. Representations by the Corporation ................................................................................ A-9 

ARTICLE III 
ACQUISITION OF THE 2017 PROJECT; PURCHASE OF THE 2017 PROJECT; 2017 

INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 3.1 Acquisition of the 2017 Project  ..................................................................................... A-9 
Section 3.2 Purchase of the 2017 Project  ........................................................................................ A-10 
Section 3.3 Purchase Price  .............................................................................................................. A-10 
Section 3.4 2017 Installment Payments  .......................................................................................... A-10 
Section 3.5 Obligation to Pay .......................................................................................................... A-10 
Section 3.6 Net Contract .................................................................................................................. A-11 
Section 3.7 Late Payments ............................................................................................................... A-11 

ARTICLE IV 
PREPAYMENT OF 2017 INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 4.1 Prepayment  .................................................................................................................. A-11 
Section 4.2 Notice of Prepayment  .................................................................................................. A-11 

ARTICLE V 
DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS 

Section 5.1 Discharge of Obligations  ............................................................................................. A-11 

ARTICLE VI 
SECURITY 

Section 6.1. Pledge of Net Water Revenues ..................................................................................... A-12 
Section 6.2. Additional Debt ............................................................................................................. A-12 



 A-3  
 

ARTICLE VII 
COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT 

Section 7.1. Compliance with Installment Purchase Agreement and Resolution ............................. A-13 
Section 7.2. Compliance with Law and Contracts; Preservation of Rights ...................................... A-13 
Section 7.3. Against Sale of Other Disposition of Property ............................................................. A-13 
Section 7.4. Operation and Maintenance of the Water System ........................................................ A-14 
Section 7.5. Payment of Claims ........................................................................................................ A-14 
Section 7.6. Insurance; Application of Net Proceeds ....................................................................... A-14 
Section 7.7. Eminent Domain Proceeds ............................................................................................ A-15 
Section 7.8. Rates, Fees, and Charges .............................................................................................. A-15 
Section 7.9 Protection of Security and Rights of the Corporation ................................................... A-16 
Section 7.10. Tax Covenant ................................................................................................................ A-16 
Section 7.11. Indemnification of the Corporation .............................................................................. A-16 
Section 7.12. Additional Information ................................................................................................. A-17 
Section 7.13. Further Assurances ....................................................................................................... A-17 
Section 7. 14. Opinion of District's Attorney ....................................................................................... A-17 

ARTICLE VIII 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF THE CORPORATION 

Section 8.1. Events of Default and Remedies ................................................................................... A-18 
Section 8.2. Application of Funds Upon Acceleration ..................................................................... A-19 
Section 8.3. Other Remedies of the Corporation .............................................................................. A-19 
Section 8.4. Non-Waiver .................................................................................................................. A-19 
Section 8.5. Remedies Not Exclusive ............................................................................................... A-20 

 
ARTICLE IX 

ASSIGNMENT; AMENDMENTS 
Section 9.1. Assignment ................................................................................................................... A-20 
Section 9.2. Amendments Permitted ................................................................................................. A-20 
 
Exhibit A Description of 2017 Project .......................................................................................... A-23 
Exhibit B 2017 Installment Payments ........................................................................................... A-24 
 
Tab B. Authorizing Resolution of the District ............................................................................ B-1 
Tab C. General Certificate of the District ................................................................................... C-1 
Tab D. Tax Agreement and Arbitrage Certificate ....................................................................... D-1 
Tab E. Opinion of Issuer’s Counsel............................................................................................ E-1 
Tab F. Form 8038-G .................................................................................................................... F-1 
Tab G. Intentionally Omitted ...................................................................................................... G-1 
Tab H. Closing Memorandum .................................................................................................... H-1 
Tab I. Insurance Certificate .........................................................................................................I-1 
Tab J. Escrow Agreement, together with related exhibits .......................................................... J-1 
 



 

A-4 

INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 

This INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT, dated January 18, 2017, between the 
Palmdale Water District, a public utility district of the State of California (the “District”), and HOLMAN 
CAPITAL CORPORATION, a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State of 
Delaware (the “Corporation”), (each individually a “Party” and collectively the “Parties”).  There are no 
other parties to this Installment Purchase Agreement.    

W I T N E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the District owns and operates an enterprise comprising property and facilities 
necessary to provide domestic water service within the District (the “Water System”); 

WHEREAS, the District has determined to undertake the acquisition, construction, equipping, and 
furnishing of certain improvements to its facilities (collectively, the “2017 Project”) as more particularly 
described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and by this reference incorporated herein; 

WHEREAS, the District and the Corporation are entering into this Installment Purchase 
Agreement, pursuant to which the Corporation will finance the acquisition of the 2017 Project and sell it to 
the District upon the terms and conditions set forth herein; 

WHEREAS, the District and the Corporation have duly authorized the execution of this Installment 
Purchase Agreement; 

WHEREAS, all acts, conditions and things required by law to exist, to have happened and to have 
been performed precedent to and in connection with the execution and delivery of this Installment Purchase 
Agreement do exist, have happened and have been performed in regular and due time, form and manner as 
required by law, and the Parties hereto are now duly authorized to execute and enter into this Installment 
Purchase Agreement; 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of these promises and of the mutual agreements and 
covenants contained herein and for other valuable consideration, the Parties hereto do hereby agree as 
follows: 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PROVISIONS OF GENERAL APPLICABILITY 

Section 1.1. Definitions.  Unless the context otherwise requires, the terms defined in this 
section shall for all purposes hereof and of any amendment hereof or supplement hereto and of any report 
or other document mentioned herein or therein have the meanings defined herein, the following definitions 
to be equally applicable to both the singular and plural forms of any of the terms defined herein. 

Accountant’s Report means a report, in such form and containing such substance as is reasonably 
required the Corporation, the Assignee or any successors and/or assigns thereof, signed by an Independent 
Certified Public Accountant that is reasonably acceptable to the Corporation, the Assignee or any successors 
and/or assigns thereof. 

Assignee means Signature Public Funding Corp, as assignee of the Corporation’s interests 
hereunder, and its successors and assigns. 



 

 A-5  
 

Assignment Agreement means the Assignment Agreement dated January 18, 2017, between the 
Corporation and the Assignee.  

Board President means the President of the Board of Directors of the District, or any other person 
designated by the Board President to act on behalf of the Board President.  

Corporation means Holman Capital Corporation, a corporation duly organized and existing under 
and by virtue of the laws of the State of Delaware, and any successor and/or assigns thereof. 

District means the Palmdale Water District, a public utility district of the state of California, which 
is a body corporate and politic and a political subdivision duly organized and existing under and by virtue 
of the laws of the State of California. 

Effective Interest Rate means the rate of interest per annum specified in Exhibit B. 

Engineer’s Report means a report, in such form and containing such substance as is reasonably 
required the Corporation, the Assignee or any successors and/or assigns thereof, signed by an Independent 
Engineer. 

Escrow Agreement means the Escrow Agreement dated January 18, 2017, between the District, the 
Corporation and Signature Bank, as escrow agent. 

Escrow Fund means the fund by that name established pursuant to the Escrow Agreement. 

Event of Default means an event described in Section 8.1. 

Fiscal Year means the period beginning on July 1 of each year and ending on June 30 of each year, 
or any other twelve-month period selected and designated as the official Fiscal Year of the District. 

Funding Date means January 18, 2017. 

Independent Certified Public Accountant means any certified public accountant or firm of such 
accountants duly licensed and entitled to practice and practicing as such under the laws of the State of 
California, appointed and paid by the District, and who, or each of whom: 

(1) is in fact independent according to the Statement of Auditing Standards No. 1 and 
not under the domination of the District; 

(2) does not have a substantial financial interest, direct or indirect, in the operations of 
the District; and 

(3) is not connected with the District as a member, officer or employee of the District, 
but who may be regularly retained to audit the accounting records of and make reports thereon to 
the District. 

Independent Engineer means a registered engineer or firm of registered engineers reasonably 
acceptable to the Corporation, the Assignee or any successors and/or assigns thereof and generally 
recognized to be well-qualified in engineering matters relating to water systems, appointed and paid by the 
District, and who: 

(1) is in fact independent and not under the domination of the District or any member 
thereof; 



 

 A-6  
 

(2) does not have a substantial financial interest, direct or indirect, in the operations of 
the District; and 

(3) is not connected with the District as an officer or employee of the District or any 
member thereof, but who may be regularly retained to make reports to the District. 

Installment Payment Dates mean twice annually, on the eighteenth (18th) day of each January, and 
on the eighteenth (18th) day of each July, commencing July 18, 2017.   

2017 Installment Payments means the installment payments of interest and principal scheduled to 
be paid by the District under and pursuant to this Installment Purchase Agreement.   

Installment Purchase Agreement means this Installment Purchase Agreement dated  
January 18, 2017, between the District and the Corporation, as originally executed and as it may from time 
to time be amended or supplemented in accordance herewith.  

Manager means the General Manager of the District, or any other person designated by the General 
Manager to act on behalf of the General Manager. 

Net Proceeds means, when used with respect to any casualty insurance or condemnation award, the 
proceeds from such insurance or condemnation award remaining after payment of all expenses (including 
attorneys’ fees) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

Net Water Revenues means, for any Fiscal Year, the income, rents, rates, fees, charges, taxes and 
other moneys generated by the District, less operating and maintenance expenses.   

Operation and Maintenance Costs means all expenses and costs of management, operation, 
maintenance and repair of the Water System and all incidental costs, fees and expenses properly chargeable 
to the Water System (but excluding debt service or other similar payments on Parity Debt or other 
obligations and depreciation and obsolescence charges or reserves therefor and amortization of intangibles 
and inter-fund transfers or other bookkeeping entries of a similar nature). 

Parity Debt means the payments made pursuant to any other indebtedness or other obligations 
(including leases and installment sale agreements), currently outstanding or hereafter issued or incurred, 
which are payable from and secured by a pledge of and lien on Net Water Revenues equally and ratably 
with the 2017 Installment Payments.  

Purchase Price means the principal amount plus interest thereon owed by the District to the 
Corporation under the terms hereof as provided in Section 3.3. 

Resolution means the resolution adopted by the District’s Board of Directors on  
January 11, 2017, approving this Installment Purchase Agreement, approving the financing, and approving 
related documents. 

Water Revenues means all gross income and revenue received by the District from the ownership 
and operation of the Water System, including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, 

(1) all income, rents, rates, fees, charges or other moneys derived from the Water 
Service; 

(2) the earnings on and income derived from the investment of such income, rents, 
rates, fees, charges or other moneys to the extent that the use of such earnings and income is limited 
by or pursuant to the law to the Water System; and 



 

 A-7  
 

(3) the proceeds derived by the District directly or indirectly from the sale, lease or 
other disposition of a part of the Water System; and 

(4) but excluding customers' deposits or any other deposits subject to refund until such 
deposits have become the property of the District. 

 
Water Service means the water furnished, made available, or provided by the Water System. 

Water System means the whole and each and every part of the water supply, treatment, and delivery 
system owned and operated by the District, including all additions, betterments, extensions and 
improvements to the Water System or any part thereof hereafter acquired or constructed. 

Section 1.2. Benefits of Installment Purchase Agreement Limited to Parties.  Nothing contained 
herein, expressed or implied, is intended to give to any person other than the District or the Corporation 
any right, remedy or claim under or pursuant hereto, and any agreement or covenant required herein to be 
performed by or on behalf of the District or the Corporation shall be for the sole and exclusive benefit of 
the other Parties. 

Section 1.3. Successor Is Deemed Included in all References to Predecessor.  Whenever either 
the District or the Corporation is named or referred to herein, such reference shall be deemed to include the 
successor to the powers, duties and functions that are presently vested in the District or the Corporation, 
and all agreements and covenants required hereby to be performed by or on behalf of the District or the 
Corporation shall bind and inure to the benefit of the respective successors thereof whether so expressed or 
not. 

Section 1.4. Waiver of Personal Liability.  No director, officer or employee of the District shall 
be individually or personally liable for the payment of the 2017 Installment Payments, but nothing 
contained herein shall relieve any director, officer or employee of the District from the performance of any 
official duty provided by any applicable provisions of law or hereby. 

Section 1.5. Article and Section Headings, Gender and References.  The headings or titles of 
the several articles and sections hereof and the table of contents appended hereto shall be solely for 
convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction or effect hereof, and words of any 
gender shall be deemed and construed to include all genders.  All references herein to “Articles,” “Sections” 
and other subdivisions or clauses are to the corresponding articles, sections, subdivisions or clauses hereof; 
and the words “hereby,” “herein,” “hereof,” “hereto,” “herewith” and other words of similar import refer 
to the Installment Purchase Agreement as a whole and not to any particular article, section, subdivision or 
clause hereof. 

Section 1.6. Partial Invalidity.  If any one or more of the agreements or covenants or portions 
thereof required hereby to be performed by or on the part of the District or the Corporation shall be contrary 
to law, then such agreement or agreements, such covenant or covenants or such portions thereof shall be 
null and void and shall be deemed separable from the remaining agreements and covenants or portions 
thereof and shall in no way affect the validity hereof.  The District and the Corporation hereby declare that 
they would have executed this Installment Purchase Agreement, and each and every other article, section, 
paragraph, subdivision, sentence, clause and phrase hereof irrespective of the fact that any one or more 
articles, sections, paragraphs, subdivisions, sentences, clauses or phrases hereof or the application thereof 
to any person or circumstance may be held to be unconstitutional, unenforceable or invalid. 

Section 1.7. California Law.  This Installment Purchase Agreement shall be construed and 
governed in accordance with the laws of the State of California. 



 

 A-8  
 

Section 1.8. Notices.  All written notices to be given hereunder shall be given by mail to the 
Party entitled thereto at its address set forth below, or at such other address as such Party may provide to 
the other Party in writing from time to time, namely: 

If to the District: Palmdale Water District  
   2029 East Avenue Q 
   Palmdale, CA 93550 
   Attention:  General Manager 

If to the Corporation: Holman Capital Corporation  
25201 Paseo de Alicia, Suite 290 

   Laguna Hills, CA 92653 
Attention:  Lance S. Holman 
 

If to the Assignee: Signature Public Funding Corp 
   600 Washington Avenue, Suite 305 
   Towson, MD 21204   

Attention:  Donald Keough 
 
Section 1.9. Execution in Counterparts.  This Installment Purchase Agreement may be executed 

in several counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, and all of which shall constitute but one 
and the same instrument. 

ARTICLE II 
REPRESENTATIONS BY THE DISTRICT AND THE CORPORATION 

Section 2.1. Representations by the District.  The District makes the following representations: 

(a) The District is a duly organized and existing public utility district under and pursuant to 
the laws of the State of California, and is a political subdivision and body corporate and 
politic of the State of California;  

(b) The District has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this Installment Purchase 
Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder; 

(c) With the exception of the pledge of the Net Water Revenues hereunder and any pledge 
made with respect to Parity Debt, the Net Water Revenues have not otherwise been pledged 
and there are no other liens against the Net Water Revenues;  

(d) The District is not currently, and has not been at any time, in default under any long-term 
debt obligations;  

(e) The District’s audited financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2015, 
present fairly the financial condition of the District and the Water System as of the date 
thereof and the results of operation for the period covered thereby.  Except as has been 
disclosed to the Assignee, there has been no change in the financial condition of the District 
or the Water System since December 31, 2015, that will in the reasonable opinion of the 
District materially impair its ability to perform its obligations under this Installment 
Purchase Agreement.  All information provided by the District to the Assignee with respect 
to the financial performance of the Water System is accurate in all material respects as of 
its respective date and does not omit any information necessary to make the information 



 

 A-9  
 

provided not misleading.  However, Corporation and Assignee are advised that rates for 
public services, such as water and sewer service, are subject to certain legal restrictions in 
the State of California, including but not limited to Propositions 218 and 26 which require 
that majority protest and other procedures and limitations be followed. 

(f) As currently conducted, the District’s activities with respect to the Water System are in all 
material respects, to the District’s best knowledge, in compliance with all applicable laws, 
administrative regulations of the State and of the United States and any agency or 
instrumentality of either, and any judgment or decree to which the District is subject; and  

(g) By proper action, the District has duly authorized the execution, delivery and due 
performance of this Installment Purchase Agreement.  

Section 2.2. Representations by the Corporation.  The Corporation makes the following 
representations and warranties: 

(a) The Corporation is a corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the State 
of Delaware.  

(b) The Corporation has full legal right, power and authority to enter into this Installment 
Purchase Agreement and to carry out its obligations hereunder. 

(c) By proper action, the Corporation has duly authorized the execution, delivery and due 
performance of this Installment Purchase Agreement. 

ARTICLE III 
ACQUISITION OF THE 2017 PROJECT; PURCHASE OF THE 2017 PROJECT; 

2017 INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 3.1. Acquisition of the 2017 Project.  (a)  Funding.  To fund the acquisition of the 2017 
Project and associated financing costs, the Corporation hereby agrees to cause to be deposited or paid the 
following amounts: 

(a) Project Cost:  $823,000.00 deposited into the Escrow Fund for the acquisition costs 
associated with the 2017 Project, and 

(b) Costs of Issuance:  $7,000.00 deposited in the Escrow Fund to pay costs associated 
with the delivery of this Installment Purchase Agreement, and 

(b) Acquisition Process.  The Corporation hereby agrees to cause the 2017 Project to be acquired 
by the District as its agent.  The District shall enter into contracts and provide for, as agent for the 
Corporation, the complete acquisition of the 2017 Project.  The District hereby agrees that it will cause the 
acquisition of the 2017 Project to be diligently performed, and that it will use its best efforts to cause the 
acquisition of the 2017 Project to be completed within three years from the date of execution of this 
Installment Purchase Agreement, unforeseeable events or delays beyond the reasonable control of the 
District excepted.  It is hereby expressly understood and agreed that the Corporation shall be under no 
liability of any kind whatsoever for the payment of any cost of the 2017 Project and that all such costs and 
expenses shall be paid by the District, regardless of whether the amount deposited in the Escrow Fund is 
sufficient to pay all such costs and expenses associated with the 2017 Project. 



 

 A-10  
 

(c)  Changes to the 2017 Project.  The District may delete capital facilities that are portions of the 
2017 Project described in Exhibit A hereto and substitute other facilities therefor, provided that the 
following conditions are met: 

(i)  the District provides written notice to the Corporation of the capital facilities of the 
2017 Project to be deleted and substituted, which notice shall include a statement that the estimated 
cost of acquisition of any substituted capital facilities are not less than such costs for the capital 
facilities deleted; and 

(ii)  the District shall deliver an opinion of bond counsel at its sole cost and expense to the 
effect that the substitution will not adversely affect the exclusion by the recipients of the 2017 
Installment Payments of the interest portion thereof from gross income for federal income tax 
purposes. 

(d)  Title.  All right, title, and interest in each component of the 2017 Project shall vest in the District 
immediately upon acquisition or construction thereof.  Such vesting shall occur automatically without 
further action by the Corporation or the District, but the Corporation shall, if requested by the District or if 
necessary to assure vesting of title to each component of the 2017 Project in the District, deliver any 
documents required to assure vesting of title to each component of the 2017 Project in the District at the 
District’s sole cost and expense. 

Section 3.2.  Purchase of the 2017 Project.  The Corporation hereby transfers its interest in and title 
to the 2017 Project to the District, and the District hereby purchases the 2017 Project from the Corporation 
at the Purchase Price set forth in Section 3.3 (Purchase Price) herein. 

Section 3.3.  Purchase Price.  (a) Aggregate Purchase Price.  The Purchase Price to be paid by the 
District is the sum of the aggregate principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder plus the interest 
to accrue on the unpaid balance of such principal amount from the effective date hereof over the term 
hereof, subject to prepayment as provided in Article IV (Prepayment of 2017 Installment Payments) herein. 

(b) Principal Component.  The principal amount of the 2017 Installment Payments to be made by 
the District hereunder is Eight Hundred Thirty Thousand Dollars ($830,000.00), including the Seven 
Thousand Dollar ($7,000.00) cost of issuance deposit. 

(c) Interest Component.  The interest to accrue on the unpaid balance of such principal amount of 
2017 Installment Payments is set forth in Exhibit B hereto.  The interest components of the 2017 Installment 
Payments are paid as, and constitute, interest on the principal amount of the District’s obligations hereunder. 

Section 3.4.  2017 Installment Payments.  The District shall, subject to any rights of prepayment 
provided in Article IV (Prepayment of 2017 Installment Payments) herein, pay the Purchase Price in 2017 
Installment Payments, which comprise principal and interest components, in immediately available funds, 
on the dates and in the amounts set forth in Exhibit B. 

Each 2017 Installment Payment shall be paid to the Assignee, as assignee of the Corporation 
pursuant to the Assignment Agreement, in lawful money of the United States of America by check or wire 
transfer of immediately available funds.  If the District fails to make any of the payments required to be 
made by it under this section, such payment shall continue as an obligation of the District until such amount 
shall have been fully paid, and the District agrees to pay the same plus interest thereon at the Effective 
Interest Rate or, if applicable, Default Rate. 

Section 3.5.  Obligation to Pay.  (a)  Obligation Limited to Net Water Revenues.  Notwithstanding 
any other provisions contained herein, the obligation of the District to make the 2017 Installment Payments 
is a special obligation of the District payable solely from Net Water Revenues and does not constitute an 



 

 A-11  
 

unconstitutional or illegal debt of the District or any indebtedness of the State of California or of any 
political subdivision thereof within the meaning of any constitutional or statutory debt limitation or 
restriction. 

The District shall not be required to advance any moneys derived from any source of income other 
than the Net Water Revenues for the payment of the 2017 Installment Payments or for the performance of 
any agreements or covenants required to be performed by it contained herein.  The District may, however, 
advance moneys for any such purpose so long as such moneys are derived from a source legally available 
for such purpose and may be legally used by the District for such purpose. 

(b)  Obligation Otherwise Unconditional.  The obligation of the District to make the 2017 
Installment Payments from the Net Water Revenues is absolute and unconditional; and, until such time as 
the Purchase Price shall have been paid in full (or provision for the payment thereof shall have been made 
pursuant to Article 5 (Discharge of Obligations) herein), the District will not abate, discontinue, or suspend 
any 2017 Installment Payments required to be made by it under this Installment Purchase Agreement when 
due, whether or not the 2017 Project or any part thereof is operating or operable or has been completed, or 
its use is suspended, interfered with, reduced or curtailed or terminated in whole or in part, whether by 
reason of material damage to, material destruction of, taking under the power of eminent domain (or sale 
to any entity threatening the use of such power), material title defect, or other reason.  The 2017 Installment 
Payments shall not be subject to reduction whether by offset or otherwise and shall not be conditional upon 
the performance or nonperformance by any party of any agreement for any cause whatsoever. 

Section 3.6.  Net Contract.  The Installment Purchase Agreement shall be deemed and construed to 
be a net contract, and the District shall pay absolutely during the term hereof the 2017 Installment Payments 
and all other payments required hereunder, free of any deductions and without any abatement, diminution, 
counterclaims, or set-off whatsoever. 

Section 3.7.  Late Payments.  Whenever any rental payment or other amount payable to Corporation 
by District hereunder is not paid within ten (10) days after such due date, District agrees to pay Corporation 
a late charge on the delinquent amount at the “Default Rate,” which is one percent (1%) per month, or the 
maximum amount permitted under applicable law, whichever is less.  Such amount(s) shall be payable 
solely from legally available funds in addition to all amounts payable by District as a result of the exercise 
of any of the remedies herein provided. 

ARTICLE IV 
 

PREPAYMENT OF 2017 INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

Section 4.1. Prepayment.  (a)  The District may or shall, as the case may be, prepay principal 
components of the unpaid 2017 Installment Payments as a whole or in part (such that the remaining 2017 
Installment Payments after such partial prepayment are substantially equal) on any date from Net Proceeds 
as provided herein at a prepayment price equal to the sum of 103% of the principal components prepaid 
plus accrued interest thereon to the date of prepayment. 

(b)  Optional Prepayment.  On any Installment Payment Date on or after July 18, 2017, the District 
may prepay its obligations hereunder in whole, but not in part, by paying to the Corporation the 2017 
Installment Payment due on such date together with the amount shown as the “Purchase Option Price” for 
such date on Exhibit B, plus the amount of any 2017 Installment Payments then in default, together with 
all past due amounts, additional interest, and late charges (if any). 



 

 A-12  
 

Section 4.2. Notice of Prepayment.  Before making any prepayment pursuant to Article 4 
(Prepayment of 2017 Installment Payments) herein, the District shall give written notice to the Corporation 
not less than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the date of prepayment, or such shorter time as is consented 
to by the Corporation. 

ARTICLE V 
DISCHARGE OF OBLIGATIONS 

Section 5.1. Discharge of Obligations.  (a) Payment of All 2017 Installment Payments.  If the 
District shall pay or cause to be paid all the 2017 Installment Payments at the times and in the manner provided 
herein and also pay or cause to be paid all other sums payable hereunder by the District, then the right, title, 
and interest of the Corporation herein shall cease, terminate, become void, and be completely discharged and 
satisfied.  Notwithstanding the satisfaction and discharge of this Installment Purchase Agreement, the 
covenants of the District to preserve the exclusion of the interest component of the 2017 Installment Payments 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes contained in Section 7.10 (Tax Covenant) shall survive. 

(b) Prepayment Escrow.  All or any portion of unpaid 2017 Installment Payments shall, prior to 
their scheduled payment dates, be deemed to have been paid within the meaning and with the effect 
expressed in subsection (a) of this Section 5.1 (except that the District shall remain liable for the 2017 
Installment Payments, but only out of the money or securities deposited as described below for their payment), 
if there shall have been irrevocably deposited with an escrow agent or other fiduciary sufficient moneys 
and securities guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the United States the principal of and interest on 
which when due will provide money sufficient to pay such 2017 Installment Payments when due or prepay 
such 2017 Installment Payments in accordance with Section 4.1(b) (Optional Prepayment) herein. 

ARTICLE VI 
SECURITY 

Section 6.1. Pledge of Net Water Revenues & Lien on Escrow Fund.  The District hereby 
irrevocably pledges and covenants to make available sufficient amounts of the Net Water Revenues to the 
payment of the 2017 Installment Payments.  This pledge of Net Water Revenues shall constitute a first 
priority lien on and pledge of the Net Water Revenues for the payment of the 2017 Installment Payments 
and any Parity Debt.  Additionally, the District hereby irrevocably grants to Corporation a first priority and 
perfected lien and security interest in not only the 2017 Project and the 2017 Project Proceeds in the Escrow 
Fund. The Distict hereby authorizes the Assignee to prepare and file such UCC financing statements and 
other such documents to perfect, establish and maintain the valid first priority lien and perfected security 
interest granted herein. 

Section 6.2. Additional Debt.  (a) No Superior Obligations.  The District does not currently 
have and shall not issue or incur any additional or future obligations secured by a pledge of Water Revenues 
or Net Water Revenues that is superior to the Parity Debt and pledge securing the 2017 Installment 
Payments, without the prior written consent of the Corporation and Assignee. 

(b)  Additional Parity Debt.  The District shall not incur additional Parity Debt unless: 

(1) the District is not in default under the terms of this Installment Purchase Agreement, 
and 

(2) the Net Water Revenues for the latest Fiscal Year or any more recent 12-month period 
selected by the District ending not more than 60 days prior to the adoption of the resolution 
approving the instrument pursuant to which such proposed Parity Debt is to be issued or incurred, 



 

 A-13  
 

plus, at the option of the District, the additional allowance described below, shall have amounted 
to at least 1.25 times the sum of the amount of the 2017 Installment Payments becoming due and 
payable in the current or future Fiscal Year in which that amount is at its maximum and the 
maximum annual debt service on all Parity Debt outstanding immediately subsequent to the 
incurring of such additional obligations, as evidenced by a calculation prepared by a qualified 
Accounting firm that is reasonably acceptable to the Corporation, the Assignee or any successors 
and/or assigns thereof. 

Subject to the prior written consent of the Corporation, which shall not be unreasonably withheld 
or delayed, either or both of the following items may be added to Net Water Revenues by the District for 
the purpose of applying the restriction in Subsection (b)(2) above: 

(1) An allowance for revenues from any additions to or improvements or extensions of the 
Water System to be constructed with the proceeds of such additional obligations, and also for net 
revenues from any such additions, improvements or extensions, but that, during all or any part of 
such Fiscal Year, were not in service, all in an amount equal to 100% of the estimated additional 
average annual Net Water Revenues to be derived from such additions, improvements and 
extensions for the first 36-month period following closing of the proposed Parity Debt, all as shown 
by the certificate or opinion of a qualified independent consultant employed by the District and 
reasonably acceptable to the Corporation, the Assignee or any successors and/or assigns thereof; 
and/or  

(2) An allowance for earnings arising from any increase in the charges made for service 
from the Water System that has become effective prior to the incurring of such additional 
obligations but that, during all or any part of such Fiscal Year, was not in effect, in an amount equal 
to 100% of the amount by which the Net Water Revenues would have been increased if such 
increase in charges had been in effect during the whole of such Fiscal Year and any period prior to 
the incurring of such additional obligations, as shown by the certificate or opinion of an 
Independent Engineer that is reasonably acceptable to the Corporation, the Assignee or any 
successors and/or assigns thereof. 

(c)  Refundings.  The District may incur obligations secured by the Net Water Revenues to 
discharge or defease any Parity Debt, if the District either meets the requirements of subsection (b) above 
or an Accountant’s Report is filed with the Corporation, the Assignee or any successors and/or assigns 
thereof to the effect that the Debt Service for each future Fiscal Year following such discharge or defeasance 
shall be less than or equal to the Debt Service for that Fiscal Year if such discharge or defeasance did not 
occur. 

(d)  Subordinate Obligations.  The District may incur obligations secured by the Net Water 
Revenues on a junior or subordinate basis, if the District meets the requirements of subsection (b) above 
but reducing the coverage ratio required therein from 1.25 to 1.00.  

ARTICLE VII 
COVENANTS OF THE DISTRICT 

Section 7.1. Compliance with Installment Purchase Agreement and Resolution.  The District 
will punctually pay the 2017 Installment Payments in strict conformity with the terms hereof, and will 
faithfully observe and perform all the agreements, conditions, covenants and terms contained herein 
required to be observed and performed by it, and will not terminate the Installment Purchase Agreement 
for any cause.  The District will faithfully observe and perform all the agreements, conditions, covenants 
and terms contained in the Resolution resolved therein to be observed and performed by it. 



 

 A-14  
 

Section 7.2. Compliance with Law and Contracts; Preservation of Rights.  The District will 
faithfully comply with, keep, observe, and perform all valid and lawful obligations or regulations now or 
hereafter imposed on its operation of the Water System by contract, or prescribed by any law of the United 
States of America or of the State of California, or by any officer, board, or commission having jurisdiction 
or control, as a condition of the continued enjoyment of each and every franchise, right, or privilege now 
owned or hereafter acquired by it, including its right to exist and carry on its business, to the end that such 
franchises, rights, and privileges shall be maintained and preserved and shall not become abandoned, 
forfeited, or in any manner impaired. 

Section 7.3. Against Sale or Other Disposition of Property.  The District will not sell, lease, 
encumber, or otherwise dispose of the Water System, the 2017 Project, or any part thereof, or interest 
therein essential to the proper operation of the Water System or to the maintenance of the Water Revenues.  
The District will not enter into any agreement or lease that impairs the operation of the Water System or 
any part thereof necessary to secure adequate Water Revenues for the payment of the 2017 Installment 
Payments or that would otherwise impair the rights of the Corporation with respect to the Water Revenues 
or the operation of the Water System.  The District may sell or otherwise dispose of any real or personal 
property that has become nonoperative or that is not needed for the efficient and proper operation of the 
Water System or any material or equipment that has become worn out. 

Section 7.4. Operation and Maintenance of the Water System.  The District will maintain and 
preserve the Water System in good repair and working order at all times and will operate the Water System 
in an efficient and economical manner and will pay all Operation and Maintenance Costs of the Water 
System as they become due and payable.  The District will not suspend operations of Water System so long 
as any 2017 Installment Payments or any other payment or performance obligations hereunder remain 
outstanding.   

Section 7.5. Payment of Claims.  The District will pay and discharge any and all lawful claims 
for labor, materials or supplies that, if unpaid, might become a lien on the Water Revenues or any part 
thereof or on any funds in the hands of the District prior or superior to the lien of the 2017 Installment 
Payments or that might impair the security of the 2017 Installment Payments. 

Section 7.6. Insurance; Application of Net Proceeds. 

(a)  Casualty and Liability Insurance.  The District will procure and maintain or cause to be procured 
and maintained property and casualty as well as liability insurance on the Water System with responsible 
insurers in such amounts and against such risks (including accident to or destruction of the Water System) 
as are usually covered in connection with water systems similar to the Water System so long as such 
insurance is available from reputable insurance companies.  In the event of any damage to or destruction of 
the Water System caused by the perils covered by such insurance, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied 
to the reconstruction, repair, or replacement of the damaged or destroyed portion of the Water System.  The 
District shall begin such reconstruction, repair, or replacement promptly after such damage or destruction 
shall occur; shall continue and properly complete such reconstruction, repair, or replacement as 
expeditiously as possible; and shall pay out of such Net Proceeds all costs and expenses in connection with 
such reconstruction, repair, or replacement so that the same shall be completed and the Water System shall 
be free and clear of all claims and liens.  If such Net Proceeds exceed the costs of such reconstruction, 
repair, or replacement, then the excess Net Proceeds may be applied in part to the prepayment of 2017 
Installment Payments as provided in Article 4 (Prepayment of 2017 Installment Payments) and in part to 
such other fund or account as may be appropriate and used for the retirement of Parity Debt.  If such Net 
Proceeds are sufficient to enable the District to retire the entire obligation evidenced hereby prior to the 
final due date of the 2017 Installment Payments as well as the entire obligations evidenced by Parity Debt 
Contracts then remaining unpaid prior to their final respective due dates, the District may elect not to 



 

 A-15  
 

reconstruct, repair, or replace the damaged or destroyed portion of the Water System, and thereupon such 
Net Proceeds shall be applied to the prepayment of 2017 Installment Payments as provided in Article 4 
(Prepayment of 2017 Installment Payments) and to the retirement of such Parity Debt. 

(b) Other Insurance.  The District will procure and maintain such other insurance that it deems 
advisable or necessary to protect its interests and the interests of the Corporation, which insurance shall 
afford protection in such amounts and against such risks as are usually covered in connection with Water 
systems similar to the Water System.  

(c) Self-Insurance.  Subject to the prior approval of the Corporation, the Assignee or any successors 
and/or assigns thereof (which shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed), any insurance required to be 
maintained pursuant to paragraph (a) above and any insurance maintained pursuant to paragraph (b) above 
will be maintained under a self-insurance or pooled risk program so long as such self-insurance or pooled 
risk program is maintained in an actuarily sound manner and in such amounts and commercially prudent 
manner usually maintained in connection with water systems similar to the Water System.  For avoidance 
of doubt, the Corporation and Assignee have agreed that the California Joint Powers Insurance Authority 
is an acceptable program of insurance. 

(d) Insurance Requirements.  Each insurance policy shall, at a minimum, name Assignee and/or its 
assigns as an additional insured party (with respect to liability coverage) and loss payee (with respect to 
property and casualty coverage which shall not be less than the Purchase Option Price or 103% of the then 
outstanding principal balance) regardless of any breach of warranty or other act or omission of District and 
shall include a lender’s loss payable endorsement for the benefit of Assignee and/or its successors and/or 
assigns.  All policies of insurance required to be maintained herein shall provide that the Assignee shall be 
given thirty (30) days’ written notice of any intended cancellation thereof or reduction of coverage provided 
thereby. Commensurate with the delivery, installation and completion of the 2017 Project or portion thereof, 
the District shall deposit with Assignee evidence of such insurance and, prior to the expiration thereof, shall 
provide Assignee evidence of all renewals or replacements thereof. 

Section 7.7. Eminent Domain Proceeds.  If all or any part of the Water System shall be taken 
by eminent domain proceedings, the Net Proceeds thereof shall be applied as follows: 

(a) If (1) the District obtains and files with the Corporation an Engineer’s Report or 
Accountant’s Report showing (i) the estimated loss of annual Net Water Revenues, if any, suffered 
or to be suffered by the District by reason of such eminent domain proceedings, (ii) a general 
description of the additions, betterments, extensions, or improvements to the Water System 
proposed to be acquired and constructed by the District from such Net Proceeds, and (iii) an 
estimate of the additional annual Net Water Revenues to be derived from such additions, 
betterments, extensions, or improvements, and (2) the District, on the basis of such Engineer’s 
Report or Accountant’s Report filed with the District, determines that the estimated additional 
annual Net Water Revenues will sufficiently offset the estimated loss of annual Net Water 
Revenues resulting from such eminent domain proceedings so that the ability of the District to meet 
its obligations hereunder will not be substantially impaired (which determination shall be final and 
conclusive) then the District shall promptly proceed with the acquisition and construction of such 
additions, betterments, extensions, or improvements substantially in accordance with such 
Engineer’s Report or Accountant’s Report and such Net Proceeds shall be applied for the payment 
of the costs of such acquisition and construction, and any balance of such Net Proceeds not required 
by the District for such purpose shall be deposited in the District’s water enterprise fund. 

(b) If (1) the District obtains and files with the Authority an Engineer’s Report or 
Accountant’s Report containing an estimate of annual Net Water Revenues after the taking by 



 

 A-16  
 

eminent domain and (2) the District, on the basis of such Engineer’s Report or Accountant’s Report, 
determines that Net Water Revenues will equal at least one hundred twenty-five per cent (125%) 
of the 2017 Installment Payments and debt service on all Parity Debt outstanding for each Fiscal 
Year in which 2017 Installment Payments are due, then the District may use such Net Proceeds for 
any lawful purpose. 

(c) If the conditions of neither of the foregoing subsections are met, then such Net Proceeds 
shall be applied in part to the prepayment of 2017 Installment Payments as provided in Article IV 
(Prepayment of 2017 Installment Payments) and in part to such other fund or account as may be 
appropriate and used for the retirement of Parity Debt in the same proportion as the aggregate 
unpaid principal balance of 2017 Installment Payments then bears to the aggregate unpaid principal 
amount of such Parity Debt.  For avoidance of doubt, any prepayment triggered under this Section 
7.7 may be in whole or in part, with partial prepayments being made in the pro rata portion of the 
Purchase Option Price. 

Section 7.8. Rates, Fees and Charges. 

(a)  The District covenants that it shall prescribe, revise and collect such charges for the Water 
Service that, after allowances for contingencies and error in the estimates, shall produce Water Revenues 
sufficient in each Fiscal Year to provide Net Water Revenues equal to at least 125% of the sum of (1) the 
2017 Installment Payments becoming due and payable in such Fiscal Year, and (2) all debt service and any 
additional payments required with respect to Parity Debt for such Fiscal Year. 

(b)  The District will have in effect, at all times, rules and regulations requiring each customer 
located on any premises connected with the Water System to pay the rates, fees and charges applicable to 
the Water Service to such premises and providing for the billing thereof and for a due date and a delinquency 
date for each bill.  The District will not permit any part of the Water System or any facility thereof to be 
used or taken advantage of free of charge by any corporation, firm or person, or by any public agency 
(including the United States of America, the State of California and any city, county, district, political 
subdivision, public corporation or agency of any thereof); provided, that the District may without charge 
use the Water Service. 

(c)  The District covenants and agrees to raise water rates (subject to the legal restrictions and 
requirements incumbent thereon) and take other legally available steps necessary to not only cover 
operating expenses, capital expenditures, and maintenance expenses, but also to faithfully and punctually 
pay and perform all of its obligations under this Installment Purchase Agreement, including, without 
limitation, meeting all debt service, rate and other financial covenants contained herein. 

Section 7.9. Protection of Security and Rights of the Corporation.  The District will preserve 
and protect the security hereof and the rights of the Corporation to the 2017 Installment Payments hereunder 
and will warrant and defend such rights against all claims and demands of all persons. 

Section 7.10. Tax Covenant.  The District shall at all times do and perform all acts and things 
permitted by law (and not permit any omissions required under applicable laws) that are necessary and 
desirable in order to assure that interest paid with respect to the 2017 Installment Payments will be excluded 
from gross income for federal income tax purposes and shall take no action that would result in such interest 
not being so excluded.  District agrees to (a) execute and deliver to Corporation, upon Corporation’s request, 
a tax certificate and agreement in form and content acceptable to Corporation and District, relating to the 
establishment and maintenance of the excludability from gross income of the interest component of the 
installment payments hereunder for federal income tax purposes; (b) complete and file in a timely manner 
an information reporting return as required by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (as from time to time 



 

 A-17  
 

amended, the “Code”); and (c) make any arbitrage, yield, or rebate payments (if applicable) to the federal 
government if required by, and in accordance with, Section 148(f) of the Code , and make the 
determinations and maintain the records required by the Code.  For avoidance of doubt, the covenants, 
representations and warranties of the District in the Tax and Arbitrage Certificate related hereto are 
incorporated by reference herein. 

The District represents that it does not have on hand any property, including cash and securities, 
that is legally required or otherwise restricted (no matter where held or the source thereof) to be used directly 
or indirectly to purchase the 2017 Project.  The District has not and will not establish any funds or accounts 
(no matter where held or the source thereof) the use of which is legally required or otherwise restricted to 
pay directly or indirectly 2017 Installment Payments hereunder.  The District further certifies that, so long 
as any installment payments hereunder remain unpaid, moneys on deposit in the Escrow Fund will not be 
used in a manner that will cause this Installment Purchase Agreement to be classified as an “arbitrage bond” 
within the meaning of Section 148(a) of the Code. 

Should the interest or other income attributable to the 2017 Installment Payments be included in 
the gross income of the Corporation, its Assignee, or any subsequent assignee hereunder, the District agrees 
to pay promptly after any such determination of taxability and on each rental payment date thereafter to 
Corporation, its Assignee, or any assignee thereof an additional amount determined by Corporation, its 
Assignee, or any assignee thereof to compensate such owner or owners for the loss of such excludability 
(including without limitation, compensation relating to interest expense, penalties or additions to tax), 
which determination shall be conclusive (absent manifest error).  The covenants and agreements in this 
Section 7.10 will survive the payment in full of the 2017 Installment Payments. 

Section 7.11. Indemnification of the Corporation.  The District shall, to the full extent then 
permitted by law, indemnify, protect, hold harmless, save, and keep harmless the Corporation, the Assignee, 
and their respective directors, officers, and employees from and against any and all liability, obligations, 
losses, claims, and damages whatsoever, and expenses in connection therewith, including, without 
limitation, counsel fees and expenses, penalties and interest, arising out of or as the result of the actions or 
omissions of District related to entering into of this Installment Purchase Agreement or any other agreement 
entered into in connection herewith or therewith, the design or ownership of the 2017 Project, the ordering, 
acquisition, use, operation, condition, purchase, delivery, rejection, storage, or return of any part of the 
2017 Project, or any accident in connection with the operation, use, condition, possession, storage, or return 
of any item of the 2017 Project resulting in damage to property or injury to or death to any person including, 
without limitation, any claim alleging latent and other defects, whether or not discoverable by the District 
or the Corporation; any claim for patent, trademark, or copyright infringement; and any claim arising out 
of strict liability in tort.  Notwithstanding the forgoing, this indemnification and hold harmless shall not 
include any liability arising out of or resulting from the gross negligence, willful misconduct, or fraudulent 
or bad faith acts of the Corporation, the Assignee, or their respective directors, officers, employees, or 
agents.  The indemnification arising under this section shall continue in full force and effect notwithstanding 
the full payment of all obligations under this Installment Purchase Agreement or the termination of the term 
of this Installment Purchase Agreement for any reason.  The District, the Assignee and the Corporation 
mutually agree to promptly give notice to each other of any claim against or liability hereby indemnified 
hereunder following actual notice thereof. 

Section 7.12. Additional Information.  The District agrees to furnish to the Assignee (i) the 
audited financial statements of the District within six (6) months of the end of the Fiscal Year, or as soon 
as practicable thereafter, together with a certificate that the District is in compliance with the covenants 
contained herein, and (ii) promptly, from time to time, but no more than one (1) time per quarter, such 
information regarding the operations, financial condition and property of the District and the Water System 
as the Assignee may reasonably request.  Any audited financial statements furnished to the Assignee shall 



 

 A-18  
 

be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently applied, and shall 
fairly present the District’s financial condition as of the date of the statements.  

Section 7.13. Further Assurances.  The District will adopt, deliver, execute and make any and all 
further assurances, instruments and resolutions as may be reasonably necessary or proper to carry out the 
intention or to facilitate the performance hereof and for the better assuring and confirming unto the 
Corporation of the rights and benefits provided to it herein. 

Section 7.14. Opinion of District’s Attorney.  The District will cause to be delivered an opinion 
of the District’s Attorney dated the Funding Date and addressed to the Corporation and the Assignee in 
substantially for the form attached hereto as Tab E. 

 

ARTICLE VIII 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES OF THE CORPORATION 

Section 8.1. Events of Default and Remedies.  (a) Events of Default.  The following shall be 
Events of Default hereunder: 

 (1) Failure by the District to pay any 2017 Installment Payment or debt service on any 
Parity Debt at the time specified herein.  

 (2) Failure by the District to observe and perform any covenant, condition or 
agreement on its part contained herein or in agreement or instrument pursuant to which Parity Debt is 
issued, other than in clause (1) of this subsection, for a period of thirty (30) days after written notice 
specifying such failure and requesting that it be remedied has been given to the District by the 
Corporation; provided, however, that the Corporation and the District may agree that action by the 
District to cure such failure may be extended beyond such thirty-day period. 

(3) Any violation of any applicable rule, regulation, law, statute or ordinance 
applicable to the District or the Water System or the Parity Debt that could lead to a breach under 
subsections (1) and/or (2) and that are not cured in accordance with subsections (1) and/or (2). 

(4) The filing of a petition in bankruptcy by or against District, or failure by the District 
to promptly to lift any execution, garnishment or attachment of such consequence as would impair 
the ability of District to carry on its functions or assignment by District for the benefit of creditors, 
or the entry by District into an agreement of composition with creditors, or the approval by a court 
of competent jurisdiction of any adjustment of indebtedness of District, or the dissolution or 
liquidation of District. 

(b)  Remedies on Default.  Whenever any Event of Default shall have happened and be continuing, 
the Corporation shall have the right, at its option and with or without terminating this 2017 Installment 
Agreement, to: 

 (1) declare the entire principal amount of the unpaid 2017 Installment Payments and 
the accrued interest thereon to be accelerated and immediately due and payable, whereupon the 
same shall immediately become due and payable; and/or 



 

 A-19  
 

 (2) for the account of the District, incur and pay reasonable expenses for repair, 
maintenance, and operation of the Water System and such other reasonable expenses as may be 
necessary to cure the cause of default; and/or 

(3)  repossess any or all of the 2017 Project by giving the District written notice and 
instructions to deliver the 2017 Project (or any portion thereof) to the Corporation or to discontinue 
use of and purge any portion thereof which cannot be physically redelivered; or in the event the 
District fails to do so within ten (10) days after receipt of such notice, the Corporation may enter 
upon District’s premises where the 2017 Project is kept and take possession of such 2017 Project 
and purge any portions that cannot be redelivered and charge Lessee for all actual and reasonable 
accrued costs incurred, including reasonable attorneys’ fees.  The District hereby expressly waives 
any damages occasioned by such repossession except those resulting from Corporation’s gross 
negligence or willful misconduct.  If the 2017 Project or any portion has been destroyed or cannot 
be purged or redelivered, the District shall pay the applicable Purchase Option Price of such portion 
of the 2017 Project as set forth in Exhibit B, but solely from Net Revenues or other legally available 
or other funds designated for such purposes. (e.g. insurance proceeds, warranty payments, self-
insurance, reserve or sinking funds, etc.).   

(4) take all actions and pursue all other rights and remedies that Corporation may have, 
at law or in equity, including, without limitation, seeking a mandamus, requesting specific 
performance, or taking action to enjoin the District from taking any action not permitted or 
contradictory to the express terms, conditions and requirements hereunder. 

Section 8.2. Application of Funds Upon Acceleration or Exercise.  Upon the date of the 
declaration of a default as provided in Section 8.1, all Water Revenues thereafter received by the District 
shall be applied in the following order: 

First, to the payment, without preference or priority, and in the event of any insufficiency 
of such Water Revenues ratably without any discrimination or preference, of the fees, costs and 
expenses of the Corporation if any, in carrying out the provisions of this article, including 
reasonable compensation to their respective accountants and counsel; 

Second, to the payment of the Operation and Maintenance Costs; and 

Third, to the payment of the the applicable Purchase Option Price and the unpaid principal 
amount of any other obligations secured by the Net Water Revenues and the accrued interest 
thereon, with interest on the overdue installments at the Default Rate or other rates of interest 
applicable to the 2017 Installment Payments and such other obligations. 

Section 8.3. Other Remedies of the Corporation.  The Corporation shall have the right: 

(a) by mandamus or other action or proceeding or suit at law or in equity to enforce 
its rights against the District, and to compel the District to carry out its duties under the agreements 
and covenants required to be performed by it contained herein; 

(b) by suit in equity to enjoin any acts or things that are unlawful or violate the rights 
of the Corporation; or 

(c) by suit in equity upon the happening of an Event of Default to require the District 
and its board members, officers and employees to account as the trustee of an express trust. 



 

 A-20  
 

Section 8.4. Non-Waiver.  Nothing in this article or in any other provision hereof shall affect 
or impair the obligation of the District, which is absolute and unconditional, to pay the 2017 Installment 
Payments to the Corporation at the respective due dates or upon prepayment, or shall affect or impair the 
right of the Corporation, which is also absolute and unconditional, to institute suit to enforce such payment 
by virtue of the contract embodied herein. 

A waiver of any default or breach of duty or contract by the Corporation shall not affect any 
subsequent default or breach of duty or contract or impair any rights or remedies on any such subsequent 
default or breach of duty or contract.  No delay or omission by the Corporation to exercise any right or 
remedy accruing upon any default or breach of duty or contract shall impair any such right or remedy or 
shall be construed to be a waiver of any such default or breach of duty or contract or an acquiescence 
therein, and every right or remedy conferred upon the Corporation by the Law or by this article may be 
enforced and exercised from time to time and as often as shall be deemed expedient by the Corporation. 

If any action, proceeding or suit to enforce any right or exercise any remedy is abandoned or 
determined adversely to the Corporation, the District and the Corporation shall be restored to their former 
positions, rights and remedies as if such action, proceeding or suit had not been brought or taken. 

Section 8.5. Remedies Not Exclusive.  No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved to the 
Corporation is intended to be exclusive of any other remedy, and each such remedy shall be cumulative and 
shall be in addition to every other remedy given hereunder or now or hereafter existing in law or in equity 
or by statute or otherwise and may be exercised without exhausting and without regard to any other remedy 
conferred by the law. 

ARTICLE IX 
ASSIGNMENT; AMENDMENTS 

Section 9.1. Assignment. 

(a)  The District hereby consents to the assignment by the Corporation of its rights under this 
Installment Purchase Agreement to the Assignee, which rights are evidenced by the Assignment 
Agreement.  The District will not assign its duties and obligations under this Installment Purchase 
Agreement without the prior written consent of the Corporation, the Assignee, or any permitted assignee 
thereof, and such assignment by the District will be subject to the holder’s then existing credit underwriting 
criteria and require an opinion from a nationally recognized tax or bond counsel that such transfer or 
assignment will not cause the interest paid with respect to the 2017 Installment Payments to be included in 
the gross income calculations of the Corporation, Assignee, or any assignee thereof for federal income tax 
purposes. 

(b) The Assignee may further assign its right, title and interest in this Installment Purchase 
Agreement, the 2017 Installment Payments and other amounts due hereunder in whole to one or more 
assignees or subassignees at any time, without the consent of the District.  Upon such assignment the 
assignee of such assignment shall be entitled to all rights of the Assignee set forth herein and shall be 
entitled to all notices required to be sent to the Assignee pursuant to this Installment Purchase Agreement.  
The District shall cooperate with the Assignee either now or hereafter by acknowledging any agreement 
relating thereto which in no way will alter or affect the terms and conditions of this Installment Purchase 
Agreement and the assignment of this Installment Purchase Agreement by the Assignee.  No such 
assignment shall be effective as against the District unless and until the entity or person making the 
assignment shall have filed with the District written notice thereof.  During the term of this Installment 
Purchase Agreement, the District shall keep a record of all such notices of assignment and shall make 



 

 A-21  
 

payments to the assignee.  Subject always to the foregoing, this Installment Purchase Agreement inures to 
the benefit of, and is binding upon the successors and assigns of the Parties hereto.  

Section 9.2. Amendments Permitted. 

(a) This Installment Purchase Agreement and the rights and obligations of the Corporation and the 
District and of the Assignee may be modified or amended at any time but only with the written consent of 
the District and Assignee.  No such modification or amendment shall (1) extend the payment dates for the 
2017 Installment Payments or reduce the amounts thereof without the consent of the District and the 
Assignee, or (2) modify any of the rights or obligations of the Corporation or the Assignee (as applicable) 
without its written consent thereto. 

(b) This Installment Purchase Agreement and the rights and obligations of the Corporation and 
the District and of the Assignee may also be modified or amended at any time, with the consent of the 
Assignee and the District, but only to the extent permitted by law and only for any one or more of the 
following purposes: 

(1) to add to the covenants and agreements of the Corporation or the District contained 
in this Installment Purchase Agreement other covenants and agreements thereafter to be observed 
or to surrender any right or power herein reserved to or conferred upon the Corporation or the 
District, and that shall not adversely affect the interests of the Assignee; 

(2) to cure, correct or supplement any ambiguous or defective provision contained in 
this Installment Purchase Agreement or in regard to questions arising under this Installment 
Purchase Agreement, as the Corporation or the District may deem necessary or desirable and that 
shall not adversely affect the interests of the Assignee; and 

(3) to make such other amendments or modifications as may be in the best interests of 
the Assignee. 

 

 

[Signature Page Follows] 



 

A-22 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Installment Purchase Agreement 
by their officers thereunto duly authorized as of the day and year first written above. 

 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT  HOLMAN CAPITAL CORPORATION 

 
By:        By:       
Name:   Dennis LaMoreaux    Name:  Lance Holman    
Title:   General Manager    Title:  President & CEO   
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Signature Page to Installment Purchase Agreement] 

 

  



 

 A-23  
 

EXHIBIT A 

DESCRIPTION OF THE 2017 PROJECT 

The District would like to upgrade its existing software, hardware and security system. The new software 
will enable the District to improve customer billing, track water quality records and meet future growth. 
The project will also increase the District’s data storage capacity and its security system at the water 
treatment facility. Additionally, the District will be purchasing a self-service payment kiosk and an 
Interactive Voice Response system that will eliminate the need for human interactions for payment. A more 
detailed breakdown is as follows: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Description Vendor Total Cost % of Total

Customer Information System TruePoint Solutions 425,000.00$      51.64%

Laboratory Information Management System Promium LLC 48,000.00$        5.83%

Security Enhancement System Siemens 215,000.00$      26.12%

Data Storage Upgrade Tredent Data Systems 98,000.00$        11.91%

Interactive Voice Recognition  Palitto Consulting Services 16,000.00$        1.94%

Payment Kiosk AdComp Systems Group 21,000.00$        2.55%

Total Project Cost 823,000.00$      100.00%

Holman Capital Documentation Fee 7,000.00$           0.85%

Net Financing Amount 830,000.00$      100.85%



 

 A-24  
 

EXHIBIT B 

2017 INSTALLMENT PAYMENTS 

 
2017 

Installment 
Payment No. 

2017 
Installment 

Payment Date 

2017 
Installment 

Payment 

Amount 
Attributable 
to Interest 

Amount 
Attributable 
to Principal 

Purchase 
Option Price 

0 01/18/2017  
1 07/18/2017  $  89,476.70  $ 11,537.00  $77,939.70   $774,622.11 
2 01/18/2018  $  89,476.70  $ 10,453.64  $79,023.06   $693,228.36 
3 07/18/2018  $  89,476.70  $   9,355.22  $80,121.48   $610,703.23 
4 01/18/2019  $  89,476.70  $   8,241.53  $81,235.17   $527,031.01 
5 07/18/2019  $  89,476.70  $   7,112.36  $82,364.34   $442,195.74 
6 01/18/2020  $  89,476.70  $   5,967.50  $83,509.20   $356,181.26 
7 07/18/2020  $  89,476.70  $   4,806.72  $84,669.98   $268,971.18 
8 01/18/2021  $  89,476.70  $   3,629.81  $85,846.89   $180,548.89 
9 07/18/2021  $  89,476.70  $   2,436.53  $87,040.17   $90,897.51 

10 01/18/2022  $  89,476.70  $   1,226.69  $88,250.01   $-  

Grand Totals   $ 894,767.00  $  64,767.00  $ 830,000.00  
 

Effective Interest Rate:  2.78% 



 

B-1 
 

TAB B:  
________________________________________________________________________ 

Form of Resolution Provided by District, Bond Counsel or Holman. 



 

C-1 
 

 
TAB C: 
________________________________________________________________________ 

 
GENERAL CERTIFICATE 

 
2017 Installment Purchase Agreement Financing the 

Technology Replacement Project 
in the 

Aggregate Principal Amount of $830,000.00  
 

The undersigned is the General Manager of the Palmdale Water District (the “Issuer”), certifies as 
follows: 
 

I 
 

 I am the duly appointed General Manager and as such am familiar with its books and corporate 
records.   
 

II 
 

 The District is a duly created and validly existing public utility district, which constitutes a political 
subdivision of the State of California vested with the rights and powers conferred upon public utility 
districts by the laws of California. 
 

III 
 
 A duly noticed meeting of the Board was duly called and held on January 11, 2017.  At such 
meeting, the Board held a public hearing, duly noticed, for the issuance of certain indebtedness.  Attached 
hereto as Exhibit A is a certificate of the public hearing notice, with its dates of publication.  Following the 
public hearing, the Board considered a resolution for the issuance of certain indebtedness and attached 
hereto as Exhibit B is a true and complete copy of a resolution dated January 11, 2017 adopted by a majority 
of the members of the Board present and voting during such meeting (the “Resolution”) relating to such 
matters.  A summary of the members present or absent at such meeting, and the recorded vote with respect 
to the Resolution, is included therewith.  The Resolution constitutes the only ordinance or resolution 
adopted by the Board relating to the matters referred to therein.  The Resolution has not been repealed, 
revoked, rescinded or amended and is in full force and effect on the date hereof. 
 

III 
 

 Except as otherwise been disclosed to the Purchaser, no litigation or other proceedings are pending 
or, to our knowledge, threatened against the Issuer in any court or other tribunal of competent jurisdiction, 
State or Federal, in any way (i) restraining or enjoining the issuance, sale, execution or delivery of the IPA, 
or (ii) questioning or affecting the validity of the IPA or the Resolution, or (iii) questioning or affecting the 
validity of any of the proceedings for the authorization, sale, execution, issuance or delivery of the IPA 

 
IV 

 
All other representations and warranties of the Issuer in the Resolution are correct as of the date 



 

C-2 

 

hereof. 
 

V 
 There has been no material adverse change in the financial condition of the Issuer since the copies 
of its financials were last published following the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2015. 

 
VI 

 
 The following is a correct list of the names of the members of the Issuer’s Board of Directors and 
of the date of expiration of their respective terms of office: 

NAME TITLE ENDING DATE OF 
CURRENT TERM 

   
   
   
   
   

Each of the persons named above has qualified for office by taking the oath, if any, required by law on or 
before the day on which his or her term of office began. 
 

VII 
 

 I have been the General Manager of the Issuer since MM-DD-YY. 
 

VIII 
 

 The Issuer has compiled with all agreements and has satisfied all conditions on its part to be 
observed or satisfied under the Resolution and as required by applicable law. 
 

IX 
 

The Resolution has been duly adopted and has not been repealed, revoked, rescinded or altered in 
any manner. 
 

X 
 

The Issuer is not in default, and has not been in default at any time as to principal of and interest 
on any of its indebtedness. 
 

XI 
 

The IPA is signed with the manual signatures of the (Authorized Representative) of the Issuer, and 
the foregoing specimen is his genuine and correct signature: 

 
  ____________________________________________. 
 

 
XII 



 

C-3 

 

 Issuer agrees: (a) that it has not been and it will continue to ensure that it will not be, listed on the 
Specially Designated Nationals and Blocked Person List maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets 
Control, Department of Treasury, and/or any other similar lists maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets 
Control; (b) that it will comply with the USA Patriot Act, and international trade control and anti-money 
laundering laws, as applicable; and (c) that it will not be a person designated under Section 1(b), (c), or (d) 
of Executive Order No. 13224 (9/23/01) or under any related enabling legislation or any other similar 
Executive Orders. Issuer also agrees to comply with all Bank Secrecy Act laws, regulations and 
governmentally imposed guidelines on or in connection with Bank Secrecy Act compliance, and on the 
prevention and detection of money laundering violations.  
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I hereby certify attest to the foregoing information as of this 18th day 
of January, 2017. 
 
 

___________________________________   
Dennis LaMoreaux 
General Manager 
 
Attest: 
 
___________________________________  
Matthew Knudson, Assistant General Manager 



 

 H-1 
 

TAB D: 
________________________________________________________________________ 

TAX AND ARBITRAGE CERTIFICATE 
 

2017 Installment Purchase Agreement Financing the 
Technology Replacement Project 

in the 
Aggregate Principal Amount of $830,000.00 

 
The undersigned is the General Manager of the Palmdale Water District (the “Issuer”), being duly 

charged, with others, with the responsibility for issuing the Issuer’s $830,000.00 2017 Installment Purchase 
Agreement (Financing the 2017 Project), the (“IPA”), HEREBY CERTIFY, pursuant to Section 148 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and Sections 1 148-0 through 1 148-11 of the 
Income Tax Regulations (the “Regulations”), as follows: 
 
Section 1. In General. 
 
1.1. This Certificate is executed for the purpose of establishing the reasonable expectations of Issuer as 
to future events regarding the financing of the 2017 Project to be acquired by Purchaser and sold to Issuer 
pursuant to and in accordance with the IPA (together with all related documents executed pursuant thereto 
and contemporaneously herewith, the "Financing Documents").  As described in the Financing 
Documents, Purchaser shall apply $830,000.00 (the “Principal Amount”) toward the acquisition of the 
2017 Project ($823,000.00) and closing costs ($7,000.00), and Issuer shall make Installment Payments 
under the terms and conditions as set forth in the Financing Documents.  
1.2.  The individual executing this Certificate on behalf of Issuer is an officer of Issuer delegated with the 
responsibility of reviewing and executing the Financing Documents, pursuant to the resolution or other 
official action of Issuer adopted with respect to the Financing Documents, a copy of which has been 
delivered to Purchaser. 
1.3.  The Financing Documents are being entered into for the purpose of providing funds for financing the 
cost of acquiring, equipping and installing the 2017 Project which is essential to the governmental 
functions of Issuer.  The Principal Amount will be deposited in escrow by Purchaser on the date of issuance 
of the Financing Documents and held by Signature Bank, as escrow agent (the "Escrow Agent") pending 
acquisition of the Equipment under the terms of that certain Escrow Agreement dated as of January 18, 
2017 (the "Escrow Agreement"), by and between Purchaser and Escrow Agent.  
1.4  Issuer will timely file an 8038-G relating to the IPA with the Internal Revenue Service in 
accordance with Section 149(e) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). 
 
Section 2. Non-Arbitrage Certifications. 
2.1.  The Rental Payments due under the Financing Documents will be made with monies retained in 
Issuer's general operating fund (or an account or subaccount therein).  No sinking, debt service, reserve 
or similar fund or account will be created or maintained for the payment of the Rental Payments due 
under the Financing Documents or pledged as security therefor. 
2.2.  There have been and will be issued no obligations by or on behalf of Issuer that would be deemed 
to be (i) issued or sold within fifteen (15) days before or after the date of issuance of the Financing 
Documents, (ii) issued or sold pursuant to a common plan of financing with the Financing Documents 
and (iii) paid out of substantially the same source of funds as, or deemed to have substantially the same 
claim to be paid out of substantially the same source of funds as, the Financing Documents. 



 

H-2 

2.3.  Issuer does not and will not have on hand any funds that are or will be restricted, segregated, legally 
required or otherwise intended to be used, directly or indirectly, as a substitute, replacement or separate 
source of financing for the 2017 Project. 
2.4.  No portion of the Principal Amount is being used by Issuer to acquire investments which produce a 
yield materially higher than the yield realized by Purchaser from Rental Payments received under the 
Financing Documents. 
2.5.  The Principal Amount does not exceed the amount necessary for the governmental purpose for 
which the Financing Documents were entered into.  Such funds are expected to be needed and fully 
expended for payment of the costs of acquiring, equipping and installing the 2017 Project. 
2.6.  Issuer does not expect to convey, sublease or otherwise dispose of the 2017 Project, in whole or in 
part, at a date which is earlier than the final maturity or payment date under the Financing Documents. 
 
Section 3. Disbursement of Funds; Reimbursement to Issuer. 
3.1  It is contemplated that the entire Principal Amount will be used to pay the acquisition cost of 2017 
Projects to the vendors or manufacturers thereof or for any financial advisory or closing costs, provided 
that, if applicable, a portion of the principal amount may be paid to Issuer as reimbursement for 
acquisition cost payments already made by it so long as the conditions set forth in Section 3.2 below are 
satisfied. 
3.2.  Issuer shall not request that it be reimbursed for 2017 Project acquisition cost payments already made 
by it unless each of the following conditions have been satisfied: 
(a) Issuer adopted a resolution or otherwise declared its official intent in accordance with Treasury 
Regulation § 1.150-2 (the “Declaration of Official Intent”), wherein Issuer expressed its intent to be 
reimbursed from the proceeds of a borrowing for all or a portion of the cost of the 2017 Project, which 
expenditure was paid to the vendor not earlier than sixty (60) days before Issuer adopted the Declaration 
of Official Intent; 
(b) The reimbursement being requested will be made by a written allocation before the later of 
eighteen (18) months after the expenditure was paid or eighteen (18) months after the items of 2017 
Project to which such payment relates were placed in service; 
(c) The entire payment with respect to which reimbursement is being sought is a capital expenditure, 
being a cost of a type properly chargeable to a capital account under general federal income tax principles; 
and 
(d) Issuer will use any reimbursement payment for general operating expenses and not in a manner 
which could be construed as an artifice or device under Treasury Regulation § 1.148-10 to avoid, in 
whole or in part, arbitrage yield restrictions or arbitrage rebate requirements. 
 
Section 4.  Use and Investment of Funds; Temporary Period.  
4.1.  Issuer has incurred or will incur, within six (6) months from the date of issuance of the Financing 
Documents, binding obligations to pay an amount equal to at least five percent (5%) of the Principal 
Amount toward the costs of the 2017 Project.  An obligation is not binding if it is subject to contingencies 
within Issuer’s control.  The ordering and acceptance of the items of 2017 Project will proceed with due 
diligence to the date of final acceptance of the 2017 Project. 
4.2.  An amount equal to at least eighty-five percent (85%) of the Principal Amount will be expended to 
pay the cost of the 2017 Project by the end of the three-year period commencing on the date of this 
Certificate.  No portion of the Principal Amount will be used to acquire investments that do not carry out 
the governmental purpose of the Financing Documents and that have a substantially guaranteed yield of 
four (4) years or more. 



 

D-1 
 

4.3.  (a)  Issuer covenants and agrees that it will rebate an amount equal to excess earnings on the Principal 
Amount deposited under the Escrow Agreement to the Internal Revenue Service if required by, and in 
accordance with, Section 148(f) of the Code, and make the annual determinations and maintain the records 
required by and otherwise comply with the regulations applicable thereto. Issuer reasonably expects to 
cause the 2017 Project to be acquired by June 18, 2018.   
(b)  Issuer will provide evidence to Purchaser that the rebate amount has been calculated and paid to the 
Internal Revenue Service in accordance with Section 148(f) of the Code unless  (i) the entire Principal 
Amount is expended on the 2017 Project by the date that is the six-month anniversary of the Financing 
Documents or (ii) the Principal Amount is expended on the 2017 Project in accordance with the following 
schedule: At least fifteen percent (15%) of the Principal Amount and interest earnings thereon will be 
applied to the cost of the 2017 Project within six months from the date of issuance of the Financing 
Documents; at least sixty percent (60%) of the Principal Amount and interest earnings thereon will be 
applied to the cost of the 2017 Project within 12 months from the date of issuance of the Financing 
Documents; and one hundred percent (100%) of the Principal Amount and interest earnings thereon will 
be applied to the cost of the 2017 Project prior to eighteen (18) months from the date of issuance of the 
Financing Documents. 
(c)  Issuer hereby covenants that (i) Issuer is a governmental unit with general tax powers; (ii) the IPA is 
not a “private activity bond” under Section 141 of the Code; (iii) at least ninety-five percent (95%) of the 
Principal Amount is used for the governmental activities of Issuer.  Accordingly, the rebate requirements 
of Section 148(f) of the Code are treated as being met, in lieu of the spending exceptions set forth in 
paragraph (b) above. 

 

Section 5.  Escrow Account. 
The Financing Documents provide that the monies deposited in escrow shall be invested until payments 
to the vendor(s) or manufacturer(s) of the 2017 Project are due.  Issuer will ensure that such investment 
will not result in Issuer's obligations under the Financing Documents being treated as an "arbitrage bond" 
within the meaning of Section 148(a) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), 
respectively.  Any monies which are earned from the investment of these funds shall be labeled as interest 
earned.  All such monies will be disbursed on or promptly after the date that Issuer accepts the 2017 
Project. Issuer acknowledges that the provisions of Sections 2 and 4 herein are particularly applicable 
when the Principal Amount is funded into an Escrow Fund subject to the Escrow Agreement. 
 
Section 6.  No Private Use; No Consumer Loan. 
6.1.  Issuer will not exceed the private use restrictions set forth in Section 141 of the Code.  Specifically, 
Issuer will not permit more than 10% of the Principal Amount to be used for a Private Business Use (as 
defined herein) if, in addition, the payment of more than ten percent (10%) of the Principal Amount plus 
interest earned thereon is, directly or indirectly, secured by (i) any interest in property used or to be used 
for a Private Business Use or (ii) any interest in payments in respect of such property or derived from any 
payment in respect of property or borrowed money used or to be used for a Private Business Use. 
6.2 In addition, if both (A) more than five percent (5%) of the Principal Amount is used as described 
above with respect to Private Business Use and (B) more than five percent (5%) of the Principal Amount 
plus interest earned thereon is secured by Private Business Use property or payments as described above, 
then the excess over such five percent (5%) (the “Excess Private Use Portion”) will be used for a Private 
Business Use related to the governmental use of the 2017 Project.  Any such Excess Private Use Portion 
of the Principal Amount will not exceed the portion of the Principal Amount used for the governmental 
use of the particular project to which such Excess Private Use Portion is related.  For purposes of this 
paragraph 6.3, “Private Business Use” means use of bond proceeds or bond financed-property directly or 
indirectly in a trade or business carried on by a natural person or in any activity carried on by a person 



 

D-2 

 

other than a natural person, excluding, however, use by a state or local governmental unit and excluding 
use as a member of the general public. 
6.4.  No part of the Principal Amount or interest earned thereon will be used, directly or indirectly, to make 
or finance any loans to non-governmental entities or to any governmental agencies other than Issuer.  
 
Section 7.  No Federal Guarantee. 
7.1.  Payment of the principal or interest due under the Financing Documents is not directly or indirectly 
guaranteed, in whole or in part, by the United States or an agency or instrumentality thereof. 
7.2.  No portion of the Principal Amount or interest earned thereon shall be (i) used in making loans the 
payment of principal or interest of which are to be guaranteed, in whole or in part, by the United States or 
any agency or instrumentality thereof, or (ii) invested, directly or indirectly, in federally insured deposits 
or accounts if such investment would cause the financing under the Financing Documents to be "federally 
guaranteed" within the meaning of Section 149(b) of the Code. 
 
Section 8.  Miscellaneous. 
8.1.  Issuer shall keep a complete and accurate record of all owners or assignees of the Financing 
Documents in form and substance satisfactory to comply with the registration requirements of Section 
149(a) of the Code unless Purchaser or its assignee agrees to act as Issuer's agent for such purpose. 
8.2.  Issuer shall maintain complete and accurate records establishing the expenditure of the Principal 
Amount and interest earnings thereon for a period of five (5) years after payment in full under the 
Financing Documents. 
8.3.  To the best of the undersigned’s knowledge, information and belief, the above expectations are 
reasonable and there are no other facts, estimates or circumstances that would materially change the 
expectations expressed herein. 
1. 8.4.    The Issuer confirms and acknowledges that its true and correct tax identification number is: 
95-6004540 and full, true and correct legal name is “Palmdale Water District.”   
8.5  The Issuer has adopted, by resolution, separate written procedures regarding ongoing compliance with 
federal tax requirements necessary to keep, ensure and maintain the interest portions of the Rental 
Payments under the Financing Documents as excluded form Purchaser’s gross income for federal income 
tax purposes. 
 
 

 
[Signature Page Follows]



 

D-3 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, we have hereunto set our hands this 18th day of January, 2017 
 
 
 
 

Palmdale Water District 
 
 
 

By:_________________________________ 
Dennis LaMoreaux  
General Manager 
 

 
 
 

[Signature Page to Tax and Arbitrage Certificate] 
 

 



 

E-1 
 

TAB E: 
________________________________________________________________________ 

 
(PRINT ON LEGAL COUNSEL’S LETTERHEAD) 

 
FORM OF OPINION OF ISSUER’S COUNSEL 

 
January 18, 2017 

 
Holman Capital Corporation    Signature Public Funding Corp. 
25201 Paseo de Alicia     600 Washington Avenue, Suite 305 
Suite 290      Towson, MD 21204 
Laguna Hills, CA 92653 
 
Signature Bank 
75 Holly Hill Lane 
Greenwich, CT 06830 
 

2017 Installment Purchase Agreement Financing the 
Technology Replacement Project 

in the 
Aggregate Principal Amount of $830,000.00  

 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 

I have acted as counsel for the Palmdale Water District (the “District”) in connection with the 
issuance of its $830,000.00 2017 Installment Purchase Agreement dated January 18, 2017 (the “IPA”) 
between the District and Holman Capital Corporation (the “Corporation”) and the related Escrow 
Agreement dated of even date therewith (the “Escrow Agreement”) between the District, the Corporation 
and Signature Bank, as Escrow Agent, pursuant to the Constitution of the State of California, as amended, 
other applicable provisions of California law, and a Resolution duly adopted by the Board of Directors of 
the Issuer on January 11, 2017 (the “Resolution”). The IPA, Escrow Agreement, Resolution, and all related 
exhibits, attachments and deliverables executed in connection therewith shall collectively be referred to as 
the “Financing Documents.”  Any capitalized terms used herein not otherwise defined shall have the 
meaning set forth in the Financing Documents. 
 

In rendering this opinion, I have examined such proceedings and records of District and made such 
inquiry of the District as I deem necessary. 

 
In giving the opinions expressed below, I do not purport to be an expert in or generally familiar 

with or qualified to express legal opinions based on the laws of any jurisdiction (including, but not limited 
to, the laws of the United States) other than the laws of the State of California. 

 
Based on such participation, examination, and inquiry, I am of the opinion, as of the date hereof, 

that: 
 
1. The District is a duly formed and validly existing public utility district of the State of 

California, which makes it a body corporate and politic and a political subdivision of the State of California, 



 

E-2 

 

as such term is defined under the Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, with the 
full right, power, and authority to adopt the Resolution, to issue the IPA, to perform its obligations under 
the Financing Documents and to consummate the transactions contemplated by such instruments. 

 
2. The Resolution was duly adopted by the Board of Directors of the District at a duly called 

meeting following proper notice, and has not been otherwise amended or repealed and is in full force and 
effect as of the date hereof. The Financing Documents constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of the 
District enforceable in accordance with their terms. 

 
3. The Financing Documents has been duly authorized, executed, and delivered by the 

District and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the District enforceable in accordance with 
its terms (subject only to enforceability of any remedies to any applicable bankruptcy or insolvency laws 
or other laws affecting creditor’s rights generally, from time to time in effect). 

 
4. The adoption of the Resolution, and the authorization, execution, and delivery of the 

Financing Documents, and compliance with the provisions thereof, will not conflict with, or constitute a 
breach of or default under, any law, administrative regulations, consent, decree, ordinance, resolution, 
constitutional provision, or any agreement or other instrument to which the District was or is subject, as the 
case may be, nor will such enactment, adoption, execution, delivery authorization or compliance result in 
the creation or imposition of an invalid, illegal or unauthorized lien, charge, or other security interest or 
encumbrance of any nature whatsoever upon any property or assets of the District, or under the terms of 
any law, administrative regulation, ordinance, resolution or instrument, except as expressly and legally 
provided for in the IPA. 

 
5. All approvals, consents, authorizations and order of any governmental authority or agency 

having jurisdiction in any matter which would constitute a condition precedent to the performance by the 
District of its obligations under the Financing Documents have been obtained and are in full force and 
effect. 

 
6. The District is lawfully empowered to acquire, complete and engage in all manners 

incidental to the 2017 Project and to pay associated costs of issuance. 
 
7. There is no litigation pending or threatened, to restrain or enjoin the issuance or sale of the 

IPA, or in any way, affecting any authority for or the validity of the Financing Documents, or the pledge of 
and covenants related to the Net Water Revenues.   

 
8. Neither the corporate existence nor the title of any present Director, the Board President, 

the General Manager, or other officials thereof to their respective office is being contested. 
 
This opinion may be relied upon by addressees hereof as well as by their successors and assigns, 

but only respect to the matters expressly set forth herein. 
 
       Very truly yours, 

 
 



 

F-1 
 

 
TAB F: 
________________________________________________________________________ 

 
[IRS Form 8038-G is to be prepared by Holman Capital Corporation] 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

G-1 
 

TAB G: 
________________________________________________________________________ 

INTENTIONALLY OMITTED; LEASE IS NBQ. 
 



 

H-1 
 

TAB H: 
________________________________________________________________________ 

CLOSING MEMORANDUM 
 

$830,000.00 2017 INSTALLMENT PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
FINANCING THE TECHNOLOGY REPLACEMENT PROJECT 

ISSUED BY THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT TO 
HOLMAN CAPITAL CORPORATION 

 
Pre-Closing:  Pre-Closing will be held on or before January 16, 2017 as all documents will be executed 
and originals will be overnighted to Holman Capital, Attn:  Aditya Kajaria, 25201 Paseo de Alicia,  
Suite 290, Laguna Hills, California 92653, and held in trust until such time as the wires and original 
documents are released by the Parties. 
 
Closing:  By wire transfer, the morning of January 18, 2017.  Counsel for each of the Parties will confirm 
by e-mail the release of all original documents held in trust, when such funds and/or documents are in the 
possession of each of the Parties.  On the morning of January 18, 2017, Signature Public Funding Corp. 
will and is authorized by District to wire for the purchase of the District’s 2017 Installment Purchase 
Agreement, per the wire transfer instructions herein, in the amount of $830,000.00) in 2017 Project 
Proceeds to Signature Bank, as escrow agent: 
 

Bank Name: Signature Bank 
    ABA No:    
    Account No:  
    Account Name:  Palmdale Water District  
 
Following receipt of the 2017 Project Proceeds, the Escrow Agent is hereby authorized and directed to 
pay the Costs of Issuance to Holman Capital Corporation pursuant to the instructions in the Escrow 
Agreement and the Invoice attached hereto. 
 

Bank Name: Signature Bank 
    ABA No:   
    Account No:   
    Account Name:   
 
Sources and Uses of Funds: 
Par Value/Principal Amount of IPA                         $830,000.00 
  TOTAL SOURCES             $830,000.00 
 
2017 Project Costs                             $823,000.00 
Costs of Issuance               $    7,000.00 

TOTAL IPA PROCEEDS            $830,000.00 
 

Attest: 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 

 
By:_____________________________ 
      Dennis LaMoreaux, General Manager 



 

I-1 
 

TAB I: 
________________________________________________________________________ 

Insurance Certificate Provided by the District 



 

J-1  

TAB J: 
________________________________________________________________________ 

ESCROW AGREEMENT 

ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT 
 

This ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) dated as of this 18th day of 
January 2017 by and among Holman Capital Corporation (“Lender”), a Delaware corporation, having an 
address at 25201 Paseo de Alicia, Suite 290, Laguna Hills, CA 92653, Palmdale Water District 
(“Borrower”), a public utility district of the State of CA, having an office at 2029 East Avenue Q, Palmdale, 
CA 93550 and SIGNATURE BANK (the "Escrow Agent"), a New York state-chartered commercial bank 
and having an office at Signature Bank, 75 Holly Hill Lane, Greenwich, CT 06830.  

 
W I T N E S S E T H: 

 
 WHEREAS, Borrower and Lender have entered into that certain 2017 Installment Purchase 
Agreement dated as of January 18, 2017 to that certain Technology Replacement Project Installment 
Purchase Agreement dated as of January 18, 2017 (together with all other documents, certificates, exhibits 
and related documentation therewith, collectively, the “Loan”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Lender has made a loan to Borrower in the form of “Loan Proceeds,” which are 
to be used to pay various costs associated with the Loan and to acquire certain items of Equipment (as such 
term is defined in the Loan); and  
 

WHEREAS, Lender and Borrower have agreed that all or a portion of the Loan Proceeds shall be 
held in escrow upon certain terms and conditions; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Lender and Borrower appoint the Escrow Agent as escrow agent of such escrow 
subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Escrow Agent accepts such appointment as escrow agent subject to the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED as follows: 
 
1. Delivery of Escrow Funds.   
 

(a)  Upon execution of the Loan and delivery of all documents and completion of all conditions 
precedent in the Loan, the Lender will deliver, or shall cause to be delivered, to the Escrow Agent checks, 
internal transfers or wire transfers equal to the Initial Deposit Amount (as set forth on Schedule A hereto) 
and made payable to “Signature Bank as Escrow Agent” for the benefit of Lender and Borrower to be held 
in an account at Signature Bank entitled “Palmdale Water District Equipment Schedule, Signature Bank, 
as Escrow Agent” having ABA No. 026013576, Account No. *** (the “Escrow Account”).  

 
(b) The Initial Deposit Amount that consists of good and indefeasible collected funds that are 

deposited into the Escrow Account is referred to as the “Escrow Funds”. 
 
(c) The Escrow Agent shall have no duty or responsibility to enforce the collection or demand 



 

J-2  

payment of these checks or any other funds delivered to Escrow Agent for deposit into the Escrow Account.  
If, for any reason, these checks or any other funds deposited into the Escrow Account shall be returned 
unpaid to the Escrow Agent, the sole duty of the Escrow Agent shall be to advise Lender and Borrower 
promptly thereof and return check in the manner directed in writing by Lender and Borrower. 

 
2. ReLoan of Escrow Funds.  (a)   The Escrow Funds shall be paid by the Escrow Agent in accordance 
with the instructions, in form and substance satisfactory to the Escrow Agent, received from Lender and 
Borrower, in all cases subject to Lender approval and subject to delivery of those items set forth in Section 
2(b) herein, or in accordance with Lender’s instructions delivered pursuant to Section 6 herein, or in absence 
of such instructions in accordance with the order of a court of competent jurisdiction. The Escrow Agent 
shall not be required to pay any uncollected funds or any funds that are not available for withdrawal. The 
Escrow Agent may act in reliance upon any instructions, court orders, notices, certifications, demands, 
consents, authorizations, receipts, powers of attorney or other writings delivered to it without being required 
to determine the authenticity or validity thereof or the correctness of any fact stated therein, the propriety 
or validity of the service thereof, or the jurisdiction of the court issuing any judgment or order.  The Escrow 
Agent may act in reliance upon any signature believed by it to be genuine, and may assume that such person 
has been properly authorized to do so.  
 

(b)  Upon receipt of a Payment Request Form (in substantially the form as set forth on Schedule B 
hereto) executed by Lender and Borrower, an amount equal to the Acquisition Cost as shown therein shall 
be paid directly by Escrow Agent to the person or entity entitled to payment as specified therein.  Although 
the Payment Request Form may have schedules, invoices and other supporting document attached to it, 
Lender will send to Escrow Agent only the page or pages showing the signatures of Lender and Borrower, 
the Acquisition Cost and related payment information, without such schedules, invoices or other supporting 
documentation.  Escrow Agent may act and rely upon the signed Payment Request Form without the need 
to review or verify any such schedules, invoices or other supporting documentation. 
 
3. Acceptance by Escrow Agent.  The Escrow Agent hereby accepts and agrees to perform its 
obligations hereunder, provided that: 
 

(a)   The names and true signatures of each individual authorized to act singly on behalf of 
Lender and Borrower are stated in Schedule A. The Escrow Agent may act in reliance upon any signature 
believed by it to be genuine, and may assume that any person who has been designated in Schedule A to 
give any written instructions, notice or receipt, or make any statements in connection with the provisions 
hereof has been duly authorized to do so.  The Escrow Agent shall have no duty to make inquiry as to the 
genuineness, accuracy or validity of any statements or instructions or any signatures on statements or 
instructions. The names and true signatures of each individual authorized to act singly on behalf of Lender 
and Borrower are stated in Schedule A, which is attached hereto and made a part hereof.  The Borrower 
and Lender may each remove or add one or more of its authorized signers stated on Schedule A by notifying 
the Escrow Agent of such change in accordance with this Agreement, which notice shall include the true 
signature for any new authorized signatories.   

 
(b)  The Escrow Agent may act relative hereto in reliance upon advice of counsel in reference 

to any matter connected herewith.  The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for any mistake of fact or error of 
judgment or law, or for any acts or omissions of any kind, unless caused by its willful misconduct or gross 
negligence. 
 

(c)  Lender and Borrower, jointly and severally, agree to indemnify, reLoan, and hold the 
Escrow Agent harmless from and against any and all claims, losses, costs, liabilities, damages, suits, 
demands, judgments or expenses, including, but not limited to, attorney's fees, costs and disbursements, 
(collectively “Claims”) claimed against or incurred by Escrow Agent arising out of or related, directly or 



 

J-3  

indirectly, to the Escrow Agreement and the Escrow Agent’s performance hereunder or in connection 
herewith, except to the extent such Claims arise from Escrow Agent’s willful misconduct or gross 
negligence as adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction. 

 
(d) In the event of any disagreement between or among Lender and Borrower, or between any 

of them and any other person, resulting in adverse claims or demands being made to Escrow Agent in 
connection with the Escrow Account, or in the event that the Escrow Agent, in good faith, be in doubt as 
to what action it should take hereunder, the Escrow Agent may, at its option, refuse to comply with any 
claims or demands on it, or refuse to take any other action hereunder, so long as such disagreement 
continues or such doubt exists, and in any such event, the Escrow Agent shall not become liable in any way 
or to any person for its failure or refusal to act, and the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to continue so to 
refrain from acting until (i) the rights of all parties shall have been fully and finally adjudicated by a court 
of competent jurisdiction, or (ii) all differences shall have been adjusted and all doubt resolved by 
agreement among all of the interested persons, and the Escrow Agent shall have been notified thereof in 
writing signed by all such persons. The Escrow Agent shall have the option, after thirty (30) days’ notice 
to Lender and Borrower of its intention to do so, to file an action in interpleader requiring the parties to 
answer and litigate any claims and rights among themselves. The rights of the Escrow Agent under this 
section are cumulative of all other rights which it may have by law or otherwise. 

 
(e)  In the event that the Escrow Agent shall be uncertain as to its duties or rights hereunder, 

the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to (i) refrain from taking any action other than to keep safely the Escrow 
Funds until it shall be directed otherwise by a court of competent jurisdiction, or (ii) deliver the Escrow 
Funds to a court of competent jurisdiction. 
 

(f)  The Escrow Agent shall have no duty, responsibility or obligation to interpret or enforce 
the terms of any agreement other than Escrow Agent's obligations hereunder, and the Escrow Agent shall 
not be required to make a request that any monies be delivered to the Escrow Account, it being agreed that 
the sole duties and responsibilities of the Escrow Agent shall be to the extent not prohibited by applicable 
law (i) to accept checks or other instruments for the payment of money delivered to the Escrow Agent for 
the Escrow Account and deposit said checks or instruments into the Escrow Account, and (ii) disburse or 
refrain from disbursing the Escrow Funds as stated herein, provided that the checks or instruments received 
by the Escrow Agent have been collected and are available for withdrawal. 

 
4. Escrow Account Statements and Information. The Escrow Agent agrees to send to the Borrower 
and/or the Lender a copy of the Escrow Account periodic statement, upon request in accordance with the 
Escrow Agent’s regular practices for providing account statements to its non-escrow clients and to also 
provide the Borrower and/or Lender, or their designee, upon request other deposit account information, 
including Account balances, by telephone or by computer communication, to the extent practicable. The 
Borrower and Lender agree to complete and sign all forms or agreements required by the Escrow Agent for 
that purpose.  The Borrower and Lender each consents to the Escrow Agent’s reLoan of such Account 
information to any of the individuals designated by Borrower or Lender, which designation has been signed 
in accordance with Section 3(a) by any of the persons in Schedule A.  Further, the Borrower and Lender 
have an option to receive e-mail notification of incoming and outgoing wire transfers.  If this e-mail 
notification service is requested and subsequently approved by the Escrow Agent, the Borrower and Lender 
agrees to provide a valid e-mail address and other information necessary to set-up this service and sign all 
forms and agreements required for such service.  The Borrower and Lender each consents to the Escrow 
Agent’s reLoan of wire transfer information to the designated e-mail address(es).  The Escrow Agent’s 
liability for failure to comply with this section shall not exceed the cost of providing such information. 
 
5. Resignation and Termination of the Escrow Agent.   The Escrow Agent may resign at any time by 
giving thirty (30) days' prior written notice of such resignation to Lender and Borrower.  Upon providing 



 

J-4  

such notice, the Escrow Agent shall have no further obligation hereunder except to hold the Escrow Funds 
that it has received as of the date on which it provided the notice of resignation as depository.  In such event, 
the Escrow Agent shall not take any action until Lender and Borrower jointly designate a banking 
corporation, trust company, attorney or other person as successor escrow agent.  Upon receipt of such 
written instructions signed by Lender and Borrower, the Escrow Agent shall promptly deliver the Escrow 
Funds, net of any outstanding charges, to such successor escrow agent and shall thereafter have no further 
obligations hereunder.  If such instructions are not received within thirty (30) days following the effective 
date of such resignation, then the Escrow Agent may deposit the Escrow Funds and any other amounts held 
by it pursuant to this Agreement with a clerk of a court of competent jurisdiction pending the appointment 
of a successor escrow agent.  In either case provided for in this section, the Escrow Agent shall be relieved 
of all further obligations and reLoand from all liability thereafter arising with respect to the Escrow Funds. 
 
6.       Termination. (a) Voluntary Termination by Mutual Agreement of Borrower and Lender.  Lender 
and Borrower may terminate the appointment of the Escrow Agent hereunder upon a joint written notice to 
Escrow Agent specifying the date upon which such termination shall take effect.  In the event of such 
termination, Lender and Borrower shall, within thirty (30) days of such notice, jointly appoint a successor 
escrow agent and the Escrow Agent shall, upon receipt of written instructions signed by both Lender and 
Borrower, turn over to such successor escrow agent all of the Escrow Funds; provided, however, that if 
Lender and Borrower fail to appoint a successor escrow agent within such thirty (30)-day period, such 
termination notice shall be null and void and the Escrow Agent shall continue to be bound by all of the 
provisions hereof.  Upon receipt of the Escrow Funds, the successor escrow agent shall become the Escrow 
Agent hereunder and shall be bound by all of the provisions hereof and the Escrow Agent shall be relieved 
of all further obligations and reLoand from all liability thereafter arising with respect to the Escrow Funds.  
 

(b) Involuntary Termination.  The Escrow Account shall be terminated on the “Termination Date,” 
which shall be the earliest of (i) the final distribution of amounts in the Escrow Account, (ii) the 
“Anticipated Closing Date” (as such term is defined on Schedule A hereto), or (iii) unilateral written notice 
given by Lender of the occurrence of a default, Event of Default (as such term is defined in the Loan), Non-
Appropriation (as such term is defined in the Loan) or any other termination of the Loan which results in 
Lender being paid less than the Prepayment Price (as such term is defined in the Loan). 

 
(c) Transfers Following Involuntary Termination.  Unless all of the Escrow Funds deposited by 

Lender in the Escrow Account have been previously disbursed pursuant to Section 2 herein, on the 
Termination Date, Escrow Agent shall pay upon written direction from Lender all remaining moneys in the 
Escrow Account to Lender or its assignee for application to the Prepayment Price, including any fees, 
interest or premium included in the definition thereof as found in the related Loan.  If any the Prepayment 
Price does not contain any premium or penalty and this Agreement and the Escrow Account is terminated 
pursuant to Section 6(b)(iii) herein, then any amounts paid pursuant to this Section 6(c) shall be subject to 
a prepayment fee equal to three percent (3%) of such amount.  Lender shall apply amounts received under 
this Section 6 first to unpaid fees, late charges and collection costs, if any, which have accrued or been 
incurred under the Loan, then to overdue Principal and Interest on the Loan and then, in the sole discretion 
of Lender, either (i) to the Prepayment Price due under the Loan in the inverse order of all respective 
principal maturities, or (ii) proportionately to each Principal payment thereafter due under the Loan.  In the 
event that Lender elects to apply any such amounts in accordance with clause (i) of the preceding sentence, 
Borrower shall continue to make Rental Payments as scheduled in the applicable Payment Schedule.  In the 
event that Lender elects to apply such amounts in accordance with clause (ii) of this Section 6(c), Lender 
shall provide Borrower with a revised Payment Schedule which shall reflect the revised Principal balance 
and reduced Rental Payments due under the Loan.   Capitalized terms used in this Section 6, but not defined 
herein, shall have the meanings given to such terms in the Loan.  Escrow Agent shall have no responsibility 
to see to the appropriate application of any moneys returned under this Section 6. 

 



 

J-5  

7. Investment.  (a) If the non-interest bearing account option is selected in Schedule A hereto, all 
Escrow Funds received by the Escrow Agent shall be held only in non-interest bearing bank accounts at 
Escrow Agent. 
 
 (b) If the interest-bearing account option is selected in Schedule A hereto, the Escrow Fund shall 
be invested in Signature Bank’s Monogram Insured Money Market Deposit Account for Business.  
Borrower agrees and represents to the Escrow Agent that any interest or other income earned on the Escrow 
Account shall for the purposes of reporting such income to the appropriate taxing authorities be deemed to 
be earned by the Borrower.   
 
 (c) The following provisions are applicable regardless of whether an interest-bearing or non-interest 
bearing account is elected.  The Borrower represents that it is a US person as that term is defined by IRS.  
The Borrower agrees to provide the Escrow Agent with a certified tax identification number by signing and 
returning a Form W-9 to the Escrow Agent upon execution of this Escrow Agreement.  The Borrower 
understands that, in the event the Borrower’s tax identification number is incorrect or is not certified to the 
Escrow Agent, the Internal Revenue Code, as amended from time to time, may require withholding of a 
portion of any interest or other income earned on the Escrow Funds. The Borrower agrees to assume any 
and all obligations imposed, now or hereafter, by the applicable tax law and/or applicable taxing authorities, 
with respect to any interest or other income earned on the Escrow Funds and to indemnify and hold the 
Escrow Agent harmless from any liability or obligation on account of taxes, assessments, additions for late 
payment, interest, penalties, expenses and other governmental charges that may be assessed or asserted 
against the Escrow Agent in connection with or relating to any payment made or other activities performed 
under the terms of this Agreement, including without limitation any liability for the withholding or 
deduction of (or the failure to withhold or deduct) the same, and any liability for the failure to obtain proper 
certifications or to report properly to governmental authorities in connection with this Agreement, including 
costs and expenses (including reasonable legal fees and expenses) interest and penalties, in each such case 
to the extent applicable to, or arising in respect of, the interest earned on the Escrow Account, unless such 
liability is caused by the Escrow Agent’s gross negligence or willful misconduct. The foregoing 
indemnification and agreement to hold harmless shall survive the termination of this Agreement. 

 
8. Security Interest.  The Escrow Agent and Borrower acknowledge and agree that the Escrow 
Account, the Escrow Funds, and all investments, cash, securities, and proceeds thereof are being irrevocably 
held by Escrow Agent for the benefit of the Borrower and Lender subject to disbursement or return solely 
as set forth herein.  In limitation of the foregoing, Borrower hereby grants to Lender a first priority perfected 
security interest in the Escrow Account and Escrow Funds, and all cash, securities, investments and 
proceeds thereof that may, from time to time, be held in the Escrow Account.  If the Escrow Account, or 
any part thereof, is converted to investments as set forth in this Agreement, such investments shall be made 
in the name of Escrow Agent and held for the benefit of Lender and Borrower subject to the express terms 
and conditions of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the grant and conveyance of a lien and security interest 
in favor of the Lender and solely with respect to Claims, Fees or other actual and out-of-pocket costs that 
have not been previously reimbursed, Escrow Agent is hereby granted a security interest in and a lien upon 
the Escrow Account and Escrow Funds, which security interest and lien shall be prior to all other security 
interests, liens or claims against the Escrow Account, Escrow Funds, or any part thereof..  The Escrow 
Account and Escrow Funds shall not be subject to levy or attachment or lien by or for the benefit of any 
creditor of either Lender or Borrower or Escrow Agent (other than Lender’s and Escrow Agent’s respective 
security interests granted hereunder). 
 
9. Compensation.  The Escrow Agent shall be entitled, for the duties to be performed by it hereunder, 
to a one-time “Set-Up Fee,” if any, as set forth on Schedule A hereto, which fee shall be paid by Lender or 
Borrower upon the signing of this Agreement. In addition, Lender and Borrower shall be obligated to 



 

J-6  

reimburse Escrow Agent for all fees, costs and expenses incurred or that becomes due in connection with 
this Agreement or the Escrow Account, including reasonable attorney’s fees (collectively, and together with 
the Set-Up Fee, “Fees”).  Neither the modification, cancellation, termination or rescission of this Agreement 
nor the resignation or termination of the Escrow Agent shall affect the right of the Escrow Agent to retain 
the amount of any fee which has been paid, or to be reimbursed or paid any amount which has been incurred 
or becomes due, prior to the effective date of any such modification, cancellation, termination, resignation 
or rescission.  To the extent the Escrow Agent has incurred any such expenses, or any such fee becomes 
due, prior to or commensurate with the Termination Date, the Escrow Agent shall advise the Borrower and 
Lender and the Borrower and Lender shall direct all such amounts to be paid directly to Escrow Agent prior 
to any distribution of funds set forth in Section 6 herein 
 
10. Information Required Under USA PATRIOT ACT.  The parties acknowledge that in order to help 
the United States government fight the funding of terrorism and money laundering activities, pursuant to 
Federal regulations that became effective on October 1, 2003 (Section 326 of the USA PATRIOT Act) all 
financial institutions are required to obtain, verify, record and update information that identifies each person 
establishing a relationship or opening an account.  The parties to this Agreement agree that they will provide 
to the Escrow Agent such information as it may request, from time to time, in order for the Escrow Agent 
to satisfy the requirements of the USA PATRIOT Act, including but not limited to the name, address, tax 
identification number and other information that will allow it to identify the individual or entity who is 
establishing the relationship or opening the account and may also ask for formation documents such as 
articles of incorporation or other identifying documents to be provided. 

 
11. Notices.  All notices, requests, demands and other communications required or permitted to be 
given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed to have been duly given if sent by hand-delivery, 
by facsimile followed by first-class mail, by nationally recognized overnight courier service or by prepaid 
registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, to the addresses set forth below. 
 
 If to Lender: 
  Signature Public Funding Corp., as assignee of Holman Capital Corporation 
  600 Washington Avenue, Suite 305 
  Towson, Maryland 21204 
  Attention: Donald Keough 
  E-mail Address:  DKeough@signatureny.com   

Fax No: (646) 927-4005  
 
 If to Borrower: 

Palmdale Water District 
2029 East Avenue Q 
Palmdale, CA 93550 

  Attention:  _____________________ 
  Fax No.: _____________________ 
 
 If to Escrow Agent: 
  Signature Bank 
  75 Holly Hill Lane 
  Greenwich, CT 06830 
  Attention: Tom Mooney, Group Director and Senior Vice President  
  Fax No.: _________ 
 
12.       General. 
 



 

J-7  

(a)  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the 
laws of the State of New York applicable to agreements made and to be entirely performed within such 
State, without regard to choice of law principles, and any action brought hereunder may be brought in the 
courts of the State of California or the State of New York.  Each party hereto irrevocably waives any 
objection on the grounds of venue, forum nonconveniens or any similar grounds and irrevocably consents 
to service of process by mail or in any manner permitted by applicable law and consents to the jurisdiction 
of said courts.  UNLESS EXPRESSLY PROHIBITED BY APPLICABLE LAW, EACH OF THE 
PARTIES HERETO HEREBY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY ACTION, 
PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM ARISING OUT OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED 
BY THIS AGREEMENT. 
 

(b)  This Agreement sets forth the entire agreement and understanding of the parties in respect 
to the matters contained herein and supersedes all prior agreements, arrangements and understandings 
relating thereto. 
 

(c)  All of the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding upon, and inure to the 
benefit of and be enforceable by, the parties hereto, as well as their respective successors and assigns. 
 

(d) This Agreement may be amended, modified, superseded or canceled, and any of the terms 
or conditions hereof may be waived, only by a written instrument executed by each party hereto or, in the 
case of a waiver, by the party waiving compliance.  The failure of any party at any time or times to require 
performance of any provision hereof shall in no manner affect its right at a later time to enforce the same.  
No waiver of any party of any condition, or of the breach of any term contained in this Agreement, whether 
by conduct or otherwise, in any one or more instances shall be deemed to be or construed as a further or 
continuing waiver of any such condition or breach or a waiver of any other condition or of the breach of 
any other term of this Agreement.  No party may assign any rights, duties or obligations hereunder unless 
all other parties have given their prior written consent. 

 
(e)  If any provision included in this Agreement proves to be invalid or unenforceable, it shall 

not affect the validity of the remaining provisions. 
 

(f)  This Agreement and any modification or amendment of this Agreement may be executed 
in several counterparts or by separate instruments and all of such counterparts and instruments shall 
constitute one agreement, binding on all of the parties hereto. 
 
13.      Form of Signature. The parties hereto agree to accept a facsimile or e-mail transmission copy of 
their respective actual signatures as evidence of their actual signatures to this Agreement and any 
modification or amendment of this Agreement; provided, however, that each party who produces a facsimile 
or e-mail signature agrees, by the express terms hereof, to place, promptly after transmission of his or her 
signature by fax, a true and correct original copy of his or her signature in first class mail, postage pre-paid, 
to the address of the Escrow Agent. 
 
14.      No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  This Agreement is solely for the benefit of the parties and their 
respective successors and permitted assigns, and no other person has any right, benefit, priority or interest 
under or because of the existence of this Agreement. 

 
 
  



 

J-8  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Agreement as of the date first set forth 
above. 
 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
 
 
By:  ______________________________ 

Name: Dennis LaMoreaux 
 Title:   General Manager 
 
HOLMAN CAPITAL CORPORATION 
 
 
By:  ______________________________ 

Name: Lance Holman 
 Title:   President 
 
 
SIGNATURE BANK, as Escrow Agent 
 
 
By:  _____________________________ 
 Name: 
 Title: 
 
 
By:  _____________________________ 
 Name: 
 Title: 



 

J-9  

Schedule A 
 
SPFC Loan/Account Number:   [01] 
 
Name of Borrower:    Palmdale Water District 
 
Beneficiary Name for Fund:   2029 East Avenue Q 
 
Date of Escrow Agreement:   January 18, 2017 
 
Date of Master Loan Agreement:  January 18, 2017 
 
Borrower’s State / Commonwealth:  CA 
 
Borrower Entity State:  CA 
 
Borrower’s Tax Identification Number:  95-6004540 
 
Escrow Agent Fee:    $0.00 
 
Initial Deposit Amount:    $830,000.00 
 
Account Type:    X  Non-interest Bearing 
 

□  Interest Bearing 
 
Anticipated Closing Date:   January 11, 2017 
 
 The Escrow Agent is authorized to accept instructions signed or believed by the Escrow Agent to 
be signed by any one of the following on behalf of Borrower and Lender.  
 

Palmdale Water District 
  Name      True Signature 

 
Dennis LaMoreaux     ________________________    

   
________________________    _____________________ 

 
Signature Public Funding Corp., as assignee of Holman Capital Corporation 

 
 Name       True Signature 

 
Donald S. Keough       _____________________ 
 
Rich Cumbers      _____________________



 

J-10  

Schedule B: Payment Request Form No. [___] 
 

 CERTIFICATE OF ACCEPTANCE AND PAYMENT REQUEST 
 

The following payment request is directed to Signature Bank (the “Escrow Agent”), as escrow 
agent under that certain Escrow Deposit Agreement dated January 18, 2017 (the “Escrow Agreement”), 
between the Palmdale Water District (“Borrower”), Holman Capital Corporation (“Lender”), and the 
Escrow Agent.  Because Holman Capital Corporation has assigned all of its right, title, and interest in and 
to the Escrow Agreement to Signature Public Funding Corp., all references herein to “Lender” shall mean 
Signature Public Funding Corp.    

The Escrow Agent is hereby requested to pay from the Escrow Fund established and maintained 
under the Escrow Agreement the amount set forth below to the named payee(s).  The amount shown is due 
and payable under a purchase order or contract (or has been paid by and not previously reimbursed to 
Borrower).  The equipment described below is part or all of the 2017 Project purchased pursuant to that 
certain Installment Purchase Agreement dated January 18, 2017 (the “Loan Agreement”), between Lender 
and Borrower: 

 
QUANTITY 

DESCRIPTION OF  
UNITS OF EQUIPMENT 

 
AMOUNT 

 
PAYEE 

    
    

Borrower hereby certifies and represents to and agrees with Lender as follows with respect to the 
2017 Project described above:  (i) the 2017 Project or portions referenced above have been delivered to the 
location(s) set forth in the Loan Agreement; (ii) a present need exists for the Equipment, which need is not 
temporary or expected to diminish in the near future; (iii) the Equipment is essential to and will be used by 
Borrower only for the purpose of performing one or more governmental functions of Borrower consistent 
with the permissible scope of Borrower’s authority; (iv) the estimated useful life of the Equipment based 
upon the manufacturer’s representations and Borrower’s projected needs is not less than the term of the 
Loan Agreement; (v) Borrower has conducted such inspection and/or testing of the Equipment as it deems 
necessary and appropriate and hereby acknowledges that it accepts the Equipment for all purposes as of the 
date of this Certificate; (vi) the Equipment is covered by insurance in the types and amounts required by 
the Loan Agreement; (vii) no Event of Default, as defined in the Loan Agreement, and no event that with 
the giving of notice or lapse of time or both, would become an Event of Default, has occurred and is 
continuing on the date hereof; and (viii) sufficient funds have been appropriated by Borrower for the 
payment of all installment payments due under the Loan Agreement. 

Based on the foregoing, the Escrow Agent is hereby authorized and directed to fund the acquisition 
of the 2017 Project set forth above by paying, or causing to be paid, the manufacturer(s)/vendor(s) the 
amounts set forth on the attached invoices from the Escrow Fund held under the Escrow Agreement in 
accordance with its terms. 

The following documents are attached hereto and made a part hereof: (a) Original Invoice(s) and 
(b) Copies of Certificate(s) of Ownership, designating Lender as legal owner, and evidence of filing. 

[Remainder of page intentionally left blank] 

 

 



 

J-11  

 

 

 

IF REQUEST IS FINAL REQUEST, CHECK HERE .  The undersigned hereby certifies that 
the items of Equipment described above, together with the items of Equipment described in and accepted 
by Certificates of Acceptance and Payment Requests previously filed by Borrower with Lender constitute 
all of the Equipment subject to the Loan Agreement. 

Date: ______________ 
 
Approved:  

SIGNATURE PUBLIC FUNDING CORP., as Lender PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT,  
as Borrower 

 
 
By:       

 
 
By:       

Name:       Name:       
Title:       Title:       

 
 



 

J-12  

 NOTICE AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF 
ASSIGNMENT OF ESCROW DEPOSIT AGREEMENT 

 
Holman Capital Corporation ("Lender"), Palmdale Water District ("Borrower"), and Signature Bank 
("Escrow Agent") have entered into an Escrow Deposit Agreement dated January 18, 2017 (the "Escrow 
Agreement'), pursuant to which Lender, or its Assignee (as defined below), has deposited cash into the 
Escrow Fund established thereunder, which funds are to be used by Borrower to acquire certain Equipment. 
  
Escrow Agent is hereby notified that Lender has assigned all of its right, title, and interest in and to, but not 
its obligations under, the Escrow Agreement to Signature Public Funding Corp. ("Assignee"), including, in 
particular, but without limitation, Lender's security interest in the Escrow Fund and Lender's right to 
approve all payment requests submitted by Borrower. 
 
Date: January 18, 2017 
 
LENDER: HOLMAN CAPITAL  
 CORPORATION 
 
 
 
 
By:         

Lance S. Holman 
President & CEO 

BORROWER: PALMDALE WATER 
DISTRICT 

 
 
 
 
By:         

Dennis LaMoreaux 
General Manager 

ESCROW AGENT: SIGNATURE BANK 
 
 
By:         
Name:   
Title: 
 
By:         
Name:   
Title:  

 
  



 

J-13  

[Signature Bank] 
Waiver of Securities for Deposit of Public Moneys 

 
Pursuant to State of California Government Code Section 53653, the undersigned does hereby agree to 
waive the security collateralization requirement for that portion of any deposits maintained by the Depositor 
as are insured pursuant to federal law. This waiver refers to the deposit levels covered by FDIC insurance 
(currently $250,000.00). 
 
The undersigned also affirms that he/she is duly authorized to grant this waiver. All moneys belonging to 
the Depository, and on deposit in excess of the FDIC insurance levels, shall be collateralized by pledged 
securities in accordance with the Local Agency Deposit Security Law and applicable California 
Government Code and Code of Regulations.  
 
 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Authorized Signor in his/her official capacity has signed this 
contract in duplicate and the Depository has caused this contract to be executed in like number by its duly 
authorized officers. 

 
LENDER: HOLMAN CAPITAL  
CORPORATION 
 
 
By:         

Lance S. Holman 
President & CEO 

BORROWER:        PALMDALE WATER 
DISTRICT 
 
 
By:         

Dennis LaMoreaux 
 General Manager  

 
DEPOSITORY: SIGNATURE BANK 

 
By:       
 Name:   

 Title:    

 



P A L M D A L E  W A T E R  D I S T R I C T

B O A R D  M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: January 4, 2017 January 11, 2017 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 

FROM: Michael Williams, Finance Manager/CFO 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.5 – CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION 
ON REVISIONS TO APPLICATION PROCESS FOR RATE ASSISTANCE 
PROGRAM 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends approving the revisions to the Palmdale Water District Rate 
Assistance Program (PWDRAP) as they relate to the application process by establishing 
an application period of November 1st of the preceding year through June 30th of the current 
year. This item will be considered by the Finance Committee at their January 10, 2017 
meeting. 

Alternative Options: 

The alternative is leave the program as is. 

Impact of Taking No Action: 

The impact of taking no action would result in applications being received 
continuously throughout the year. 

Background: 

The District approved the PWDRAP in September, 2014.  Within the two years of 
administering the program, staff has experienced some difficulties managing and 
processing the paperwork requirements in a timely manner. This is due to applications 
being accepted throughout the program year. 

The program is calendar based, which coincides with our budget year. If funding is 
made available as part of the budget process, we would begin taking applications in 
November for the upcoming budget year and continue processing applications through 
June 30th of current funding year. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.5



2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager           January 4, 2017  

This application period would give staff a better time frame for managing and 
processing the application as well as the notification period needed to prepare for the next 
funding cycle.  In addition, the set application period would assist in managing the funding 
made available. 

PWD Rules and Regulations 

 Staff recommends amending Appendix C.3 page 2, to add the application period.

Strategic Plan Initiative: 

This work is part of Strategic Initiative #6, Customer Care and Advocacy. 

Budget: 

This item has no impact on current budget. 

Supporting Documents: 

 Recommended changes to Appendix C.3 of Rules and Regulations.



RULES TO APPLICANTS FOR WATER RATE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM 

APPLICANT 

The Palmdale Water District Rate Assistance Program (PWDRAP) is available only to residential 
customers, age 62 or older, veterans, and low income who receive water through a 1” or smaller 
5/8” or 3/4” water meter.   

An applicant for the District’s Rate Assistance Program must be either the owner living in the 
premises or the tenant of the residence and responsible for the payment of water service provided 
by the District.  Tenants must have on file with the District an affidavit, in the form attached 
hereto as “Exhibit A”, signed by the property owner, assuming responsibility for payment of 
services for said property. 

ELIGIBILITY FOR PROGRAM 

Each applicant for the PWDRAP must establish eligibility for the program annually as stated 
below: 

CARE Program: Applicant must qualify and be enrolled in Southern California Edison’s 
or Southern California Gas’ California Alternative Rates for Energy (CARE) program and 
must provide a utility bill showing proof of such enrollment. 

Household Income: Applicant’s total gross household income cannot exceed pre-
determined income requirements established by the District, based upon the approved 
limits set by the California Public Utilities Commission for the CARE program. 
Applicant must provide verification of household income with application by any means 
deemed acceptable by the District. 

Income Requirements. Maximum household income requirements are based 
upon number of persons living in residence in relation to maximum total “gross 
household income” from all sources. 

Income Qualifications. Total gross household income is all revenues, from all 
household members, from whatever sources derived, including but not limited to: 

 Wages
 Salaries and Other Employment Compensation
 Interest
 Dividends
 Spousal Support
 Public Assistance Payments
 Social Security and Other Pensions
 Rental Income



 Income from Self-employment 
 All Employment-related Non-cash Income 

 
Income Taxes: Applicant may not be claimed as a dependent on another person’s federal 
or state income tax return. 
 
Property Taxes: Applicant may be required to provide a copy of their annual property 
tax statement, or documentation reasonably requested by the District to evidence home 
ownership. 
 
Additional Requirements: The following requirements also apply to each applicant: 

 Must reapply each time they move. 
 Must reapply annually. 
 Must notify the District within 30 days if they become ineligible. 

 
METHOD OF APPLICATION FOR PROGRAM 
 

Application Procedure: Applicant must obtain from the District an application, attached 
hereto as “Exhibit B”, for the PWDRAP.  Applicant must complete the application and 
submit the required documentation to the District.  If approved, applicant will receive the 
assistance on their bill, as calculated under Section “Rate Assistance”, below, within 60 
days of approval date.at a to-be-determined date.  If the application is not approved, 
applicant will receive a letter from the District explaining the reason for the disapproval. 
 
Application Period: Applications are accepted on a first come, first served basis, from 
November 1st of preceding year through June 30th of current year, contingent upon the 
availability of funds.  Participation in the PWDRAP is personal to the applicant and is not 
transferable with the property. 
 

PROGRAM FUNDING 
 
The Board of Directors will approve on an annual basis, as part of the District’s budget process, 
the annual funding for the PWDRAP.  Funding for the PWDRAP is not derived from water 
rate revenue.  Approved funding, if any, will be a not-to-exceed amount of $160,000.00 in the 
fund, established for a twelve (12) month period that may differ from the District’s fiscal year.  
The annual funding approved will be prorated amongst eligible participants in an amount not-to-
exceed fifty percent (50%) of the current calendar year monthly service charge. 
 
ASSISTANCE RATE 
 
The District has established an assistance amount of up to fifty percent (50%) off of the monthly 
service charge for 1” or smaller 5/8” & ¾” meters, for qualified households.  This rate of 
assistance is subject to change on an annual basis as determined by the Board of Directors. 
 



 
REDUCTION; TERMINATION 
 
The District, in its sole discretion, reserves the rights to reduce amounts available under the 
PWDRAP, and any assistance available under that program, in its entirety, upon at least thirty 
(30) days written notice to participants in the program. 
 
 



P A L M D A L E  W A T E R  D I S T R I C T

B O A R D  M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: January 4, 2017 January 11, 2017 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 

FROM: James Riley, Engineering/Grant Manager 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

Mr. Matthew Knudson, Assistant General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.6 – CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON A 
RESOLUTION NO. 17-2 BEING A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT APPROVING THE 
DISTRICT’S GRANT APPLICATION FOR A FEASIBILITY STUDY FOR THE 
PALMDALE REGIONAL GROUNDWATER RECHARGE AND RECOVERY 
PROJECT UNDER THE U.S. BUREAU OF RECLAMATION’S WATERSMART 
PROGRAM ENTITLED “DEVELOPMENT OF FEASIBILITY STUDIES 
UNDER THE TITLE XVI WATER RECLAMATION AND REUSE PROJECTS 
FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017.” 

Recommendation: 

That the Board: 

1. Approve the submittal of a grant application to U.S. Bureau of Reclamation’s
Title XVI Feasibility Study Program for the Palmdale Groundwater Recharge and
Recovery Project;

2. Approve entering into a cost sharing agreement with the U.S. Bureau of
Reclamation through in-kind services in an amount not to exceed $50,034.

Background: 

The District has completed an appraisal level study for the Palmdale Groundwater 
Recharge and Recovery Project.  

In December, 2016, Congress approved the Water Infrastructure Improvement for the 
Nation Act. The Act includes the reform and revitalization of the Title XVI water 
recycling program and converts it to a competitive grant program.  

Historically Congress has required that feasibility reports requesting funding under the 
Title XVI Program meet the standards of the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation. 

Funding under this grant application would facilitate the completion of a feasibility report 
to U.S. Bureau of Reclamation Standards. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.6



2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

Mr. Matthew Knudson, Assistant General Manager           January 4, 2017 

Strategic Plan Initiative: 

This work is part of Strategic Initiative # 1 – Water Resource Reliability 

Budget: 

The proposed budget of $50,034 is covered under the projected 2017 budget. 

Supporting Documents: 

 Resolution No. 17-2
 Grant application



RESOLUTION No. 17-2 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
APPROVING THE DISTRICT’S GRANT APPLICATION FOR THE 

PALMDALE REGIONAL GROUNDWATER 
RECHARGE AND RECOVERY PROJECT FOR 

THE U.S. BUREAU OF RECLAMATION’S 
WATERSMART FEASIBILITY STUDIES UNDER TITLE XVI 

WATER RECLAMATION AND REUSE PROJECT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017 

WHEREAS, the United  States Department of  Interior, Bureau of Reclamation (the “Bureau”) has 
established the WaterSMART: Development of Feasibility Studies under the Title XVI Water Reclamation 
and Reuse Program  for 2017 (the “ WaterSMART Program”) to provide funding opportunities for entities 
seeking new water supplies using water recycling and reuse technologies; 

WHEREAS, the Palmdale Water District has need for funding to complete a feasibility level study 
of using recycled water to meet future municipal and industrial water needs, particularly for the Palmdale 
Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the WaterSMART Program requires at least 50 percent non-Federal cost share 
funding and/or in-kind contribution from applicants, and the Board finds the District has the capability of 
funding its required share of the Project under its current Budget for 2017. 

NOW THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE PALMDALE WATER 
DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. Funding for the Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project 
(the “Project”) under the WaterSMART Grant Program meets the objectives of Strategic Initiative # 1 – 
Water Resource Reliability. 

SECTION 2. If selected for a WaterSMART Grant, up to 66.7% ($50,034) of the total project costs 
of $75,000 through in-kind services shall be committed for funding the District’s proportionate share of the 
Project, as may be required by the Bureau of Reclamation under the WaterSMART Grant Program, and the 
District will work with the Bureau to meet established deadlines for entering into an agreement to commit 
such funds. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS:    11th  day of January, 2017. 

_______________________          _________________________ 
Robert Alvarado, President             Joe Estes, Secretary       
Board of Directors               Board of Directors 
Palmdale Water District                 Palmdale Water District 

__________________________________ 
Aleshire & Wynder. LLP 
District Legal Counsel 

























WaterSMART 

Development of Feasibility Studies 
Under the Title XVI 

Water Reclamation and Reuse Program 
Grants for FY 2017 

Response to Funding Opportunity Announcement No. 
BOR-DO-17-F003 
Funding Group 1 

Palmdale Regional Groundwater  
Recharge and Recovery Project 

Dennis LaMoreaux  
General Manager  

Palmdale Water District  
2029 East Avenue Q  

Palmdale, California 93550  
Phone: (661) 456-1017 Fax: (661) 947-8604  

dlamoreaux@palmdalewater.org  

Point of Contact   
James Riley, P.E.  

Engineering and Grant Manager  
Palmdale Water District  

2029 East Avenue Q  
Palmdale, California 93550  

Phone: (661) 456-1020; Fax: (661) 947-8604  
jriley@palmdalewater.org  

       Palmdale Water District 
            January 5, 2017 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

 

SECTION 1  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ....................................................................... 1 
 
SECTION 2 TITLE XVI FEASIBILITY TECHNICAL STUDY DESCRIPTION ........... 3 
 
     2.1  Background ...................................................................................................... 3 
     2.2  Completed Appraisal (sub-Feasibility) Level Study June 2016 .......................... 3 
     2.3  Table A – Water Allocations for SWP Water .................................................... 3 
     2.4  Title XVI Feasibility Technical Study Approach ............................................... 3 
     2.5  Milestones ..................................................................................................... 11 
 
SECTION 3 EVALUATION CRITERIA .................................................................... 11 

     3.1  Evaluation Criterion 1 — Statement of Problems and Needs ............................................11 
     3.2  Evaluation Criterion 2 — Water Reclamation and Reuse Opportunities ..........................12 
     3.3  Evaluation Criterion 3 — Description of Potential Alternatives .......................................13 
     3.4  Evaluation Criterion 4 — Stretching Water Supplies ........................................................17 
     3.5  Evaluation Criterion 5 — Environment and Water Quality ..............................................18 
     3.6  Evaluation Criterion 6 — Legal and Institutional Requirements ......................................19 
     3.7  Evaluation Criterion 7 — Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency ..............................19 
     3.8  Evaluation Criterion 8 — Watershed Perspective .............................................................20 

SECTION 4 REQUIREMENTS PERMITS AND APPROVALS .................................... 21 

     4.1  Biological…….. .................................................................................................................21 
     4.2  Cultural Resources .............................................................................................................22 
     4.3  Water Quality Regulations .................................................................................................23 

SECTION 5 FUNDING PLAN AND LETTERS OF COMMITMENT ............................ 24 

     5.1  Revenues……. ...................................................................................................................24 
     5.2  Bonding Capacity ...............................................................................................................24 
     5.3  Funding Plan… ..................................................................................................................24 
     5.4  Letters of Support ..............................................................................................................25 

SECTION 6 BUDGET PROPOSAL .............................................................................................26 

SECTION 7 PRE-AWARD COSTS .......................................................................... 27 
 
 
SECTION 8 OFFICIAL RESOLUTION.......................................................................................27



1 
 

TECHNICAL PROPOSAL 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

Application Date: January 5, 2017 

Estimated Start Date: January 1, 2017 

Estimated End Date: May 30, 2018 

Applicant Name: Palmdale Water District 
Palmdale, California 

Project Location: Los Angeles County, California 

Project Title: Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project  

Project Summary: 

The Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project will evaluate at the 
feasibility level the use of recycled water for groundwater banking, storage and extraction 
to meet future municipal water demands. The project will provide water storage and 
delivery features to optimally use Palmdale Water District's (District) California State 
Water Project (SWP) water allocation and local recycled water to stretch water supplies and 
to meet long term water demands. Of the District's present annual water supply of 23,000 
acre-feet, approximately 50% is delivered from the California Aqueduct of the SWP, 10% 
from storage in nearby Littlerock Dam, and 40% from groundwater wells in the Antelope 
Valley. 

Environmental issues on the California Delta places at risk the District's water supply from 
the SWP. In addition, the local groundwater basin which supplies water to the District is 
presently in an overdraft condition. The District's water demand at population build-out is 
44,600 acre-feet. Therefore, using recycled water is critical to the future municipal needs of 
the area. Long term, the recycled water project will utilize 12,100 acre-feet of recycled water 
from Los Angeles County Sanitation District No. 2 Palmdale Water Reclamation Plant. The 
California State Water Project (SWP) water and the recycled water will be blended together 
and then recharged to the Antelope Valley Groundwater Aquifer.  

Appraisal level cost of the Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery project 
is in the $55 million range in capital facilities costs. Other costs would include water 
purchases. Infrastructure will include a new 30-inch diameter, seven (7) mile long pipeline 
from the California Aqueduct to the recharge site. New spreading grounds of 160 acres will 
be constructed to recharge water to the groundwater basin. For Phase I, four (4) new 
extraction wells will be constructed to recover the water during dry years. An additional 
four (4) wells would be constructed as part of Phase 2. A small 420 kilowatt hydropower 
plant would be constructed during Phase 2 on the 30-inch pipeline that conveys water from 
the California Aqueduct. See Figure 1 for general project location. 



2 
 

Figure 1 – General Location of Project

 
 
 



3 
 

 
2.0 TITLE XVI FEASIBILITY TECHNICAL STUDY DESCRIPTION 

2.1. Background 

The Palmdale Water District (District) is located in Los Angeles County about 60 miles north 
of the city of Los Angeles. The District was organized in 1918 and now provides service to an 
area of approximately 40 square miles, consisting of 28,000 connections to 120,000 residents 
in the City of Palmdale as well as substantial adjacent areas outside the City limits. Currently, 
the District's typical annual water supply of 23,000 acre-feet is met through three sources: 

 Imported water of 11,500 acre-feet from the SWP via the East Branch of the 
California Aqueduct is treated at the District's Leslie 0. Carter Water Treatment Plant; 

 Surface water supply of 2,300 acre-feet from Littlerock Dam Reservoir is also treated 
at the treatment plant; and 

 Groundwater supply of 9,200 acre-feet from 22 active wells located in the Antelope 
Valley of Los Angeles County. 

2.2 Completed Appraisal (Sub-Feasibility) Level Study in June 2016 

In June 2016, the District completed a planning study to evaluate the merits of a water 
recycling and groundwater banking program for storage and recovery. Alternatives were 
evaluated that would help meet the future water demands and improve water supply reliability. 
New facilities would be constructed to recharge and recover State Water Project (SWP) water 
as well as recycled water. Appraisal level costs were prepared for each of the alternatives. 

Infrastructure would include new spreading grounds to recharge water as well as recovery 
wells. Recycled water would be replenished continuously with surplus SWP water for storage 
in the groundwater basin during normal and wet years allowing for efficient utilization of 
SWP. 

2.3 Table A — Water Allocations for SWP Water 

In several instances in this grant application, reference is made both to SWP water and Table A 
allocations. The annual allocation of water supply from the SWP for Table A allocations is 
entirely dependent on the hydrologic cycle and the projected water supply for the current 
hydrology conditions. 

There are a total of 29 entities that comprise what is referred to as State Water Contractors. 
The District is one of those State Water Contractors. The contractors work together each year 
to see if one entity is not going to use their water allocation for the current year. In some years, 
this unused water could be purchased by another entity such as the Palmdale Water District 
and stored in the groundwater basin that is the subject of this feasibility level study. 

2.4 Title XVI Feasibility Technical Study Approach 

From results of the District's study of June 2016, described in Section 2.2 above, the District is 
now seeking funds from Reclamation to complete a feasibility level study to meet the U.S. 
Bureau of Reclamation Title XVI Feasibility Report standards. The District envisions that the 
following tasks would need to be addressed in the feasibility level study.



4 
 

The focus of this feasibility study  is to build upon the completed appraisal  level study of June 2016 and fill  in the gaps where 
information  is missing  to  complete  a  feasibility  study  and  report  that  conforms  to  Title XVI  Feasibility Report  Standards.   A 
significant amount of  information exists  in  the completed appraisal  level study.   The Tasks below provide an estimate of  the 
percentage of information in the existing appraisal report that meets Title XVI standards.

 

Task 1 – Update Introductory Information.  

Title XVI Report Requirement  Existing Appraisal Report 

Identification of the non-Federal project sponsor(s). 

A description of the study area and an area/project map. 

A definition of the study area in terms of both the site-specific project area where the reclaimed water 
supply will be needed and developed, and any reclaimed water distribution systems. 
 

99% covered in appraisal 
report 

 

Task 2 – Update Statement of Problems and Needs.  

Title XVI Report Requirement  Existing Appraisal Report 

Describe key water resource management problems and needs for which water reclamation and reuse 
may provide a solution, including the following information. All projections shall be reasonable and 
for a minimum of 20 years. 

Description of the problem and need for a water reclamation and reuse project. 

Description of current and projected water supplies, including water rights, and potential sources of 
additional water, other than the proposed Title XVI project, and plans for new facilities. 

Description of current and projected water demands. 

Description of any water quality concerns for the current and projected water supply. 

Description of current and projected wastewaters and disposal options other than the proposed Title 
XVI project, and plans for new wastewater facilities, including projected costs. 
 

95% covered in appraisal 
report 



5 
 

Task 3 – Update Water Reclamation and Reuse Opportunities.  

Title XVI Requirement  Existing Appraisal Report 

Address the opportunities for water reclamation and reuse in the study area, and identify the sources 
of water that could be reclaimed, including the following information. 

Description of all uses for reclaimed water, or categories of potential uses, including, but not limited 
to, environmental restoration, fish and wildlife, groundwater recharge, municipal, domestic, 
industrial, agricultural, power generation, and recreation. Identify any associated water quality, and 
associated treatment requirements. 

Description of the water market available to utilize recycled water to be produced, including: 

Identification of potential users, expected use, peak use, on-site conversion costs, desire to use 
recycled water, including letters of intent if available. 

Description of any consultation with potential recycled water customers and description of the 
market assessment procedures used. 

Discussion of considerations (for example: physical, converting systems for reused water, or public 
acceptance) which may prevent implementing a water reuse project. Identify methods or community 
incentives to stimulate recycled water demand, and methods to eliminate obstacles which may inhibit 
the use of reclaimed water, including pricing. 

 Identification of all the water and wastewater agencies that have jurisdiction in the potential service 
area or over the sources of reclaimed water. 

Description of potential sources of water to be reclaimed, including impaired surface and ground 
waters. 

Description and location of the source water facilities, including capacities, existing flows, treatment 
processes, design criteria, plans for future facilities, and quantities of impaired water available to 
meet new reclaimed and reused water demands. Description of the current water reuse taking place, 
including a list of reclaimed water uses, type and amount of reuse, and a map of existing pipelines 
and use sites. 

Summary of water reclamation and reuse technology currently in use, and opportunities for 
development of improved technologies. 
 

90% covered in appraisal 
report 



6 
 

 

Task 4 – Update Description of Alternatives.  

 

Title XVI Feasibility Report Requirement  Existing Appraisal Report 

Description of the non-Federal funding condition. The reasonably foreseeable future actions that the 
non-Federal project sponsor would take if Federal funding were not provided for the proposed water 
reclamation and reuse project, including estimated costs. 

Statement of the objectives all alternatives are designed to meet. 

Description of other water supply alternatives considered to accomplish the objectives to be 
addressed by the proposed Title XVI project, including benefits to be gained by each alternative, total 
project cost, life cycle cost, and corresponding cost of the project water produced expressed in dollars 
per million gallons (MG), and/or dollars per acre-foot. An appraisal level cost estimates, or better, is 
acceptable for these alternatives. 

Description of the proposed Title XVI project including detailed project cost estimate; annual 
operation, maintenance, and replacement cost estimate; and life cycle costs shall be provided with 
sufficient detail to permit a more in-depth evaluation of the project, including non-construction costs. 
In this regard, the cost estimates shall clearly identify expenditures for major structures and facilities, 
as well as other types of construction and non-construction expenses, and shall be based on calculated 
quantities and unit prices. The estimated costs shall also be presented in terms of dollars per MG, 
and/or dollars per acre-foot of capacity, so as to facilitate comparison of the alternatives. References, 
design data, and assumptions must be identified. The level of detail shall be as required for feasibility 
studies in RM D&S, Cost Estimating (FAC 09-01). 

Description of waste-stream discharge treatment and disposal water quality requirements for the 
proposed Title XVI project. 

Description of at least two alternative measures, or technologies available for water reclamation, 
distribution, and reuse for the project under consideration. These alternatives must be approvable by 
the state(s) or tribal authorities in which the project will be located. 

75% covered in appraisal 
report 

 



7 
 

 Task 5 – Update Economic Analysis. 

Title XVI Feasibility Report Requirement  Existing Appraisal Report 

The economic analysis included in the feasibility study report shall describe the conditions that exist in 
the area and provide projections of the future with, and without, the project. Emphasis in the analysis 
must be given to the contributions that the plan could make toward alleviation of economic problems and 
the meeting of future demand. 

The Title XVI feasibility study must include a cost comparison of alternatives that would satisfy the same 
demand as the proposed Title XVI project. Alternatives used for comparison must be likely and realistic, 
and developed with the same standards with respect to interest rates and period of analysis. 

When a Title XVI project provides water supplies for municipal and industrial use, the benefits of the 
Title XVI project can be measured in terms of the cost of the alternative most likely to be implemented in 
the absence of the project. This is assuming that the two alternatives would provide comparable levels of 
service. 

Some Title XVI project benefits may be difficult to quantify; for example, a drought tolerant water 
supply, reduced water importation, and other social or environmental benefits. These benefits shall be 
documented and described qualitatively as completely as possible. These qualitative benefits can be 
considered as part of the justification for a Title XVI project in conjunction with the comparison of 
project costs described above. 

 

75% covered in appraisal report 

 Task 6  -  Update Selection of the Proposed Title XVI Project.  

Title XVI Feasibility Report Requirement  Existing Appraisal Report 

Provide a justification of why the proposed Title XVI project is the selected alternative in terms of 
meeting objectives, demands, needs, cost effectiveness, and other criteria important to the decision. 

Provide an analysis of whether the proposed Title XVI project would address the following: 

 Reduction, postponement, or elimination of development of new or expanded water supplies; Reduction 
or elimination of the use of existing diversions from natural watercourses, or withdrawals from aquifers; 

Reduction of demand on existing Federal water supply facilities; and 

Reduction, postponement, or elimination of new or expanded wastewater facilities.  

 

80% covered in appraisal 
report 



8 
 

 

 

Task 7 – Update Environmental Consideration and Potential Effects.  

 

Title XVI Feasibility Report Requirement  Existing Appraisal Report 

Discussion whether, and to what extent, the proposed Title XVI project will have potentially 
significant impacts on endangered or threatened species, public health or safety, natural resources, 
regulated waters of the United States, or cultural resources. 

Discussion whether, and to what extent, the project will have potentially significant environmental 
effects, or will involve unique or undefined environmental risks. 

Description of the status of required Federal, state, tribal, and/or local environmental compliance 
measures for the proposed Title XVI project, including copies of any documents that have been 
prepared, or results of any relevant studies. 

Any other information available to the study lead that would assist with assessing the measures that 
may be necessary to comply with NEPA, and other applicable Federal, state or local environmental 
laws Discussion of how the proposed Title XVI project will affect water supply and water quality 
from the perspective of a regional, watershed, aquifer, or river basin condition. 

Discussion of the extent to which the public was involved in the feasibility study, and a summary of 
comments received, if any. 

Description of the potential effects the project may have on historic properties. Discussion must 
include potential mitigation measures, the potential for adaptive reuse of facilities, an analysis of 
historic preservation costs, and the potential for heritage education, if necessary. 

If, at a later date, Reclamation will recommend the project to the Congress, or provide funds for 
construction, appropriate NEPA, and other environmental compliance, must be completed. 
 

75% covered in appraisal 
report 

 



9 
 

Task 8 – Update Legal and Institutional Requirements.  

 

Title XVI Feasibility Report Requirement  Existing Appraisal Report 

The Title XVI feasibility study shall identify any legal or institutional requirements, or barriers to 
implementing the proposed Title XVI project. 

Analysis of any water rights issues potentially resulting from implementation of the proposed water 
reclamation and reuse project. All proposed Title XVI projects must comply with state water law. 

Discussion of legal and institutional requirements (e.g., contractual water supply obligations, 
Indian trust responsibilities, water rights settlements, regional water quality control board 
requirements), state, and/or local requirements with the potential to affect implementation of the 
project. Title XVI projects using Reclamation project water must address contractual requirements 
as described in RM Policy, Reuse of Project Water (WTR P09). 

Discussion of the need for multi-jurisdictional or interagency agreements, any coordination 
undertaken, and any planned coordination activities. 

Discussion of permitting procedures required for the implementation of water reclamation projects 
in the study area, and any measures that the non-Federal project sponsor can implement that could 
speed the permitting process. 

Discussion of any unresolved issues associated with implementing the proposed water reclamation 
and reuse project, how and when such issues will be resolved, and how the project would be 
affected if such issues are not resolved. Identification of current and projected wastewater discharge 
requirements resulting from the proposed Title XVI project (e.g., brine disposal). 

Description of rights to wastewater discharges resulting from implementation of the proposed Title 
XVI project. 
 

75% covered in appraisal report 

 

  



10 
 

Task 9 – Update Financial Capability of Sponsor.  

 

Title XVI Feasibility Report Requirement  Existing Appraisal Report 

Proposed schedule for project implementation. 

Discussion of the willingness of the non-Federal project sponsor to pay for its share of capital costs 
and the full operation, maintenance, and replacement costs. 

A plan for funding the proposed water reclamation and reuse project’s construction, operation, 
maintenance, and replacement costs, including an analysis of how the non-Federal project sponsor 
will pay construction and annual operation, maintenance, and replacement costs. 

Description of all Federal and non-Federal sources of funding and any restrictions on such sources, 
for example, minimum or maximum cost-share limitations. Generally, for Title XVI authorized 
projects, the Federal cost share is limited to 25 percent, or $20,000,000, whichever is less. 
 

75% covered in appraisal report 

 

Task 10 – Update on Research Needs 

 

Title XVI Feasibility Report Requirement  Existing Appraisal Report 

Description of research needs associated with the proposed water reclamation and reuse project, 
including the objectives to be accomplished through research. 

Description of the basis for Reclamation participation in the identified research. 

Identification of the parties who will administer and conduct necessary research. 

Identification of the timeframe necessary for completion of necessary research. 

 

90% covered in appraisal report 



11 
 

2.5 Milestones 
 
Task 1 – Introduction ........................................................................................ January 31, 2017 
Task 2 - Problems and Needs .............................................................................. January 31, 2017 

   Task 3 – Water Reclamation and Reuse Opportunities ........................................ March 31, 2017 
Task 4 – Description of Alternatives ........................................................................ June 20, 2017 
Task 5 – Economic Analysis ................................................................................ August 31, 2017 
Task 6 – Selection of Proposed Title XVI Project .......................................... September 30, 2017 
Task 7 – Environmental Consideration and Potential Effects ...........................October 31, 2017 
Task 8 – Legal and Institutional Requirements........................................... November 30, 2017 
Task 9 – Financial Capability of Sponsor ....................................................... November 30, 2017 
Task 10 – Research Needs ............................................................................... November 30, 2017 
Submit to Reclamation for Review ................................................................. November 30, 2017 
Reclamation Review Completed ............................................................................. April 30, 2018 
Final Title XVI Report ............................................................................................. May 30, 2018 

 

3.0 EVALUATION CRITERION 

3.1 Evaluation Criterion 1: Statement of Problems and Needs —10 Points 

3.1.1 Water Needs of Palmdale Water District 

The District serves a combination of residential, commercial, and industrial users, with essentially 
no agriculture. The District's current water delivery system provided approximately 23,000 acre-
feet each year in 2013 and 2014. Table 1 provides a water demand projection for the District's 
service area, based on the District's 2016 Water Master Plan. 

 
By 2040, demand is projected to be 31,100 acre-feet per year. A land use analysis indicates that 
demand will be 44,600 acre-feet per year under build-out conditions. 
 

Table 1: Projected Water Demands for Palmdale Water District Service area 

Year Annual Average Demand (AF/yr) 
2015 24,809 
2020 25,900 
2030 28,500 
2040 31,100 
2050 33,873 
2060 36,892 
2070 40,181 
2080 43,764 

Buildout 44,600  

 



12 
 

To determine the need for recycled water several assumptions were made as follows: 

 from adjudication of the Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin the District would 
receive a groundwater right of 7,200 acre-feet/year beginning with an effective date of 
2022. This is a reduction from the District’s historical groundwater pumping of 12,000 
acre-feet. 

 District would receive an average allocation of 58% of its 21,300 acre-feet /year Table 
A allocation from the SWP which would amount to12,354 acre-feet/year; and 

 4,000 acre-feet/year of local surface water would be available in Littlerock Reservoir 

Based on these assumptions future water supply deficits would likely occur during these time 

frames. 

 a water supply deficit could start by 2021. 

o by 2040, it is estimated that the deficit will reach approximately 7,500 acre-feet/year. 

 by 2067, this deficit would reach approximately 15,600 acre-feet/year; and 

 At build-out (2080) the deficit would reach 21,600 acre-feet/year. 

In dry years, when the SWP allocation is less than 58% of Table A allocation, these deficits 
would be much larger without long-term water supply storage such as with groundwater 
banking. 

 
3.1.2 Regional Water Needs of Antelope Valley 

Given that the Antelope Valley is highly dependent on imported SWP water for water 
supply, it is commensurately dependent on the hydrological availability of surface water in 
every year. The greater Antelope Valley will face a water supply deficit under average, dry 
and multi-dry year hydrological conditions. Table 2 presents the additional water supplies 
required for Antelope Valley through year 2040. 

Table 2 — Additional Supplies Required for Other Areas of Antelope Valley 

Assumed Hydrologic Condition 2015 2020 2025 2030 2035 2040 

Average Year SWP Table A 
Amount Required (acre-feet / year) 

  
- 5,000 32,200 55,700 84,700 

Multi-Dry Year SWP Table A 
Amount Required (acre-feet I year) 

  
- 25,000 28,300 31,400 35,800 

Single Thy Year Water Banking 
Capacity Required (acre-feet/year) 

10,400 8,400 17,400 30,600 41,900 55,800 
 

3.2 Evaluation Criterion 2: Water Reclamation and Reuse Opportunities — 15 
points 

(1) Describe how the feasibility study will investigate potential uses for reclaimed water 
(e.g., environmental restoration, fish and wildlife, groundwater recharge, municipal, 
domestic, industrial, agricultural, power generation, and recreation). 



13 
 

The District completed in June 2016, an appraisal study that evaluated the potential for 
water reuse and groundwater banking to meet its future water demands. Ten alternatives 
for delivery recycled water for groundwater recharge were investigated at the appraisal 
level. From the alternatives, a preferred water delivery and recharge system has been 
selected for study at the feasibility level. At build-out population for the District's service 
area, the future unallocated 12,100 acre-feet of effluent water from the Los Angeles 
County Sanitation District's Palmdale Water Reclamation Plant would be put to 
beneficially use through the proposed Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and 
Recovery Project. 

A small hydropower plant of 420 kilowatt that would potentially generate 3,000,000 kilowatt-
hours of electricity will be evaluated in the feasibility study. 

(2) Describe the potential water market available to use any recycled water that might be 
produced upon completion of a water reuse project, as well as methods to stimulate 
recycled water demand and methods to eliminate obstacles for use of reclaimed water. 

 
The District is both a developer of water supplies and a retailer for the developed water 
supply. As such, the District would use the 12,100 acre-feet of recycled water and blend it 
with water from the SWP and/or another source for subsequent recharge to the 
groundwater aquifer.  

 (3) Describe the sources of water that will be investigated for potential reclamation, 
including impaired surface and ground waters. 

Wastewater from Los Angeles County Sanitation District’s Palmdale Water Reclamation 
Plant would be used as the recycled water component of the groundwater recharge plan. At 
the present time the effluent from the plant produces about 10,000 acre-feet per year and is 
disposed of by use on non-edible agricultural crops.  In November 2016, the Sanitation 
District and the Palmdale Water District signed an agreement that provides the District the 
right to use the reclaimed water for the Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and 
Recovery Project. 

 
3.3 Evaluation Criterion 3: Description of Potential Alternatives — 15 points 

 (1) Describe the objectives that all alternatives will be designed to meet. What other water 
supply alternatives will be investigated as part of the feasibility study? 

The overarching objective is to meet the District's ultimate water demand of 44,600 acre-
feet at population build-out. This will require an additional reliable water supply of 21,600 
above the existing water supply. Another objective is to make maximum use of locally 
available water from waste water treatment plants. This will require blending a water 
source of good quality with recycled water in which the blended water could be recharged 
to the groundwater aquifer and be used as a storage reservoir during drought years. 

As discussed in previous sections of this grant application, an evaluation at the appraisal level 
of ten alternatives was made. In addition, a comparison was made of what would the cost be to 
not include recycled water as part of the District's portfolio of water supply projects. To arrive 



14 
 

at the cost, an assumption was made that the next best alternative would be to purchase SWP 
Table A water from one of the other 29 SWP Contractors. 

Completed Appraisal Level Alternatives  

Ten (10) alternatives were evaluated at the appraisal level and documented in the June 2016 
report Generalizations regarding the alternatives include: 

 Alternatives 1 and 2 assume run-of the river for recharge, with Alternative 1 
delivering imported water directly from the East Branch of the California Aqueduct 
of the SWP. Alternative 2 would utilize a pipeline to deliver from the East Branch 
to a point in Littlerock Creek about half-way to Palmdale Boulevard; thus, avoiding 
most of the gravel quarries. 

 Alternatives 3 through 10 assume pipeline delivery of imported water from the East 
Branch directly to constructed recharge basins, with no water in or from Littlerock 
Creek. 

 The recharge basins for Alternatives 3 and 9 are proposed on the east side of the 
Littlerock Creek, and would be served from a new turnout along 87th Street and 
pipeline continuing north in 906 Street. 

 The recharge basins for Alternatives 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 are proposed on the west side of the 
Littlerock Creek, and would be served from a new turnout (and pipeline) along 70`h 
Street. 

 Alternatives 7, 8, and 9 are within the limits of the Los Angeles World Airport 
(LAWA) 17,000-acre property that was acquired in the 1960s for a regional airport 
that was never constructed. Alternative 6 is mostly within LAWA property. 
Alternatives 3, 4, and 5 are south of the LAWA property, and Alternative 10 is north 
of the LAWA property. Alternative 10 is located within an area designated by Los 
Angeles County Sanitation District for a future Effluent Management Site. 

 Alternative 10 alignment was further refined to become Alternative 10A, 10B and 
10C. 

Purchase of Additional State Water Project Water 
 
This alternative was not addressed in the appraisal study but will be evaluated in the feasibility 
study.   
 
Water Conservation 

Water conservation was included in the future water demands in the appraisal study.  In the 
feasibility study, an expanded discussion will be included to incorporate programs such as 
water saving household feature such as showers and toilets and the adoption of Landscape 
Water Efficiency measure. 



15 
 

 (2) Provide a general description of the proposed project that will be the subject of a 
feasibility study. 

An appraisal level study was completed in June 2016 with a recommendation that alternative 10 C 
be investigated at the feasibility level. The study would address the feasibility report requirements 
as presented in Reclamation's Directive and Standard (D&S) for feasibility studies conducted 
under the Bureau of Reclamation's Water Reclamation and Reuse (Title XVI) Program. 
 
The appraisal level cost of the recycled water project is in the $55 million range in capital 
facilities. Additional costs will be incurred for the purchase of recycled water and SWP water. 
Infrastructure will include a new 30-inch diameter, seven (7) mile long pipeline from the 
California Aqueduct to the recharge site. New spreading grounds of 160 acres will be 
constructed to recharge water to the groundwater basin. For Phase I, four (4) new extraction 
wells will be constructed to recover the water during dry years. An additional four (4) wells 
would be constructed as part of Phase 2. Phase 2 could be constructed along with Phase 1 if 
other partners decide to participate in the project. During Phase 2, a small 420 kilowatt 
hydropower plant could possibly be constructed on the 30-inch pipeline that conveys water 
from the California Aqueduct. 
 
Proposed project features of Alternative 10 C to be studied at the feasibility level include: 

 SWP Turnout: A new 50-cfs turnout would be constructed at the intersection of the 
aqueduct and 87th Street or 106th Street. 

 Groundwater Basin(s): The alternative recharges the Lancaster sub-basin. Surface area of 
the recharge basin is 160 acres from the appraisal level study of June 2016. 

 Recharge Site: The project area's perimeter is comprised of 100th Street to the west, East 
Avenue L to the north, and 105th Street to the east. The area extends approximately 0.5 
miles south of East Avenue L. 

 Distribution Site: The 1-million gallon head tank, pump headers, and chlorination building 
are intended to accommodate the ultimate demand. 

 Raw Water Conveyance: The raw water supply is proposed to be conveyed from the new 
turnout either (1) 7.9 miles north along 87th/90th Street, 1.5 miles east across Avenue N, 
then 1.5 miles north along 105th Street, or (2) 9.0 miles north along 106'h/105th Street. The 
westerly (90th Street) alignment involves 9.9 miles of 30-inch and 1.5 miles of 36-inch 
pipeline. The easterly (105th Street) alignment requires 7.5 miles of 30-inch and 1.5 mile 
of 36-inch pipeline. Although the westerly (90th Street) alignment is 1.9 miles longer, it is 
also closer the District's distribution system for the delivery of potable extraction water. 

 Recycled Water Conveyance: The recycled water is proposed to be supplied from Los 
Angeles County Sanitation District's existing pipeline along Avenue N to a turn-out 
delivering recycled water to the combined raw water and recycled water pipeline along 
105th Street described above. 



16 
 

 Recovery Wells: This alternative requires 8 recovery wells at build-out, all with a 
capacity of 1,200 gallons-per-minute (gpm) in the Lancaster sub-basin. Two of the wells 
are spares. The wells are located 4,500 feet from the center of the recharge site in a 
radial pattern. The first phase of the project requires 4 wells in the Lancaster sub-basin. 
The remaining 4 wells would be constructed in the second phase of the project.  

 Hydropower Evaluation: A small hydropower plant will be evaluated at the feasibility 
level. The appraisal level concluded that a plant of approximately 420 kilowatt could be 
installed on the pipeline leading from the SWP California Aqueduct to the recharge basin. 
The elevation drop in this distance is about 300 feet. 

 
If other partners participate in the construction of the project, it will be necessary to include a 
pump and pipeline to deliver raw (untreated) water to interties for the partner participants.  

 
Describe alternative measures or technologies for water reclamation, distribution, and reuse 
that will be investigated as part of the feasibility study. 

The technology used will be to determine the optimum ratio of blended SWP water or other 
water sources and recycled water to recharge to the groundwater basin. This blending is 
required in order to meet State of California regulations concerning the use of treated 
wastewater for recharge to a groundwater aquifer. 

In order to ensure the most effective blended ratio of recycled water and diluent water for the 
size of the water bank, four blending options were defined at the appraisal level. These 
preliminary blending options will be further refined in the feasibility level analysis. 

 Blending Option I — Low Water Treatment Plant (WTP) Utilization: This option 
assumes minimal surface water allocation for treatment at the District's water 
treatment plant, with surface water treatment remaining constant at about 4,000 acre-
feet per year over the project's life cycle. This minimal flow is intended to maintain 
granular activated carbon filters at the treatment plant. The remaining surface water 
would be stored in the water bank through surface spreading and recovered using new 
wells. This option applies to all ten (10) alternatives. 

 Blending Option 2 — Moderate WTP Utilization with Recycled Water for Groundwater 
Recharge: This option assumes that the treatment plant would serve only 25 percent of 
the total retail water demands every year. The remaining available surface water would 
be delivered to the water bank for both recovery and banking, with banked water 
available in dry years. Option 2 assumes groundwater recharge through a combination 
of surface and recycled water. This blending option applies to alternatives 3 through 
10. 

 Blending Option 3 — Moderate WIT Utilization without Recycled Water for 
Groundwater Recharge: This option is essentially the same as Blending Option 2, but 
assumes local surface water supply only for recharge. This option applies to only 
alternatives 1 and 2. 



17 
 

 Blending Option 4 — High WTP utilization: This scenario assumes that the majority of 
surface water would be treated at the District's water treatment plant. It also assumes 
that the water treatment plant's utilization will grow from about 25 percent of total 
retail water demands in the beginning of project's life cycle (2018) to about 65 percent 
by the end of project's 50-year financial evaluation (2067). The remaining surface 
water and available recycled water would be stored in the water bank and recovered 
using new wells. This blending option applies to all ten (10) alternatives. 

 
With an initial recycled water contribution of 20%, increasing to 30% after 5 years, 40% after 
8 years, and 50% after 11 years, the District concluded that when evaluated at the appraisal 
level, Blending Option 2 defines an optimum utilization of recycled water and project 
capacity. Through this blending option, the water treatment plant serves 25 percent of demands 
with the water bank serving 45.4%, 51.5%, and 54.4% of the water demand in 2040, 2067, and 
at build-out, respectively. 
 
3.4 Evaluation Criterion 4: Stretching Water Supplies - 15 points 
 

(1) Describe the potential for the project to reduce, postpone, or eliminate the development 
of new or expanded water supplies. Include description of any specific issues that will be 
investigated or information that will be developed as part of the feasibility study. 

The District and the City of Palmdale are taking proactive steps towards expanding the use of 
non-potable water to meet a variety of non-potable and indirect potable uses through the 
formation of the Palmdale Recycle Water Authority (a Joint Powers Authority comprised of 
the District and the City of Palmdale). One of the District's goals is to utilize any available 
recycled water for groundwater replenishment as part of the optimal blend of supply 
alternatives to address future needs. In essence, all of the available water in the District's 
service area will be used to meet the ultimate water demand at build-out for the District's 
delivery system boundaries. 

 
(2) Describe the potential for the project to reduce or eliminate the use of existing 

diversions from natural watercourses or withdrawals from aquifers. Include description 
of any specific issues that will be investigated or information that will be developed as 
part of the feasibility study. 

The recommended project alternative (10C) provides the District with a reliable water supply 
solution for ultimate build-out and provides the most cost-effective solution when analyzed 
over a long-term basis. Given District's heavy dependence on SWP water for supply, water 
banking allows the District to maximize its SWP Table A allocations and minimize future 
purchase of Table A water in order to meet dry-year hydrological conditions. Additionally, the 
project's utilization of recycled water for recharge further offsets the need for SWP water. By 
implementing the Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project that the demand 
for future import water such as from the SWP and/or other water imports would be reduced by 
52,000 acre-feet annually. 
 



18 
 

In order to demonstrate the cost benefits of the recommended project, an appraisal level cost 
analysis of the recommended project versus two alternative water supply strategies was made: (1) 
water banking without recycled water (20,000 acre-feet more) and (2) no water banking (52,000 
acre-feet more). Calculations as presented in the appraisal level report shows that implementation 
of the Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project is $300,000,000 less 
expensive than pursuing a continual course of purchasing water such as from the SWP. The 
appraisal level cost is presented using the cost for SWP as a comparison. Other sources of water 
will be considered at the feasibility level to fully weigh the cost of water recycling compared with 
the next best alternative. 

(1) Describe the potential for the project to reduce the demand on existing Federal water supply 
facilities. Include description of any specific issues that will be investigated or information that will be 
developed as part of the feasibility study. 

The federal project most likely affected would be the Central Valley Project (CVP) of California. 
The reduced future demand on diversions from imports outside of the Antelope Valley could be 
as much as 52,000 acre-feet annually. 

 
3.5 Evaluation Criterion 5: Environment and Water Quality — 15 points 

(1) Describe the potential for the project to improve the quality of surface or 
groundwater, including description of any specific issues that will be investigated or 
information that will be developed as part of the feasibility study. 

The project would improve the quality of the Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin by 
recharging with good quality SWP water. 

(2) Describe the potential for the project to improve flow conditions in a natural stream 
channel, including a description of any specific issues that will be investigated or 
information that will be developed as part of the feasibility study. 

There would not be any direct improvement to stream flows in the project area. Littlerock 
Creek is not a perennial stream with no streamflow in the channel for most of the year. 
There could be an indirect benefit to streams which contribute flows to the SWP and the 
Bureau of Reclamation's Central Valley Project by a reduction in water demands on this 
imported water supply through implementation of local water recycling. 

 
(3) Describe the potential for the project to provide water or habitat, for federally listed 

threatened or endangered species, including description of any specific issues that will 
be investigated or information that will be developed as part of the feasibility study. 

The project would not directly provide water to threatened and endangered species in the 
project area. There would be an indirect benefit to the threatened and endangered species in 
Bay-Delta Area of California by reduction in water demands on imported SWP water supply 
through implementation of local water recycling. 

 



19 
 

3.6 Evaluation Criterion 6: Legal and Institutional Requirements — 10 Points 

Points will be awarded based on the extent to which the proposal demonstrates that the 
feasibility study will address legal or institutional requirements or barriers to implementing a 
project, including water rights issues and any unresolved issues associated with 
implementation of a water reclamation and reuse project 

3.6.1 Recycled Water Regulations 

Alternatives with recycled water recharge would require permitting through the Regional Water 
Quality Control Board (RWQCB) and coordination with the extraction for potable use 
requirements from the California State Water Quality Control Board Division of Drinking 
Water (DDW) (formerly California Department of Public Health [CDPH]). The recycled water 
replenishment regulations adopted on June 18, 2014 identify the requirements and approval 
process, which can be lengthy and complex. Regulations require that any recycled water 
recharged be blended with a diluent source of higher quality water supply. While blending does 
not have to physically occur at the time of recharge, the replenishment area must be essentially 
the same for both recycled water and diluent supply for proper blending. It is anticipated that 
the initial blending requirement will be 80 percent diluent with 20 percent recycled water. With 
successful water quality testing and monitoring, it is anticipated that the blending requirement 
will gradually be decreased to 50 percent diluent water within 11 years. 

In recent discussions with the Los Angeles County Sanitation District, the figure of 50 percent 
is probably too optimistic. Water recycling for groundwater replenishment in the Orange 
County area is present limited to about 38% by the California Water Quality Control Board. 
The feasibility level study will re-evaluate the allowable diluent ratios. 

3.6.2 Groundwater Adjudication 

 
Due to the extensive agricultural use over the past century, the Antelope Valley Groundwater 
Basin (AV Basin) has been in an overdraft condition (i.e., pumping greater than natural 
recharge) since about 1930, leading to rapidly declining groundwater head that caused land 
subsidence. In 1999, the process to adjudicate groundwater production rights in the AV Basin 
was initiated. In 2011, the adjudication court ruled that the safe yield (equivalent to natural 
recharge plus return flows) of the AV Basin is 110,000 acre-feet per year. Although groundwater 
production has declined significantly from its peak in the 1950s — 60s, it remains above the safe 
yield of the AV Basin. The adjudication process seeks to allocate the declared safe yield to the 
various groundwater producers in the AV Basin. This process will result in groundwater 
producers having diminished access to groundwater resources in the future. The adjudication 
process was completed in December 2015. Under the adjudication of the groundwater basin, the 
District would be assured of an annual water supply of 7,200 acre-feet. 
 

3.7 Evaluation Criterion 7: Renewable Energy and Energy Efficiency — 10 
points 

Points will be awarded based on the extent to which the proposal demonstrates that the 
feasibility study will address methods to incorporate the use of renewable energy or will 



20 
 

otherwise address energy efficiency aspects of the water reclamation and reuse project being 
investigated. 

3.7.1 Hydropower Potential 

The available head drop from the California SWP Aqueduct to the point where recycled water 
and SWP water would be blended is approximately 300 feet. A preliminary analysis concludes 
that the available head of 300 feet and flow rate of 50 cubic feet per second (cfs) from the 
SWP California Aqueduct would sustain a 420 kilowatt power plant with a potential energy 
generation of 3,000,000 kilowatt-hours of electricity during wet years. 

3.7.2 Greenhouse Gas Reduction 

An analysis was conducted to estimate energy generation and greenhouse gas (GHG) reduction 
potential from the development of a hydropower project as part of Alternative 10 C. To 
calculate the GHG emissions associated with this renewable energy project the Southern 
California Edison (SCE) GHG emissions factor was used. The project results in a net average 
reduction of nearly 650 metric tons of CO2 per year. 

3.7.3 Self-Generation Incentive Program 

A hydropower project is eligible for the Self-Generation Incentive Program (SGIP), which 
provides incentives to entities that produce electricity from renewables. The total SGIP 
incentive for this project is estimated to be $449,400. 

3.8 Evaluation Criterion 8: Watershed Perspective — 10 points 

Points will be awarded based on the extent to which the proposal demonstrates that the 
feasibility study will address alternatives that promote and apply a regional or• watershed 
perspective to water resource management. 

The Antelope Valley region is located in northern Los Angeles County with a population of 
about 400,000. In response to meeting future water needs several entities within the valley united 
their efforts and developed an overall watershed management approach to meeting their future 
water needs. 

These entities include: 

AVEK Water Agency 
— City of Palmdale 
— City of Lancaster 
 Palmdale Recycle Water Authority 
— Littlerock Creek Irrigation District 

 Los Angeles County Sanitation 
District Nos. 14 and 20 

 Los Angeles County Water Works  
Quartz Hill Water District 

 Rosamond Community Services 
District 

Working together these agencies in 2013 developed an Integrated Water Resource 
Management Plan (IWRMP) for Antelope Valley and prioritized a list of 17 projects to meet 
future needs of the watershed. The Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery 
Project is one of those projects and will be a contributor from a watershed perspective. In 
terms of ranking, it was ranked as the 2nd highest in terms of priority for implementation in the 
IWRMP.  The Palmdale Water District is in discussions with these entities to be partners in the 
construction of Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project. 



21 
 

 

4.0 REQUIRED PERMITS OR APPROVALS 

Applicants must state in the application whether any permits or approvals are required for 
developing the proposed feasibility study and explain the plan for obtaining such permits or 
approvals. 

The Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project appraisal level study 
identified potential environmental constraints for the ten (10) alternatives. Two reports have 
been completed and the findings documented: 

 Biological Constraints Associated with the Palmdale Water District's Littlerock Creek 
Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project (Helix Environmental Planning, 2014) 

 Phase I Cultural Resources Assessment for the Littlerock Creek Groundwater 
Recharge and Recovery Project (Applied Earthworks, Inc., 2014) 

 Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project Final 
Environmental Impact Report (Helix Environmental Planning, 2016) 

Key findings from these three reports are presented herein. 

4.1 Biological 

Biological investigation for the appraisal level study was based on a literature review and 
reconnaissance survey of the ten (10) preliminary alternative sites. The survey included 
mapping vegetation communities, developing comprehensive lists of plant and animal species 
observed, conducting habitat assessments for listed and sensitive species, and identifying 
areas or features potentially under the jurisdiction of federal and/or state resource agencies. 
The biological reconnaissance surveys were conducted on June 18 and 19, and November 18, 
2014. 

A thorough review was made of relevant maps, databases, and literature pertaining to 
biological resources known to occur within the study area. This literature review also served to 
place the project within a regulatory context, accounting for related and applicable federal and 
state regulations. Recent aerial imagery, topographic maps, and soils maps were acquired and 
reviewed to obtain updated information on the study area's biological setting. In addition, 
sensitive species and habitat databases were reviewed, including the California Department of 
Fish and Wildlife (CDFW), California Natural Diversity Database, the California Native Plant 
Society Electronic Inventory, and regional lists produced by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service 
(USFWS). The pre-survey investigation also included a verification of whether or not the 
project site falls within areas designated as final or proposed USFWS Critical Habitat for any 
federally-threatened or endangered species. 

An appraisal level biological survey was made of all ten (10) alternatives. Based on the results 
of the biological reconnaissance, habitat assessments, and the project's regulatory context, the 
least-biologically constrained area within the Project site is Alternative site 10C. Except for 
several areas of active desert dunes and rabbit brush scrub, Alternative site IOC is entirely 
disturbed, with upland habitat dominated by Russian thistle. 



22 
 

Based on the potential constraints identified, the District recommended a suite of studies to 
fully disclose potential impacts and permitting requirements be addressed at the feasibility 
level: 

 Rare plant survey, specifically targeting sagebrush loellingia; 

 Protocol-level surveys for burrowing owl; 

 Protocol-level surveys for desert tortoise; 

 Protocol-level trapping for Mohave ground squirrel; 

 Formal jurisdictional delineation; and 

 Biological resources technical report to support California Environmental Quality Act 
(CEQA) and NEPA documentation. 

Under a worse-case scenario and assuming impacts to resources could not be avoided, the 
following agency permits could be required: 

 Federal Endangered Species Act (FESA) Section 7 Biological Opinion and Incidental 
Take Statement or Section 10(a) HCP and Incidental Take Permit from the USFWS for 
impacts on desert tortoise; 

 California Endangered Species Act (CESA) Section 2080.1 Consistency Determination 
from CDFW for impacts on desert tortoise; 

 CESA Section 2081 Memorandum of Agreement and Incidental Take Permit from CDFW 
for impacts on Mohave ground squirrel; 

 Clean Water Act (CWA) Section 404 Individual Permit or Nationwide Permit from 
USACE for impacts on waters of the U.S. (if Littlerock Creek, including paled-channels 
and tributaries, is considered jurisdictional); 

 CWA Section 401 Water Quality Certification from SWRCB or RWQCB for impacts on 
waters of the U.S./waters of the State (if Littlerock Creek, including paleo-channels and 
tributaries, is considered jurisdictional); 

 State Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act Waste Discharge Requirements from the 
SWRCB or Regional Water Quality Control Board (RWQCB) for impacts on isolated 
waters of the State; and/or 

 Fish and Game Code Section 1602 Streambed Alteration Agreement from CDFW for 
impacts on jurisdictional streambed or riparian habitat. 

4.2 Cultural Resources 

The District's cultural resources investigation was conducted in accordance with CEQA. An 
archaeological literature and records search, a search of the Sacred Lands File from the Native 
American Heritage Commission, and a reconnaissance level archaeological survey of 10 percent of 
the project area was performed. Native American individuals and organizations were also 



23 
 

contacted to obtain additional information and/or concerns regarding cultural resource issues 
related to the project. 

The archaeological literature and records search indicated that 45 cultural resources are present 
within a 1-mile radius of the project area. A search of the Sacred Lands File from the Native 
American Heritage Commission indicated that no Native American cultural resources are 
known to exist within the immediate study area. Native American individuals and organizations 
were contacted to elicit information and/or concerns regarding cultural resource issues related 
to the proposed Project. 
 
Comments received stated that Littlerock was a drawing area for Native American people. As 
such, it was suggested that an archaeological and Native American monitor be present for new 
development in undisturbed areas. It was also noted that the study area has been occupied 
continuously by Native American ancestors, and it was recommended that a culturally-
affiliated Native American monitor to be present during all ground-disturbing activities. The 
Tribal Historic and Cultural Preservation Representative for the Fernandefio Tataviam Band. 
of Mission Indians indicated that the study area is located in a culturally sensitive area. 

A reconnaissance level archaeological survey of 10 percent of project area (approximately 
382 acres) was performed by on June 17-20, 2014 and November 17— 18, 2014. As a result, 
17 archaeological resources were identified, 16 historic archaeological sites, and one 
prehistoric isolated artifact, indicating the archaeological sensitivity of the study area to be 
moderate to high. Once the project alternative and design are finalized, an intensive Phase I 
pedestrian survey of the direct impact areas is recommended. Based on this inventory of 
cultural resources the District recommends that an evaluation program be developed to assess 
the significance of these cultural resources as historical resources under CEQA. This 
recommended evaluation program will determine whether the project will impact any 
significant cultural resources, at which time further management recommendations can be 
made. 

4.3 Water Quality Regulations  

4.3.1 Title 22 report 

California's Department of Public Health's Drinking Water Program Code of Regulations has 
established regulations regarding groundwater replenishment with recycled municipal 
wastewater. The Department requires that a Title 22 Report be completed by the project 
sponsor assessing the Littlerock Creek Groundwater Recharge and Recovery project's 
compliance with Code of Regulations.  A draft Title 22 Report was completed in March 2016 
and is the process of being reviewed by appropriate State of California Regulatory Agencies. 

4.3.2 Criteria for blending 

The feasibility level study will make refinements in the appraisal level analysis of blending 
ratios for recycled water with good quality water from the SWP or from other sources. 
Regulations regarding the allowable ratio will be addressed and included in the feasibility 
level report. 

 



24 
 

4.3.3 Policy for Water Quality Control for Recycled Water 

Policy regarding water recycling became effective April 25, 2013. One of the requirements is 
that every region in California develop a salt/nutrient management plan that is sustainable on a 
long-term basis. The Antelope Valley developed in 2014 a salt/nutrient plan to the Lahontan 
Regional Water Quality Control Board of California. In December 2014, the regional board 
approved the salt/nutrient plan for Antelope Valley. 

 
5.0  FUNDING PLAN AND LETTERS OF COMMITMENT 
 
The District will provide In-kind services of $50,034 to fund the entire non-Reclamation 
cost share of the Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project. The 
District has these funds available and is identified in the District's 2017 budget. 

 5.1 Revenues 

The District is a retailer of water and receives revenue from the sale of water, connection fees, 
and the District's portion of Los Angeles County's 1% property tax revenues. 

 5.2 Bonding Capacity 

The District's bonding rating is "A+" and has bonded for projects in the $40 million range.  

 5.3 Funding Plan 

1) The amount of funding commitment $ 75,034 
2) The date the funds will be available to the applicant January 1, 2017 
3) Any time constraints on the availability of funds - There are no time 

constraints on the availability of District funds 
4) Any other contingencies associated with the funding commitment There 

are no contingencies 

Table 3. Summary of Non-Federal and Federal Funding Sources 

Funding sources Funding amount 

Non-Federal Entities   

Palmdale Water District — In-kind Services $50,034

Non-Federal Subtotal $50,034
    

Requested Reclamation Funding: $25,000 
    

Total Study Funding: $75,034  

 



25 
 

5.4 Letters of Support 

Not applicable. 
 
6.0 BUDGET PROPOSAL and NARRATIVE 

 6.1 Budget Proposal 

Table 4 – Budget Proposal 

BUDGET ITEM DESCRIPTION 
COMPUTATION Quantity  

Type 
TOTAL  
COST $/Unit Quantity

Salaries and Wages 

James Riley (Project Lead) $67.17/hour 779 Hours $    52,344 

Richard Heinonen (GIS) $41.23/hour 100 Hours $      4,123 

Mike West (CADD) $39.27/hour 101 Hours $      3,986 

Fringe Benefits 

James Riley (Project Lead) $14.88/hour 779 Hours $    11,592 

Richard Heinonen (GIS) $13.59/hour 100 Hours $      1,359 

Mike West (CADD) $16.33/hour 101 Hours $      1,649 

Equipment 

Item A  Not applicable     $    0 

Supplies and Materials 

Item A  Not applicable     $    0 

Contractual/Construction 

Item A Not applicable     

Other 

Other       $ 

TOTAL DIRECT COSTS $ 75,034 

Indirect Costs 

Type of rate   Not applicable    $    0 

TOTAL ESTIMATED PROJECT COSTS $ 75,034 

 

Table 5 below shows the percent contribution for both the District and Reclamation.  
 

 
Table 5 – Percent contribution of federal and non-federal participants 

 

Funding Source Percent of Total Project Costs Total Cost by Source 
Recipient (District) Funding                     66.7% $ 50,034 
Reclamation Funding   33.3% $ 25,000 

Total                 100% $75,034 



26 
 

6.2 Salaries and Wages 

James Riley, Engineering/Grant Manager, for the Palmdale Water District will serve as 
the project lead for the Palmdale Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project grant 
project. Person hours for each task are shown in the Table 6 below. 

Table 6 – Salaries and Wages by Tasks 

  James 
Riley 
(Project 
Lead) 

Richard 
Heinonen 
(GIS) 

Mike 
West 
(CADD) 

 
Total 
Hours 

 
 
Cost 

Rate ($/hour)  $82.05  $54.82  $55.60     

Tasks  Hours for Each Personnel     

Task 1 – Update Introductory Information  15      15  $1,231 

Task 2 – Update Problems and Needs  24      24  $1,969 

Task 3 – Update Water Reclamation and 
Reuse Opportunities 

40  20  21  81  $5,565 

Task 4 – Update Description of Alts.  120  60  60  240  $16,471 

Task 5 – Update Economic Analysis  120      120  $9,846 

Task 6 – Update Selection of Proposed Title 
XVI Project 

70  20  20  110  $7,952 

Task 7 – Update Environmental 
Consideration and Potential Impacts 

120      120  $9,846 

Task 8 – Update Legal and Institutional 
Requirements 

120      120  $9,846 

Task 9 – Update Financial Capability of the 
District 

120      120  $9,846 

Task 10 – Research Needs  30      30  $2,462 

TOTALS  779  100  101    $75,034 
 
6.3 Fringe Benefits 
Fringe benefits for District employees include holidays, dental, vision, health insurance and 
retirement under the California state retirement system (PERS). The fringe rate varies by 
employee depending on whether they elect to participant in available benefits. See Table 7 
below for the key employees that will be working on the project. 

Table 7 – Fringe Benefits 

District Employee Basic Pay Rate Fringe Rate Pay Rate + Fringe Rate 

James Riley $67.17 $14.88 $82.05 

Richard Heinonen $41.23 $13.59 $54.82 

Mike West $59.00 $16.33 $55.60  



27 
 

6.4 Travel 

If travel is required, the District will cover the cost under  

6.5 Equipment 

No special equipment is required. 

6.6 Material and Supplies 

The District will not be charging any supplies to the project. 

6.7 Contractual 

Not applicable – the District will complete all work through In-kind services. 
 
 6.8 Feasibility Report and Reporting to Reclamation 

Included in District’s In-kind services 

 6.9 Direct Costs 

District will not be charging the grant any direct costs.  These costs will be covered by the District’s 
operating budget for 2017. 

6.10 Indirect Costs 

District will not be charging to the project any in-direct costs.  These costs will be covered by the 
District’s operating budget for 2017. 

6.11 Total Costs 

Total project feasibility project cost is $ 75,034 

6.12 Budget Forms 

Forms SF-424, SF-424A and SF-424 B are included with this grant application. 

7.0 PRE-AWARD COSTS 
 

The District plans to initiate work on the feasibility study beginning January1, 2017. If the 
District is selected for a grant under Funding Opportunity Announcement No. BOR-DO-17-
F003, it is requested that contractual terms cover the work starting from January 1, 2017. 

8.0 DRAFT OFFICIAL RESOLUTION 

The Palmdale Water District Board of Directors will pass a resolution at the bi-weekly board 
meeting on January 11, 2017.  A draft of the resolution is included in this grant application. 



28 

DRAFT RESOLUTION No. 17-2
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
APPROVING THE DISTRICT’S GRANT APPLICATION FOR THE 

PALMDALE REGIONAL GROUNDWATER 
RECHARGE AND RECOVERY PROJECT FOR 

THE U.S. BUREAU OF RECLAMATION’S 
WATERSMART FEASIBILITY STUDIES UNDER TITLE XVI 

WATER RECLAMATION AND REUSE PROJECT FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017 

WHEREAS, the United  Sates Department of  Interior, Bureau of Reclamation (the “Bureau”) 
has established the WaterSMART: Development of Feasibility Studies under the Title XVI Water 
Reclamation and Reuse Program  for 2017 (the “ WaterSMART Program”) to provide funding 
opportunities for entities seeking new water supplies using water recycling and reuse technologies; 

WHEREAS, the Palmdale Water District has need for funding to complete a feasibility level 
study of using recycled water to meet future municipal and industrial water needs, particularly for the 
Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery Project (the “Project”); 

WHEREAS, the WaterSMART Program requires at least 50 percent non-Federal cost share 
funding and/or in-kind contribution from applicants and the Board finds the District has the capability of 
funding its required share of the Project under its current Budget for 2017. 

NOW THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE PALMDALE WATER  
DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. Funding for the Palmdale Regional Groundwater Recharge and Recovery 
Project  (the “Project”) under the WaterSMART Grant Program meets the objectives of Strategic 
Initiative # 1 - Water Resource Reliability. 

SECTION 2. if selected for a WaterSMART Grant, up to 66.7% ($50,034) of the total project 
costs of $75,000 through in-kind services shall be committed for funding the District’s proportionate 
share of the Project, as may be required by the Bureau of Reclamation under the WaterSMART Grant 
Program, and the District will work with the Bureau to meet established deadlines for entering into an 
agreement to commit such funds. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS     11th  day of January 2017. 

_______________________          _________________________ 
Robert Alvarado, President             Joe Estes, Secretary       
Board of Directors               Board of Directors 
Palmdale Water District                 Palmdale Water District 

__________________________________ 
Aleshire & Wynder. LLP 
District Legal Counsel 



P A L M D A L E  W A T E R  D I S T R I C T

B O A R D  M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: January 4, 2017 January 11, 2017 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS Board Meeting 

FROM: James Riley, Engineering/Grant Manager 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

Mr. Matthew Knudson, Assistant General Manager 

RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.7 – CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION ON 
RESOLUTION NO. 17-3 BEING A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT APPROVING THE 
DISTRICT’S GRANT APPLICATION FOR A LANDSCAPE WATER USE 
EFFICIENCY PROJECT UNDER THE U.S. BUREAU OF RECLAMATION’S 
WATERSMART PROGRAM ENTITLED “SMALL-SCAPE WATER 
EFFICIENCY PROJECTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017.”  

Recommendation: 

That the Board: 

1. Approve the submittal of a grant application to U.S. Bureau of Reclamation’s
WaterSMART Small-Scape Water Efficiency Projects for the District’s Turf
Removal Program for residential water users;

2. Approve entering into a cost sharing agreement with the U.S. Bureau of
Reclamation through monetary contributions in an amount not-to-exceed $75,000.

Background: 

The Palmdale Water District will expand its existing residential turf replacement program. 
For 2017, the program will provide incentives to replace approximately 75,000 square feet 
of turf with water-efficient landscaping, which is expected to result in annual water 
savings of 11 acre-feet.  The conserved water will go to beneficial uses within the 
District’s service area.  It is expected that 68 residential customers would be able to 
replace their turf with water efficient landscaping. 

In 2016, the District had more than 200 applications from residential customers for 
replacement of turf with more water efficient landscaping.  Unfortunately, due to budget 
limitations, the District was only able to fund projects for 22 customers. 

Funding from Reclamation through a grant would allow a significant increase in the 
number of customers who could participate in the Cash for Grass Program. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.7



2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 

Mr. Matthew Knudson, Assistant General Manager    January 4, 2017 

Strategic Plan Initiative: 

This work is part of Strategic Initiative # 1 – Water Resource Reliability 

Budget: 

The proposed budget of $75,000 is covered under the 2017 approved budget. 

Supporting Documents: 

 Resolution No. 17-3
 Grant application



RESOLUTION No. 17-3 
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

OF THE PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
APPROVING THE DISTRICT’S GRANT APPLICATION FOR A 

LANDSCAPE WATER USE EFFICIENCY PROJECT FOR 
THE U.S. BUREAU OF RECLAMATION’S 

WATERSMART GRANTS SMALL SCALE WATER EFFICIENCY 
PROJECTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017 

WHEREAS, the United  Sates Department of  Interior, Bureau of Reclamation (the “Bureau”) has 
established the WaterSMART: Small-Scale Water Efficiency Projects Program  for 2017 (the “ 
WaterSMART Program”) to provide funding opportunities for entities seeking new water supplies using 
water efficiency technology; 

WHEREAS, the Palmdale Water District has need for funding to complete a Landscape Water Use 
Efficiency Project to meet future municipal and industrial water needs; 

WHEREAS, the WaterSMART Program requires at least 50 percent non-Federal cost share 
funding and/or in-kind contribution from applicants and the Board finds the District has the capability of 
funding its required share of the Project under its current Budget for 2017. 

NOW THEREFORE, THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE PALMDALE WATER 
DISTRICT DOES HEREBY RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. Funding for the Landscape Water Use Efficiency Project  (the “Project”) under the 
WaterSMART Grant Program meets the objectives of Strategic Initiative # 1 – Water Resource Reliability. 

SECTION 2. If selected for a WaterSMART Grant, up to 50% ($75,000) of the total project costs 
of $150,000 through monetary contribution shall be committed for funding the District’s proportionate 
share of the Project, as may be required by the Bureau of Reclamation under the WaterSMART Grant 
Program, and the District will work with the Bureau to meet established deadlines for entering into an 
agreement to commit such funds. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED THIS     11th  day of January 2017. 

_______________________          _________________________ 
Robert Alvarado, President             Joe Estes, Secretary       
Board of Directors               Board of Directors 
Palmdale Water District                 Palmdale Water District 

__________________________________ 
Aleshire & Wynder. LLP 
District Legal Counsel 

































Funding Opportunity Announcement No. BOR-DO-17-F011 

WaterSMART Grants:   
Small-Scale Water Efficiency 
Projects for Fiscal Year 2017 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
Landscape Water Use Efficiency Project 

January 12, 2017 
Palmdale, California 
Los Angeles County 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 
1.0 Executive Summary ...................................................................................................... 1 
2.0 Reclamation Relationship ............................................................................................. 1 
3.0 Background Data .......................................................................................................... 1 
4.0 Project Description ........................................................................................................ 3 
       4.1  Problem and Needs ............................................................................................... 3 
       4.2  How Project Addresses Problems and Needs ...................................................... 4 
              4.2.1 Demand Management .................................................................................. 4 
              4.2.2 Plan to Reduce Water Use ........................................................................... 5 
              4.2.3 Foundational DMMs ...................................................................................... 5 
                       4.2.3.1 Water Waste Prevention Ordinances and Prohibition ...................... 5 
                       4.2.3.2 Metering ............................................................................................ 5 
                       4.2.3.3 Conservation Pricing ......................................................................... 6 
                       4.2.3.4 Public Education and Outreach ........................................................ 6 
                       4.2.3.5 Programs to Assess and manage distribution system real loss ....... 6 
                       4.2.3.6 Water Conservation Program Coordination and staffing support ..... 6 
              4.2.4 Other DMMs .................................................................................................. 6 
                       4.2.4.1 Rebate Programs .............................................................................. 6 
         4.3 Identify the Expected Outcome............................................................................. 7 
5.0 Environmental and Cultural Resources Compliance ................................................... 10 
6.0 Required Permits and Approvals ................................................................................. 10 
7.0 Project Budget ............................................................................................................. 10 
      7.1 Budget Proposal .................................................................................................... 10 
      7.2 Budget Narrative .................................................................................................... 11 
            7.2.1 Salaries and Wages ...................................................................................... 11 
            7.2.2 Fringe Benefits .............................................................................................. 11 
            7.2.3 Travel ............................................................................................................ 11 
            7.2.4 Equipment ..................................................................................................... 11 
            7.2.5 Materials and Supplies ................................................................................. 11 
            7.2.6 Contractual .................................................................................................... 11 
            7.2.7 Environmental and Regulatory Compliance Costs ....................................... 11 
            7.2.8 Other Expenses ............................................................................................ 12 
            7.2.9 Indirect Costs ................................................................................................ 12 
            7.2.10 Total Costs .................................................................................................. 12 
8.0 Evaluation Criteria ........................................................................................................ 12 
      8.1 Evaluation Criteria A – Planning Efforts Supporting the Project ........................... 12 
      8.2 Evaluation Criteria B – Project Benefits ................................................................. 12 
      8.3 Evaluation Criteria C – Project Implementation ..................................................... 13 
      8.4 Evaluation Criteria D – Nexus to Reclamation ...................................................... 14 
      9.0 Resolution .............................................................................................................. 15 

 
 



1 
 

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
Date:    January 11, 2017 
 
Applicant: Palmdale Water District 
 
Location: Palmdale, Los Angeles County, California 
 
The Palmdale Water District will expand its existing residential turf replacement program. 
For 2017, the program will provide incentives to replace approximately 75,000 square feet 
of turf with water-efficient landscaping, which is expected to result in annual water savings 
of 11 acre-feet.  The conserved water will go to beneficial uses within the District’s service 
area.  It is expected that 68 residential customers would be able to replace their turf with 
water efficient landscaping. 
 
In 2016, the District had more than 200 applications from residential customers for 
replacement of turf with more water efficient landscaping.  Unfortunately, due to budget 
limitations the District was only able to fund projects for 22 customers. 
 

2.0 RECLAMATION RELATIONSHIP 

The federal project most likely affected would be the Central Valley Project (CVP) of 
California.  By implementing this Landscape Water Use Efficiency Project demand on 
diversions from imports outside of the Antelope Valley could be reduced. 

3.0 BACKGROUND DATA 

PWD provides water services to the City of Palmdale and unincorporated areas in Los 
Angeles County. The water system currently includes seven main pressure zones. Within 
these zones, there are approximately 414 miles of pipelines ranging in diameter from 4 
inches to 42 inches, 21 storage reservoirs with an approximate total storage capacity of 
50 million gallons (MG), 17 booster pump stations, and 23 active groundwater wells.  

The water system has 27,000 connections for the PWD service area with a population of 
120,000.  

The District serves a combination of residential, commercial, and industrial users, with 
essentially no agriculture. The District’s current water delivery system provided 
approximately 23,000 acre-feet each year in 2013 and 2014.  

Table 1 provides a water demand projection for the District’s service area, based on a 
preliminary draft version of District’s Water Master Plan, which is currently being updated.  
By 2040, demand is projected to be 31,100 acre-feet per year. A land use analysis 
indicates that demand will be 44,600 acre-feet per year under build-out conditions. 



2 
 

Figure 1 – General Location of the Palmdale Water District in Los Angeles County. 
 



3 
 

Table 1: Projected Water Demands for Palmdale Water District Service Area 

Year Annual Average Demand  (AF/yr)  
2015 24,809  
2020 25,900  
2030 28,500  
2040 31,100  
2050 33,873  
2060 36,892  
2070 40,181  
2080 43,764  

Buildout 44,600  

 

4.0 PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

4.1  Problems and Needs 

California is now in its sixth consecutive year of a drought.   In April 2014 Governor 
Edmund J. Brown’s issued an emergency declaration requiring that all state agencies 
that distribute funding for projects that impact water resources, including groundwater 
resources, will require recipients of future financial assistance to have appropriate 
conservation and efficiency programs in place. 

The District’s existing water supply is acquired from a State Water Project allocation via 
the California Aqueduct, local surface water from Littlerock Reservoir, and groundwater. 
However, the groundwater basin has been in an overdraft condition (i.e., pumping greater 
than natural recharge) since approximately 1930.  As a result, the groundwater basin 
adjudication process was completed in December 2015.   

To determine the future water demands several assumptions were made as follows:  

 from adjudication of the Antelope Valley Groundwater Basin the District would 
receive a groundwater right of 7,200 acre-feet/year beginning with an effective 
date of 2022.  

 District would receive an average allocation of 58% of its 21,300 acre-feet /year 
Table A allocation from the State Water Project which would amount to12,354 
acre-feet/year; and  

 4,000 acre-feet/year of local surface water would be available in Littlerock 
Reservoir 

Based on these assumptions future water supply deficits would likely occur during these 
time frames. 

 a water supply deficit could start by 2021.   



4 
 

 by 2040, it is estimated that the deficit will reach approximately 7,500 acre-
feet/year.  

 by 2067, this deficit would reach approximately 15,600 acre-feet/year; and 

 At build-out (2080) the deficit would reach 21,600 acre-feet/year.   

In dry years, when the State Water Project allocation is less than 58% of Table A 
allocation, these deficits would be much larger without long-term water supply storage 
such as with groundwater banking.  

4.2 How Project Addresses the Problem and Needs 

4.2.1 Demand Management 

This section describes the Demand Management Measures (DMM) that the District is 
currently implementing, and plans to implement in order to meet its urban water use 
reduction targets. 

Recent legislation significantly revised the California Urban Water Management Plan 
(UWMP) Act to simplify and clarify the DMM reporting requirements for the 2015 
UWMP cycle. Since the District is a member of the California Urban Water 
Conservation Council (CUWCC) it may continue to submit its annual reports as 
required by Section 6.2 of the Memorandum of Understanding Regarding Urban Water 
Conservation in California in order to comply with this section of the UWMP Act.  

The District recognizes that conserving water is an integral component of a responsible 
water management strategy. The District has a uniquely low water use for a high desert 
area, located in the South Lahontan Hydrologic Region. Based on data reported in the 
2010 UWMPs, the South Lahontan Hydrologic Region had a population-weighted 
baseline 5-year average water use of 258 gpcd with an average population-weighted 
2020 target of 207 gpcd. With a 2015 gpcd of 124 gallons, the District’s water use is 
significantly lower than the rest of the South Lahontan Hydrologic Region. The District 
has achieved its goals largely by focusing on system performance, rate increases and 
a community culture of conservation and small landscapes. It will maintain this level of 
demand, and possibly reduce demand even further, by continuing to implement the 
CUWCC Best Management Practices. 

For the purposes of the District’s UWMP the DMMs were categorized as 
“Foundational” and “Other.” Foundational DMMs, listed below, are those DMMs 
that the UWMP Act and Water Code specifically mention for retail water suppliers 
such as PWD: 

1. Water waste prevention ordinances 



5 
 

2. Metering 

3. Conservation Pricing 

4. Public Education and Outreach 

5. Programs to assess and manage distribution system real loss 

6. Water conservation program coordination and staff support 

Activities outside of the Foundational DMMs that encourage less water use in 
the District’s service area fall in the “Other” category. 

4.2.2 Plan to Reduce Water Use 

The District currently has a water conservation program and will continue to expand 
this program over the next five years. The District is dedicated to water conservation 
as a vital part of its water supply portfolio. The District has implemented water 
conservation programs over the last few decades, including classroom education 
programs, public outreach, and various rebate programs. The District will continue 
to provide these programs as part of its conservation efforts on a yearly basis. 

4.2.3  Foundational DMMs 

This section describes the District’s plan to achieve the water use reductions 
necessary to meet the per capita water use targets, consistent with the California 
Water Conservation Act of 2009.  

4.2.3.1 Water Waste Prevention Ordinances and Prohibition 

In 2001 the District’s Board of Directors adopted the Waste of Water Policy, which 
outlines actions to be taken by the District to prevent and address waste and 
unreasonable use of water, including penalties for violations. In December 2009, the 
Board of Directors adopted and approved Resolution No. 09-19 declaring water 
conservation regulations, with the intent to meet the water use reduction goals of 20 
percent by 2020 and ensure adequate water supply for human consumption, 
sanitation, and fire protection.  

4.2.3.2 Metering 

The District is fully metered; all customers have metered accounts. The District is in 
the process of changing older and outdated meters with new efficient meters to 
ensure more accurate reading and data capture. This is considered a water 
conservation initiative, in addition to a financial best management practice. 



6 
 

4.2.3.3 Conservation Pricing 

The District uses a tiered approach for water pricing. The most recent September 17th 
2014 Proposition 218 process redistributed the old Tier 1 pricing into a new two-tier 
approach. Tier 1 now is a customer’s Indoor allocation for use of all residential 
activities inside the home. Tier 2 is a customer’s Outdoor water allocation. Pricing 
varies between the two Tiers. Tier 1 is the least expensive while Tier 2 water 
increases in price due to increased water usage for irrigation. Four (4) additional tiers 
remain, with the cost per unit increasing progressively at each tier. 

4.2.3.4 Public Education and Outreach 

The District has school education programs in place that provide educational 
materials and instructional assistance. This program is intended to reach the 
youngest water users and emphasize the need to engage them in water 
conservation. 

To provide District customers with the tools to maintain water conservation goals, 
public education efforts have included, radio spots, TV public service 
announcements, bill inserts, newsletters, press releases, rebate programs 
including Cash 4 Grass and some indoor high efficiency appliances, booths at local 
events, parades, public speaking engagements, and school interaction. The 
District is committed to providing its customers with the education and tools to 
maintain their low use, all of which can be found on the District’s website at: 
http://www.palmdalewater.org/conservation/  .  

4.2.3.5 Programs to assess and mange distribution system real loss 

The District regularly checks and evaluates the mainline piping system to 
detect leaks.  

4.2.3.6 Water conservation program coordination and staffing support 

Water conservation activities include significant public outreach efforts as 
described earlier. In addition, there are two full-time conservation staff members 
with a moderate budget.  

4.2.4 Other DMMs 

4.2.4.1 Rebate Programs 

The District started several rebate programs for customers in the later part of 2009. 
The District began to give customers rebates as credits on their water bills if they 



7 
 

filled out an application after buying the rebated product and returning the original 
receipt and a copy of the water bill to the District. The District implements a number 
of different rebate programs to encourage water conservation: 

1. High Efficiency Toilet (HET) Rebate Program: The District started an HET rebate 
program in 2009 for residential and commercial customers. The rebate amount 
for this program is a credit on their water bill of $60.00 per toilet installed. If a 
customer replaces an Ultra-Low-Flush toilet (ULFT) with an HET, the rebate 
amount will consist of $30.00. 

2. High Efficiency Washing Machines Rebate Program: The District currently has 
a washing machine rebate program for its customers who wish to purchase a 
water efficient washing machine with a water factor of 5.0 or less. The rebate 
amount for this program is a credit on the customer’s account of $100.00 per 
washer bought. 

3. Cash for Grass: The District has been working with the City of Palmdale, the 
local high school, local elementary schools, and residential customers to 
substitute grass on large landscape areas by implementing the cash for grass 
program. This program encourages the replacement of grass with “water-smart” 
landscaping to conserve water. 

Rebate programs were previously available for sprinkler devices and systems, but the District 
is moving away from incentivizing any outdoor irrigation and no longer offers those programs. 

4.3  Identify the expected outcomes 

The District will continue to implement the DMMs described in this section. These programs, 
taken together, will help the District to maintain progress on meeting the 20x2020 water use 
targets through the continuation of existing methods of conservation that have been proven 
successful to date. 

Using 2016 as a benchmark, the District provided funds to 22 residential customers to replace 
24,000 square feet of turf.  This represents an average of 1,100 square feet per residential 
landowner. For 2017, with the District’s budget of $75,000 plus $75,000 from the WaterSMART 
program, a total of $150,000 would be available for turf replacement.  Assuming $2.00 per 
square foot, a total of 75,000 square feet could be replaced.  Using the 2016 numbers of 1,100 
square feet per residential home owner, a total 68 customers could be funded to replace their 
turf.   

On the following pages, the procedure used by the District is presented. 

 
  



8 
 

 

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
Turf Replacement Program 

DO YOU QUALIFY/SUBMIT CASH FOR GRASS APPLICATION 

    1 DO YOU QUALIFY: View sheet one to see if you qualify for the “Cash for Grass Program.” 

  1a APPLICATION: The owner of the property to be re-landscaped or the owner’s legally appointed representative 
must sign and submit the application. Keep the other Cash for Grass sheets handy, some will be turned in 
later. 

As soon as PWD receives your application a representative will call to set up an appointment to take pictures and 
measure the area. Wait for a pre-conversion site visit from PWD before you take your grass out. PWD must measure 
and take pictures before your grass is removed -this is a program requirement. After the initial first site visit a 
representative will call to let you know that you can proceed to the next phase of qualifying. You will be notified if you 
qualify for the rebate amount of $.50, $1.00, $1.50 or $2.00 rebate amount. The District will determine the rebate 
amount based on the condition of the existing grass and the completion of renovation requirements. (NOTE: The district 
will only provide two inspections; one for the initial picture taking and measuring and one for the final completion 
inspection. A fee of $30.00 for each additional trip will be deducted from the rebate amount if the District is required to 
provide additional inspections.) 

RECEIVE TRAINING/DESIGN LANDSCAPE 

If your application is approved, you will have 45 days to complete both of the following: 

2 You must either complete the free online landscape design class at www.saves-water.com (about an hour) or attend 
PWD’s in-classroom training. Training classes will be posted on our website at www. palmdalewater.org or call PWD 
661 947-4111 ext. 5031 for the next available design class. 

2a PWD must receive a simple drawing showing the proposed design of your new landscape including the plant coverage 
sheet. This design must comply with the requirements spelled out in PWD’s Design Requirements. The drawings can be 
pencil drawings drawn by your average homeowner, and 

2b are not required to be done by a professional. PWD has developed several landscape designs that can be used. If you 
modify one of PWD’s design plans you must provide PWD with your modified layout. 

INSTALL NEW LANDSCAPE DESIGN 

3 You must complete the installation within six (6) months and complete the final check list and return it to PWD. The 
District will then contact you for final inspection. Please make sure everything on your check list is complete and that 
the landscape matches the design layout to continue to be qualified for the rebate. (NOTE: The District will only provide 
two inspections; one for the initial picture taking and measuring and one for the final completion inspection. A fee of 
$30.00 for each additional trip will be deducted from the rebate amount if the District is required to provide additional 
inspections.) 

RECEIVE INCENTIVE REBATE/MAINTAIN LANDSCAPE 

4 After completion of the project and final inspection the District will issue your rebate incentive in about 3-4 weeks. 
PWD expects that the owner’s new landscape will be kept free of weeds and maintained for five full years after final 
inspection as stated in the Terms and Conditions of the contract.



9 
 

 

DOES MY GRASS QUALIFY FOR A REBATE? 
PWD uses a sliding scale rebate based on the condition of existing grass and adhering to the 
conditions of the Rebate Application and Terms. To qualify for the Cash for Grass Program you 
must have grass, rebates will not be given to customers with dirt, weeds and dead grass. Rebate 
amounts will be determined by staff and the decision will be final. Do Not take grass out until 
PWD has taken photos and measured the landscape area. 
 

 

Scale of Rebate Amount 
 
(A) $2.00 SF, healthiest grass 
(B) $1.50 SF, green-slight yellow spot 
(C) $1.00 SF, green/yellow spot 
(D) $0.50 SF yellow living grass 
(E) $ none dead grass 

(D) Yes (E) Yes (C) Yes 

(G) Yes 

(B) No (A) No (F) No 



10 
 

(A) YES 

(D) YES 

(E) NO 

(B) YES

(E) NO

(C) YES 

(E) NO

5.0 ENVIRONMENTAL AND CULTURAL RESOURCES COMPLIANCE 
 

None affected 
 
6.0 REQUIRED PERMITS OR APPROVALS 
 

None required 
 
7.0 PROJECT BUDGET  
 
The Palmdale Water District will contribute cash of $75,000 for the project.  The project 
would help meet the District’s water conservation goals as mandated by the State of 
California. The table below displays a summary of non-Federal and Federal funding 
sources.  
 
Funding Sources Amount 
Non-Federal  

1. Palmdale Water District (Cash) $75,000 
Non-Federal Total $75,000 

Other Federal Entities  
Other Federal Entities $ 0 

Requested Reclamation Funding $75,000 
 
7.1 Budget Proposal 

BUDGET ITEM DESCRIPTION 
COMPUTATION Quantity  

Type 
TOTAL  
COST $/Unit Quantity

Salaries and Wages 

Employee 1  Not applicable     $    0 

Fringe Benefits 

Full-Time Employees  Not applicable     $    0 

Equipment 

Item A  Not applicable     $    0 

Supplies and Materials 

Item A  Not applicable     $    0 

Contractual/Construction 

Estimate of 68 home owners  $ 2 per square foot  75,000  Sq. Ft. $150,000 

TOTAL DIRECT COSTS $150,000 

Indirect Costs 

Type of rate   Not applicable    $    0 

TOTAL ESTIMATED PROJECT COSTS $150,000 

 
 



11 
 

7.2 Budget Narrative 

7.2.1 Salaries and Wages 
 

Answer: Not applicable 

7.2.2 Fringe Benefits 
 

Answer: Not applicable 
 
7.2.3 Travel 

Answer: Not applicable 

7.2.4 Equipment 

Answer: Not applicable 

7.2.5 Materials and Supplies 

Answer: Not applicable  

7.2.6 Contractual 
 

Answer: Each home owner will be required to fill out an application as 
presented in Section 4 of this WaterSMART application.  Each 
homeowner will be reimbursed based on the square footage of turf 
replacement and the present condition of the lawn.  The following 
guidelines are used to determine the amount of reimbursement. 

 
Scale of Rebate Amount 
 
(A) $2.00 SF, healthiest grass 
(B) $1.50 SF, green-slight yellow spot 
(C) $1.00 SF, green/yellow spot 
(D) $0.50 SF yellow living grass 
(E) $ none dead grass 

 

7.2.7 Environmental and Regulatory Compliance Costs 
 

Answer: Not applicable 
 
7.2.8 Other Expenses 
 

Answer: Not applicable  
 
7.2.9 Indirect Costs 
 



12 
 

Answer: Not applicable 
 
7.2.10 Total Costs 
 

Answer: $150,000 

8.0 EVALUATION CRITERIA 

  
8.1 Evaluation Criterion A—Planning Efforts Supporting the Project (35 

points) 

Does the proposed project implement a goal or address a need or problem identified in 
the existing planning effort? 

Answer: The proposed Landscape Water Efficiency Project would meet the turf 
replacement component of the District’s water demand reduction program 
as described in Section 4 of this WaterSMART application 

Explain how the proposed project has been determined as a priority in the existing 
planning effort as opposed to other potential projects/measures. 

Answer: In 2009 the State of California passed the California Water Conservation 
Act of 2009 that directed water agencies to meet reductions in per capita 
water use targets. In December 2009, the Board of Directors adopted 
and approved Resolution No. 09-19 declaring water conservation 
regulations, with the intent to meet the water use reduction goals of 20 
percent by 2020 and ensure adequate water supply for human 
consumption, sanitation, and fire protection.  This Landscape Water 
Efficiency Project is part of the effort by the District to reduce per capita 
water use in its service area. 

8.2 Evaluation Criterion B—Project Benefits (35 points) 
 
 
What are the benefits to the applicant’s water supply delivery system? 

Answer:   Benefits include less water deliveries through the District’s water 
treatment plant, reduce requirements for pumping energy and overall 
increase in water efficiency. 

Extent to which the proposed project improves overall water supply reliability 



13 
 

     Answer:   Benefits include stretching existing supplies to meet future water 
demands and improving overall water supply reliability. 

The expected scope of positive impact from the proposed project (e.g., local, sub-
basin, basin) 
 
     Answer:  Project would benefit the Antelope Valley of Los Angeles County.  The area 

has a population of 400,000 with an annual rainfall of only 6 inches per year.  
Therefore, water conserving activities are critical to the growth of the region. 

Extent to which the proposed project will increase collaboration and information 
sharing among water managers in the region 

     Answer:    No direct collaboration is needed to carry out this Landscape Water Use 
Efficiency Project.  However, the District does meet frequently other water 
agencies and water conservation is frequently a topic of discussion.  The 
opportunity to inform other agencies of the District’s success will most 
certainly take place. 

Any anticipated positive impacts/benefits to local sectors and economies (e.g., 
agriculture, environment, recreation, tourism) 

 Answer:   The project would provide increased water supply to an area with very                      
limited water supplies.   Increased water supply would most directly affect 
the economy of the area.   The area has been designated as an 
economically distressed area by the State of California. A more reliable 
water supply would attract new business. 

 
8.3 Evaluation Criterion C—Project Implementation (15 points) 

Describe the implementation plan for the proposed project. Please include an estimated project 
schedule that shows the stages and duration of the proposed work, including major tasks, 
milestones, and dates. 

 Answer: Project would extend from January 1, 2017 to December 31, 2017 which 
corresponds to the District calendar year budget.  Applicants are free to 
apply for the turf replacement program at any point during that time frame. 

Describe any permits that will be required, along with the process for obtaining such 
permits. 

 Answer: None required 

Identify and describe any engineering or design work performed specifically in 
support of the proposed project. 

 Answer: None required 
 



14 
 

Describe any new policies or administrative actions required to implement the project 
 
   Answer: None required. 

 
8.4 Evaluation Criterion D—Nexus to Reclamation (15 points) 

How is the proposed project connected to a Reclamation project or activity? 
 

Answer: Project would contribute indirectly to the Central Valley Project in  
that it would reduce demands on transbasin diversions from 
California’s Central Valley. 

Will the project help Reclamation meet trust responsibilities to any tribe(s)? 

  Answer: No. 

Does the applicant receive Reclamation project water? 

  Answer: No. 

Is the project on Reclamation project lands or involving Reclamation facilities? 

  Answer: No. 

Is the project in the same basin as a Reclamation project or activity? 

  Answer: No. 

Will the proposed work contribute water to a basin where a Reclamation project is 
located? 
 
       Answer: Project would contribute indirectly to the Central Valley Project in  

that it would reduce demands on transbasin diversions from 
California’s Central Valley. 

 
  



15 
 

9.0 OFFICIAL RESOLUTION 
 
 



P A L M D A L E  W A T E R  D I S T R I C T  

B O A R D  M E M O R A N D U M  

DATE: January 5, 2017   January 11, 2017 

TO: BOARD OF DIRECTORS  Board Meeting 

FROM: Mr. Matthew R. Knudson, Assistant General Manager 

VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager 
  
RE: AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.8 – CONSIDERATION AND POSSIBLE ACTION 

ON PROPOSAL TO PERFORM AN ASSESSMENT OF THE EXISTING 
EQUIPMENT AND EVALUATE WATER TREATMENT PROCESSES 

 

 
 
Recommendation: 
 
That the Board: 

 
1. Accept proposal from Carollo Engineers to perform an assessment of the existing 

water treatment plant facilities and major equipment and evaluate existing 
treatment processes to identify recommendations to achieve reliable and efficient 
operation of the water treatment plant facility in a not-to-exceed amount of 
$35,000.00; and 
 

2. Authorize the General Manager to execute an agreement with Carollo Engineers 
utilizing the District’s standard Professional Services Agreement for same. 
 

Background: 
 
The Leslie O. Carter Water Treatment Plant (WTP) improvements and upgrades were 
completed in 2008, with some of the equipment and processes as part of the improvement 
being brought on-line in 2006. With 10-years of operation of these new facilities and 
related equipment, staff thought it would be a benefit to the District to perform an 
assessment of the facilities and the treatment plant performance to date. Carollo 
Engineers is the original design engineer for said improvements and staff is 
recommending an evaluation be performed by the same team that was involved with the 
improvements. 
 
The work associated with this professional services agreement will include the following: 
 
 Assess the existing conditions of the Leslie O. Carter Water Treatment Plant. 

AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.8



2

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 
PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT 
VIA: Mr. Dennis D. LaMoreaux, General Manager January 5, 2017 

 Develop in-depth process understanding of treatment performance and operations of
existing facilities to identify treatment recommendations for achieving reliable and
efficient operation of the existing treatment processes.

 Evaluate facility deficiencies and limitations and recommend improvements.

 Assess life expectancy of existing facilities and major equipment for reliable and
continuous operation through the range of historic raw water quality as provided by
PWD.

The assessment and related report will be performed and completed within 4-months 
from the Notice to Proceed. 

Strategic Plan Initiative: 

This work is part of Strategic Initiative No. 3 – System Efficiency. 

Budget: 

This project will be included as part of the Budgeted 2017 Capital Projects. 

Supporting Documents: 

 Letter Proposal from Carollo Engineers



C:\Users\mknudson\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\5BST9OEA\PWD Condition Scope.jam121516 

(003).doc Page 1 of 3

PALMDALE WATER DISTRICT (PWD)  
LESLIE O. CARTER WATER TREATMENT PLANT 

PROJECT OBJECTIVES 

Objectives for this project are to: 

 Assess the existing conditions of the Leslie O. Carter Water Treatment Plant.

 Develop in-depth process understanding of treatment performance and operations of
existing facilities to identify treatment recommendations for achieving reliable, and efficient
operation of the existing treatment processes.

 Evaluate facility deficiencies and limitations and recommend improvements.

 Assess life expectancy of existing facilities and major equipment for reliable and
continuous operation through the range of historic raw water quality as provided by PWD.

SCOPE OF WORK 

Water Treatment Plant Evaluation and Condition Assessment 

Conduct a condition and capacity assessment on existing surface water treatment plant to 
assess condition, remaining useful life, equipment repair and replace schedule, and compliance 
with Division of Drinking Water regulations. The assessment will include the following sub-tasks: 

1. Conduct project management activities including:

i. Submit a brief Project Status Report with each monthly invoice. The report will
summarize - the accomplishments from the previous month, planned activities for the
coming month, and outstanding action items.

ii. Conduct a kick-off meeting to discuss project objectives, roles and responsibilities,
and background information that may be required from the City. Prepare agendas
and meeting minutes for the kick-off meeting.

iii. Provide ongoing documentation of decisions and coordinate with the project team
and PWD staff.

iv. Site Visits and Workshops

The purpose of the Site Visits and Workshops is to conduct site investigations,
assess site conditions, gather data, review progress, resolve issues, review work
products, and receive direction and input from PWD. The following is a list of the
anticipated Site Visits and Workshops for this project.

a. Conduct up to one (1) information gathering meeting with PWD staff. Capture
background information from Plant staff. This will occur with the Kick-off
Meeting.

b. For the Condition Assessment, conduct up to two (2) site visits by the
assessment team. Each of the assessment teams will include up to three (3)
people. The duration of each visit will be up to 2 days onsite.

2. Perform a facility analysis to identify capacity of the plant. Activities consist of the
following:



C:\Users\mknudson\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\5BST9OEA\PWD Condition Scope.jam121516 

(003).doc Page 2 of 3 

i. Evaluate the Water Treatment Plant's disinfection strategy and make general 
recommendations for improvement.  

ii. Process Capacity Analysis: The potential maximum treatment capacity of each unit 
process element and support facilities (chemical feed, solids handling, wash water 
return) will be identified. Historical data, record drawings, published standards and 
criteria, and calculations will be used to estimate the maximum process capacity. 

iii. Regulatory Capacity Analysis: The maximum treatment capacity allowed under the 
current regulations will be quantified. 

iv. Prepare a technical memorandum summarizing the results of this task and deliver a 
draft copy to PWD for comments. Finalize and incorporate comments. 

3. Condition Assessment 

A condition assessment will be performed under this subtask to estimate useful remaining 
life, maintenance requirements, reliability, replacement needs, and refurbishment potential 
of all existing facilities. Assessments will be made on the basis of best professional 
judgment and relevant guidance/code requirements such as Hydraulic Institute Standards 
and National Electrical Code. The following systems and components will be evaluated for 
plant facilities. 

i. Mechanical systems, including process related components 

ii. Piping & conveyance 

iii. Electrical systems 

iv. Instrumentation & controls, including SCADA 

v. Structural (not including Administration Building) 

vi. Civil & site systems consisting of roads, fence, and drainage elements 

vii. The assessment results will be documented using existing equipment tagging 
conventions when available. 

viii. Cost Estimate: Opinions of probably construction cost for the recommended 
upgrades, improvements, and replacement recommendations will be prepared to a 
Class 5 level estimate and defined by AACE International. 

 
TIME OF PERFORMANCE 
 
The work described herein will be completed within 4 months from Notice to Proceed. 

 



C:\Users\mknudson\AppData\Local\Microsoft\Windows\Temporary Internet Files\Content.Outlook\5BST9OEA\PWD Condition Scope.jam121516 

(003).doc Page 3 of 3 

PAYMENT 
 

Task No. Labor Hours Fee 

1.  Project Management 20 $3,000 

2.  Facility Analysis 80 $13,000 

3.  Condition Assessment 110 $19,000 

 210 $35,000 
 



AGENDA ITEM NO. 7.10





































































































































































































AGENDA ITEM NO. 8.1






	AgendaRegular1-11-17
	Item6.1
	Item6.2
	Item6.3
	Item6.4
	Item6.5
	Item6.6
	Item6.7
	Item6.8
	Item7.1
	Item7.2
	Item7.3
	Item7.4
	Item7.5
	Item7.6
	Item7.7
	Item7.8
	7.10
	Item8.1



